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OFFERING PROSPECTUS

6,792,532 Shares of Common Stock
251,044 Shares of Common Stock Issuable upon Exercise of Outstanding
Warrants

This prospectus relates to the resale by the selling stockholders identified in this prospectus of up to 7,043,576 shares
of common stock, $0.001 par value per share, of Capricor Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation. The shares of
common stock offered by the selling stockholders identified herein consist of 6,792,532 shares of common stock and
251,044 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants with an exercise price of $2.2725 per share,
which expire 5 years after the date of grant. All of the shares of common stock and warrants held by the selling
stockholders were issued by us in private placement transactions. We are not offering any shares of our common stock
for sale under this prospectus and we will not receive any part of the proceeds from sales of the shares of common
stock by the selling stockholders; however, we will receive proceeds upon any exercise of the warrants by the selling
stockholders. The selling stockholders will bear all commissions and discounts, if any, attributable to the sale or other
disposition of the shares. We will bear all costs, expenses and fees in connection with the registration of the shares.

The selling stockholders may, from time to time, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any or all of the shares of
common stock offered by this prospectus on terms to be determined at the time of sale through ordinary brokerage
transactions or through any other means described in this prospectus under the section entitled “Plan of Distribution”.
The prices at which the selling stockholders may sell the shares will be determined by the prevailing market price for
the shares or in negotiated transactions.

Our common stock trades on the OTCQB tier of the OTC Markets under the symbol “CAPR”. On June 5, 2014 the
closing price of our common stock as reported on the OTCQB was $4.61.
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Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 12.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any other regulatory body has approved or disapproved
of these securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus. Any representation to the
contrary is a criminal offense.

June 6, 2014
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We have not, and the selling stockholders have not, authorized anyone to provide any information or make any
representations other than those contained in this prospectus or in any free writing prospectuses prepared by or on
behalf of us or to which we have referred you. We do not, and the selling stockholders do not, take responsibility for,
and can provide no assurance as to the reliability of, any information that others may give you. This prospectus is an
offer to sell only the shares offered hereby, but only under circumstances and in the jurisdictions where it is lawful to
do so. The information contained in this prospectus or in any applicable free writing prospectus is current only as of
its date, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or of any sale of shares of our common stock. Our
business, financial condition and results of operations may have changed since that date.

No action is being taken in any jurisdiction outside the United States to permit a public offering of the common stock
or possession or distribution of this prospectus in that jurisdiction. Persons who come into possession of this
prospectus in jurisdictions outside the United States are required to inform themselves about and to observe any
restrictions as to the offering and the distribution of this prospectus applicable to that jurisdiction.

2
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Prospectus Summary

This summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. Because it is a summary, it may not
contain all of the information that is important to you. Accordingly, you are urged to carefully review this prospectus
in its entirety, including the risks of investing in our securities discussed under the section entitled “Risk Factors” and
the consolidated financial statements and other information that is contained in or incorporated by reference into this
prospectus or the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part before making an investment decision.
References to the “Company,” “Capricor Therapeutics,” “we,” “us” or “our” in this prospectus refer to Capricor
Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise.

Company Overview

Capricor Therapeutics, Inc. is a development stage, biopharmaceutical company whose mission is to develop and
commercialize regenerative medicine and large molecule products for the treatment of disease. Our initial pipeline
products were developed to treat heart disease and its complications. The proprietary methods of Capricor, Inc., our
wholly-owned subsidiary, center on producing therapeutic doses of cardiosphere-derived cells to boost the
regenerative capacity of the heart and, with that, to perhaps improve cardiac function.

We currently have six drug candidates in various stages of development.

·
CAP-1002: CAP-1002, Capricor’s lead product candidate, consists of allogeneic cardiosphere-derived cells, or CDCs.
CAP-1002 is currently being tested in Capricor’s ALLSTAR Phase I/II clinical trial which will determine if the cells
can lead to reduction in scar size in patients who have had a heart attack.

·

CAP-1001: CAP-1001 consists of autologous CDCs. This product was used in the Phase I CADUCEUS clinical trial
which was sponsored and conducted by Cedars-Sinai Medical Center in collaboration with The Johns Hopkins
University. The data from CADUCEUS, using autologous CDCs, suggests that the cells are effective in reducing scar
within several months of a heart attack. At present there is no plan for another clinical trial for CAP-1001.

·
CSps: CSps are multicellular clusters called cardiospheres, a 3D micro-tissue from which CDCs are derived and
have shown significant healing effects in pre-clinical models of heart failure. While Capricor considers the CSps an
important product, at present there is no plan for a clinical trial for CSps.

·
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Exosomes: Exosomes are nano-sized, membrane-enclosed vesicles, or “bubbles”, that are filled with select molecules,
including proteins and microRNAs, which, when released, send messages to neighboring cells to regulate cellular
functions Capricor is currently in pre-clinical testing to explore the possible future therapeutic benefits that exosomes
may possess.

·Cenderitide (CD-NP): Cenderitide is a chimeric natriuretic peptide that is being considered for the treatment of heart
failure. We are currently evaluating whether we will proceed with further clinical development of this product.

·

CU-NP: CU-NP is a pre-clinical rationally-designed natriuretic peptide that consists of amino acid chains identical to
those produced by the human body, specifically the ring structure of C-type natriuretic peptide, or CNP, and the N-
and C-termini of Urodilatin, or URO. We are currently evaluating whether we will proceed with further clinical
development of this product.

Corporate Information

Our executive offices are located at 8840 Wilshire Blvd., 2nd Floor, Beverly Hills, California 90211. Our telephone
number is (310) 358-3200 and our Internet address is www.capricor.com. We do not incorporate the information on,
or accessible through, our website into this prospectus, and you should not consider any information on, or accessible
through, our website as part of this prospectus. We have included our website address in this prospectus solely as an
inactive textual reference.

3
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Risk Factors

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those highlighted in the section of this
prospectus entitled “Risk Factors,” which you should read carefully before making a decision to invest in our common
stock. Some of these risks include:

·We need substantial additional funding before we can complete the development of our product candidates;

·Our success depends upon the viability of our product candidates and we cannot be certain any of them will receive
regulatory approval to be commercialized;

·As the results of earlier clinical trials are not necessarily predictive of future results, any product candidate we
advance into clinical trials may not have favorable results in later clinical trials or receive regulatory approval;

·Our business faces significant government regulation, and there is no guarantee that our products will receive
regulatory approval;

·We have limited manufacturing capability, and may not be able to maintain our manufacturing licenses;

·We may face uncertainty and difficulty in obtaining and enforcing our patents and other proprietary rights;

·We are largely dependent on our relationships with our licensors and collaborators and there is no guarantee that such
relationships will be maintained or continued; and

·
Because our common stock will be primarily traded on the OTCQB tier of the OTC Markets, the volume of shares
traded and the prices at which such shares trade may result in lower prices than might otherwise exist if our common
stock was traded on a national securities exchange.

Description of Private Placements

On March 15, 2013, we entered into a convertible note purchase agreement with certain accredited investors pursuant
to which we sold an aggregate principal amount of $450,000 of secured convertible promissory notes, or the 2013
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Notes, for an aggregate original issue price of $382,500, representing a 15% original issue discount. On September 27,
2013, we and the holders of the 2013 Notes entered into an amendment to the 2013 Notes, which provided, among
other things, that upon a Change of Control (as defined in the 2013 Notes), the conversion price applicable to the 2013
Notes and the exercise price applicable to the warrants issuable upon a Change of Control would be equal to the
average dollar volume weighted average price, or VWAP, of our common stock for each trading day during the period
from July 8, 2013 to September 30, 2013. The average VWAP during such period was approximately $0.045 per
share.

4
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On October 21, 2013, we and the holders of the 2013 Notes entered into an amendment to the Convertible Note
Purchase Agreement pursuant to which we sold to such holders additional notes having an aggregate principal amount
of $120,510, or the “Additional Notes.” The Additional Notes have identical terms and conditions as the 2013 Notes
described above and were allocated among the holders on a pro rata basis based on their initial purchase of the 2013
Notes. In exchange for the issuance of the Additional Notes, we received aggregate gross proceeds of $102,433. The
2013 Notes and the Additional Notes are collectively referred to herein as the 2013 Notes.

The 2013 Notes and the Additional Notes converted at the close of the merger between Nile Therapeutics, Inc., or
Nile, and Capricor, Inc., or Capricor, on November 20, 2013 into 251,044 shares of our common stock. Additionally,
251,044 warrants to purchase shares of our common stock at a strike price of $2.2725 were issued to the holders of the
2013 Notes and the Additional Notes. No additional proceeds were received by us as a result of the issuance of such
shares. The offer and sale of the 2013 Notes and the Additional Notes described above constituted a private placement
under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act in accordance with Regulation D promulgated thereunder.

Immediately prior to the effective time of the merger between Nile and Capricor all shares of Capricor preferred stock
were converted into shares of Capricor common stock pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement. On November
20, 2013, the shares of Capricor common stock which were exchanged for the shares of Capricor preferred stock, as a
result of the merger and in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement, were exchanged according to the
applicable multiplier for 6,591,494 shares of common stock of Capricor Therapeutics. Additionally, as a result of the
merger between Nile and Capricor and in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement, each outstanding share
of Capricor common stock was converted into the right to receive approximately 2.07 shares of Capricor Therapeutics
common stock on November 20, 2013. No proceeds were received by us from the issuance of common stock to the
former Capricor stockholders. For the issuance of shares of Capricor Therapeutics common stock to the former
Capricor stockholders, we relied upon the exemption from federal registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act
and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder.

5
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The offering

Common stock
offered by selling
stockholders

6,792,532 shares of common stock

251,044 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants

Common stock to
be outstanding
after the offering

11,941,903 shares

Use of proceeds

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of common stock by the selling stockholders.  We
will, however, receive proceeds upon the exercise of any warrants held by the selling
stockholders.  If such warrants are exercised in full, we would receive gross cash proceeds of
approximately $570,497.  We intend to use the net proceeds received upon exercise of the warrants
to further develop our product candidates and for other general working capital purposes.  See the
section of this prospectus entitled “Use of Proceeds” on page 36 for a more complete description of
the intended use of proceeds from the offering.

Risk Factors You should read the section of this prospectus entitled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 12 for a
discussion of factors to consider carefully before deciding to invest in shares of our common stock.

Dividends Policy Currently, we do not anticipate paying cash dividends.

OTCQB Symbol “CAPR.”  There is no established trading market for the warrants, and we do not expect one to
develop.

The number of shares of common stock that will be outstanding after the offering is based on 11,690,859 shares of our
common stock outstanding as of May 15, 2014, plus 251,044 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of
warrants, and excludes:

·4,876,322 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options with a weighted
average exercise price of approximately $0.72 per share as of May 15, 2014;

·
81,237 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants with a weighted average
exercise price of approximately $63.33 per share as of May 15, 2014 (excluding the shares underlying the warrants
being registered hereby); and

·2,010,892 shares of our common stock reserved for issuance as of May 15, 2014 under our: (1) Amended and
Restated 2005 Stock Option Plan; (2) 2006 Stock Option Plan; (3) 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan; and (4) 2012
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Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan ((1) through (4), collectively, the “Plans”).

Except as otherwise indicated, all information in this prospectus assumes the sale of all shares of common stock
covered by this prospectus.

Summary Financial Data

The following tables set forth our summary financial data as of the dates and for the periods indicated. We have
derived the summary consolidated statement of operations data and comprehensive loss data for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2013 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2013 from our audited
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. The summary consolidated financial data as
of March 31, 2014, and for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013, have been derived from our
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.

6
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The historical results presented below are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future
period. The following summaries of our financial data for the periods presented should be read in conjunction with
the sections of this prospectus entitled “Risk Factors,” “Capitalization,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements, condensed consolidated
financial statements, the related consolidated notes, and the related condensed consolidated notes included elsewhere
in this prospectus.

7

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

12



CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

ASSETS
2013 2012

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $1,729,537 $170,106
Marketable securities 326,494 4,192,726
Restricted Cash 1,401,859 -
Grants receivable - 767,163
Interest receivable 187 25,215
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 222,763 38,042

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 3,680,840 5,193,252

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, at cost
Furniture and equipment 38,850 29,623
Laboratory equipment 115,766 68,878

154,616 98,501
Less accumulated depreciation (80,429 ) (64,558 )

NET PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 74,187 33,943

OTHER ASSETS
Patents, net of accumulated amortization of $32,475 and $28,145 respectively 227,207 178,307
Loan fees, net of accumulated amortization of $6,722 and $0, respectively 29,945 -
In-process research and development, net of accumulated amortization of $0 1,500,000 -
Deposits 25,728 18,088

TOTAL ASSETS $5,537,907 $5,423,590

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $1,506,509 $264,707
Accounts payable and accrued expenses, related party 382,142 164,484
Sub-award payable, related party 41,855 75,072
Accrued royalties 122,416 24,904

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,052,922 529,167
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LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Loan payable 3,961,733 -
Accrued interest 58,134 -

TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 4,019,867 -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,072,789 529,167

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common stock, $0.001 par, 50,000,000 and 100,000,000 shares
authorized, respectively, 11,687,747 and 10,351,294
 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 11,687 10,351
Additional paid-in capital 15,552,946 12,114,689
Subscription receivable - (2,211 )
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (980 ) (21,795 )
Deficit accumulated during the development stage (16,098,535) (7,206,611 )

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (534,882 ) 4,894,423

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY $5,537,907 $5,423,590

8
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Years Ended December 31,

July 5, 2005
(inception)
through
December 31,

2013 2012 2013

GRANT INCOME $503,233 $1,898,764 $ 4,180,970

OPERATING EXPENSES
Research and development 5,197,178 2,634,222 11,499,595
General and administrative 2,208,955 1,364,582 6,953,667

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 7,406,133 3,998,804 18,453,262

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS (6,902,900 ) (2,100,040 ) (14,272,292 )

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Investment income (loss) (11,890 ) 28,785 150,891
Interest expense (58,134 ) - (58,134 )
Impairment of goodwill (1,919,000 ) - (1,919,000 )

TOTAL OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES) (1,989,024 ) 28,785 (1,826,243 )

NET LOSS (8,891,924 ) (2,071,255 ) (16,098,535 )

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE GAIN (LOSS)
Net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities 20,815 (21,795 ) (980 )

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $(8,871,109 ) $(2,093,050 ) $ (16,099,515 )

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $(0.85 ) $(0.21 )

Weighted average number of shares,
basic and diluted 10,501,416 9,945,251

9
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31, 2014
(unaudited)

December 31,
2013

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,979,150 $1,729,537
Marketable securities 326,226 326,494
Restricted Cash 555,232 1,401,859
Interest receivable 757 187
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 169,579 222,763

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 14,030,944 3,680,840

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, at cost
Furniture and equipment 38,850 38,850
Laboratory equipment 208,667 115,766

247,517 154,616
Less accumulated depreciation (83,978 ) (80,429 )

NET PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 163,539 74,187

OTHER ASSETS
Patents, net of accumulated amortization of $33,557 and $32,475 respectively 228,382 227,207
Loan fees, net of accumulated amortization of $8,556 and $6,722, respectively 28,111 29,945
In-process research and development, net of accumulated amortization of $0 1,500,000 1,500,000
Deposits 25,728 25,728

TOTAL ASSETS $ 15,976,704 $5,537,907

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 1,518,595 $1,506,509
Accounts payable and accrued expenses, related party 481,643 382,142
Sub-award payable, related party - 41,855
Accrued royalties 132,379 122,416
Deferred income, current 4,166,667 -

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,299,284 2,052,922
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LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Deferred income, net of current portion 7,291,666 -
Loan payable 3,961,733 3,961,733
Accrued interest 83,461 58,134

TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 11,336,860 4,019,867

TOTAL LIABILITIES 17,636,144 6,072,789

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and
outstanding - -

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized, 11,690,859 and
11,687,747 shares issued and outstanding respectively 11,690 11,687

Additional paid-in capital 15,638,420 15,552,946
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (404 ) (980 )
Deficit accumulated during the development stage (17,309,146 ) (16,098,535 )

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) (1,659,440 ) (534,882 )

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) $ 15,976,704 $5,537,907

10
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(unaudited)

July 5, 2005
Three months ended March 31, (inception) through
2014 2013 March 31, 2014

INCOME
Collaboration income 1,041,667 - 1,041,667
Grant income - 233,291 4,180,970

TOTAL INCOME 1,041,667 233,291 5,222,637

OPERATING EXPENSES
Research and development 1,374,757 1,191,154 12,874,352
General and administrative 852,347 474,429 7,806,014

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 2,227,104 1,665,583 20,680,366

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS (1,185,437 ) (1,432,292 ) (15,457,729 )

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Investment income (loss) 153 18,889 151,044
Interest expense (25,327 ) (3,711 ) (83,461 )
Impairment of goodwill - - (1,919,000 )

TOTAL OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) (25,174 ) 15,178 (1,851,417 )

NET LOSS (1,210,611 ) (1,417,114 ) (17,309,146 )

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE GAIN (LOSS)
Net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities 576 (8,763 ) (404 )

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $ (1,210,035 ) $ (1,425,877 ) $ (17,309,550 )

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.10 ) $ (0.14 )

Weighted average number of shares, basic and diluted 11,689,441 10,351,294

11
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Risk Factors

Investment in our common stock involves significant risk. You should carefully consider the information described in
the following risk factors, together with the other information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus, before making
an investment decision regarding our common stock. If any of the events or circumstances described in these risks
actually occur, our business, financial conditions, results of operations and future growth prospects would likely be
materially and adversely affected. In these circumstances, the market price of our common stock could decline, and
you may lose all or a part of your investment in our common stock. Moreover, the risks described below are not the
only ones that we face.

Risks Relating to Our Business

We need substantial additional funding before we can complete the development of our product candidates. If we
are unable to obtain such additional capital, we will be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our product
development programs and may not have the capital required to otherwise operate our business.

Developing biopharmaceutical products, including conducting pre-clinical studies and clinical trials and establishing
manufacturing capabilities, is expensive. As of March 31, 2014, we had cash, cash resources, and marketable
securities totaling approximately $13.3 million, plus approximately $0.6 million restricted cash in loans for our
ALLSTAR clinical trial. We have not generated any product revenues, and will not generate any product revenues
until, and only if, we receive approval to sell our drug candidates from the FDA and other regulatory authorities for
our product candidates.

From inception, we have financed our operations through public and private sales of our equity and debt securities,
NIH grants, and a CIRM loan award. We also recently entered into a collaboration agreement with Janssen Biotech,
Inc., or Janssen, which provides for funding for the collaboration of our cell therapy program for cardiovascular
applications, including CAP-1002. As we have not generated any revenue from operations to date, and we do not
expect to generate revenue for several years, if ever, we will need to raise substantial additional capital in order to
fund our immediate general corporate activities and, thereafter, to fund our research and development, including our
long-term plans for clinical trials and new product development.

We expect our research and development expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly
if we continue to develop cenderitide and initiate clinical development of CU-NP or as we further the development of
our exosome program. In addition, our expenses could increase beyond expectations if the FDA requires that we
perform additional studies to those that we currently anticipate, and the timing of any potential product approval may
be delayed. Other than our cash on hand, we currently have no commitments or arrangements for any additional
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financing to fund the research and development of cenderitide, CU-NP or exosomes. Although we have commenced
certain development activities in connection with our cenderitide product candidate, the commencement of further
clinical work and other development activities for our cenderitide and CU-NP programs will be subject to additional
evaluation by our Board of Directors before full-scale development will be commenced.

We may seek to raise additional funds through various potential sources, such as equity and debt financings, or
through strategic collaborations and license agreements. We can give no assurances that we will be able to secure such
additional sources of funds to support our operations or, if such funds are available to us, that such additional
financing will be sufficient to meet our needs. Moreover, to the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity
securities, our stockholders may experience additional significant dilution, and debt financing, if available, may
involve restrictive covenants. To the extent that we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing
arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights to our technologies or our product candidates, or grant
licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us.

Our forecasts regarding our beliefs of the sufficiency of our financial resources to support our current and planned
operations are forward-looking statements and involve significant risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary
as a result of a number of factors, including the factors discussed elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section. We have
based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could utilize our available capital resources
sooner than we currently expect. Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not
limited to:

§the scope, rate of progress, cost and results of our research and development activities, especially our Phase II
clinical trial of CAP-1002;

§ the continued availability of funding from NIH and CIRM;

§ the costs and timing of regulatory approval;

12
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§ the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

§ the effect of competing technological and market developments;

§ the terms and timing of any collaboration, licensing or other arrangements that we may establish;

§ the cost and timing of completion of clinical and commercial-scale outsourced manufacturing activities; and

§the costs of establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities for any product candidates for which we may
receive regulatory approval.

We have a history of net losses, and we expect losses to continue for the foreseeable future. In addition, a number
of factors may cause our operating results to fluctuate on a quarterly and annual basis, which may make it difficult
to predict our future performance.

We have a history of net losses, expect to continue to incur substantial and increasing net losses for the foreseeable
future, and may never achieve or maintain profitability. Our operations to date have been primarily limited to
organizing and staffing our company, developing our technology, and undertaking pre-clinical studies and clinical
trials of our product candidates. We have not yet obtained regulatory approvals for any of our product candidates.
Consequently, any predictions made about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we
had a longer operating history. Specifically, our financial condition and operating results have varied significantly in
the past and will continue to fluctuate from quarter-to -quarter and year-to -year in the future due to a variety of
factors, many of which are beyond our control. Factors relating to our business that may contribute to these
fluctuations include the following factors, as well as other factors described elsewhere in this prospectus:

§ our need for substantial additional capital to fund our development programs;

§ delays in the commencement, enrollment, and timing of clinical testing;

§ the success of the ALLSTAR clinical trial through all stages of clinical development;

§if further clinical trials are conducted, the success of clinical trials of cenderitide and CU -NP product candidates or
future product candidates;

§
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the viability of exosomes as a potential product candidate and the success of all stages of its pre-clinical and clinical
development;

§ any delays in regulatory review and approval of our product candidates in clinical development;

§our ability to receive regulatory approval or commercialize our product candidates, within and outside the United
States;

§potential side effects of our current or future products and product candidates that could delay or prevent
commercialization or cause an approved treatment drug to be taken off the market;

§ regulatory difficulties relating to products that have already received regulatory approval;

§ market acceptance of our product candidates;

§ our ability to establish an effective sales and marketing infrastructure once our products are commercialized;

§ our ability to establish or maintain collaborations, licensing or other arrangements;

§ our ability and third parties’ abilities to protect intellectual property rights;
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§ competition from existing products or new products that may emerge;

§ guidelines and recommendations of therapies published by various organizations;

§ the ability of patients to obtain coverage of or sufficient reimbursement for our products;

§ our ability to maintain adequate insurance policies;

§ our dependency on third parties to formulate and manufacture our product candidates;

§our ability to maintain our current manufacturing facility and secure other facilities as determined to be necessary;

§ costs related to and outcomes of potential intellectual property litigation;

§ compliance with obligations under intellectual property licenses with third parties;

§ our ability to seek regulatory approvals for our product candidates;

§ our ability to implement additional internal systems and infrastructure;

§ our ability to adequately support future growth;

§ our ability to attract and retain key personnel to manage our business effectively; and

§the ability of our senior management who have limited experience in managing a public company to manage our
business and operations.

The Company’s technology is not yet proven and each of our product candidates is in an early stage of development.

Each of the Company’s six product candidates, CAP-1002, CAP-1001, cardiospheres, exosomes, cenderitide and CU
–NP, is in an early stage of development and requires extensive clinical testing before it may be approved by the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, or another regulatory authority in a jurisdiction outside the United States,
which could take several years to complete, if ever. The effectiveness of the Company’s technology has not been
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definitively proven in completed human clinical trials or preclinical studies. The Company’s failure to establish the
efficacy of its technology would have a material adverse effect on the Company. We cannot predict with any certainty
the results of such clinical testing, including the results of our planned ALLSTAR trial. We cannot predict with any
certainty if, or when, we might commence any clinical trials of our product candidates other than the ALLSTAR trial
or whether such trials will yield sufficient data to permit us to proceed with additional clinical development and
ultimately submit an application for regulatory approval of our product candidates in the United States or abroad, or
whether such applications will be accepted by the appropriate regulatory agency.

We may not be able to manage our growth.

Should we achieve our near-term milestones, of which no assurance can be given, our long-term viability will depend
upon the expansion of our operations and the effective management of our growth, which will place a significant
strain on our management and on our administrative, operational and financial resources. To manage this growth, we
may need to expand our facilities, augment our operational, financial and management systems and hire and train
additional qualified personnel. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, our business would be harmed.
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Risks Relating to Clinical and Commercialization Activities

Our product candidates will require substantial time and resources in order to be developed, and there is no guarantee
that we will develop them successfully.

We have not completed the development of any products and may not have products to sell commercially for many
years, if at all. Our potential products will require substantial additional research and development time and expense,
as well as extensive clinical trials and perhaps additional preclinical testing, prior to commercialization, which may
never occur. There can be no assurance that products will be developed successfully, perform in the manner
anticipated, or be commercially viable.

Our success depends upon the viability of our product candidates and we cannot be certain any of them will receive
regulatory approval to be commercialized.

We will need FDA approval to market and sell any of our product candidates in the United States and approvals from
the FDA-equivalent regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions to commercialize our product candidates in those
jurisdictions. In order to obtain FDA approval of any of our product candidates, we must submit to the FDA a new
drug application, or NDA, or a biologics license application, or BLA, demonstrating that the product candidate is safe
for humans and effective for its intended use. This demonstration requires significant research and animal tests, which
are referred to as pre-clinical studies, as well as human tests, which are referred to as clinical trials. Satisfaction of the
FDA’s regulatory requirements typically takes many years, depends upon the type, complexity, and novelty of the
product candidate, and requires substantial resources for research, development, and testing. We cannot predict
whether our research and clinical approaches will result in drugs that the FDA considers safe for humans and effective
for indicated uses. The FDA has substantial discretion in the drug approval process and may require us to conduct
additional pre-clinical and clinical testing or to perform post-marketing studies. The approval process may also be
delayed by changes in government regulation, future legislation, administrative action or changes in FDA policy that
occur prior to or during our regulatory review.

Even if we comply with all FDA requests, the FDA may ultimately reject one or more of our NDAs or BLAs, as
applicable. We cannot be sure that we will ever obtain regulatory clearance for our product candidates. Failure to
obtain FDA approval of any of our product candidates will reduce our number of salable products and, therefore,
corresponding product revenues, and will have a material and adverse impact on our business.

The Company has limited experience in conducting clinical trials.
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The Company has limited human clinical trial experience with respect to its product candidates. The clinical testing
process is governed by stringent regulation and is highly complex, costly, time-consuming, and uncertain as to
outcome (and pharmaceutical products and products used in the regeneration of tissue may invite particularly close
scrutiny and requirements from the FDA and other regulatory bodies). Our failure or the failure of our collaborators to
conduct human clinical trials successfully or our failure to capitalize on the results of human clinical trials for our
product candidates would have a material adverse effect on the Company. If our clinical trials of our product
candidates or future product candidates do not produce results necessary to support regulatory approval in the United
States or elsewhere, or if they show undesirable side effects, we will be unable to commercialize these product
candidates.

To receive regulatory approval for the commercial sale of our product candidates, we must conduct adequate and
well-controlled clinical trials to demonstrate efficacy and safety in humans. Clinical failure can occur at any stage of
the testing. Our clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may
require us, to conduct additional clinical and/or non-clinical testing. In addition, the results of our clinical trials may
show that our product candidates are ineffective or may cause undesirable side effects, which could interrupt, delay or
halt clinical trials, resulting in the denial of regulatory approval by the FDA and other regulatory authorities. In
addition, negative or inconclusive results may result in:

§ the withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

§ the termination of clinical trial sites or entire trial programs;

§ costs of related litigation;

§ substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;

§ impairment of our business reputation;

§ loss of revenues; and
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§ the inability to commercialize our product candidates.

Delays in the commencement, enrollment, and completion of clinical testing could result in increased costs to us and
delay or limit our ability to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates.

Delays in the commencement, enrollment or completion of clinical testing could significantly affect our product
development costs. A clinical trial may be suspended or terminated by the Company, the FDA, or other regulatory
authorities due to a number of factors. The commencement and completion of clinical trials requires us to identify and
maintain a sufficient number of trial sites, many of which may already be engaged in other clinical trial programs for
the same indication as our product candidates, may be required to withdraw from a clinical trial as a result of changing
standards of care, or may become ineligible to participate in clinical studies. We do not know whether planned clinical
trials will begin on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. The commencement, enrollment and completion of
clinical trials can be delayed for a number of reasons, including, but not limited to, delays related to:

§ findings in preclinical studies;

§
reaching agreements on acceptable terms with prospective clinical research organizations, or CROs, and trial sites,
the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and
trial sites; obtaining regulatory approval to commence a clinical trial;

§complying with conditions imposed by a regulatory authority regarding the scope or term of a clinical trial, or being
required to conduct additional trials before moving on to the next phase of trials;

§ obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, approval to conduct a clinical trial at numerous prospective sites;

§

recruiting and enrolling patients to participate in clinical trials for a variety of reasons, including size of patient
population, nature of trial protocol, meeting the enrollment criteria for our studies, screening failures, the availability
of approved effective treatments for the relevant disease and competition from other clinical trial programs for
similar indications;

§retaining patients who have initiated a clinical trial but may be prone to withdraw due to the treatment protocol, lack
of efficacy, personal issues, or side effects from the therapy, or who are lost to further follow-up;

§ manufacturing sufficient quantities of a product candidate for use in clinical trials;

§ complying with design protocols of any applicable special protocol assessment we receive from the FDA;
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§ severe or unexpected drug-related side effects experienced by patients in a clinical trial;

§ collecting, analyzing and reporting final data from the clinical trials;

§
breaches in quality of manufacturing runs that compromise all or some of the doses made, or positive results in
FDA-required viral testing; karyotypic abnormalities in our cell product; either event which would necessitate
disposal of all cells made from that source;

§ availability of adequate amounts of tissue for preparation of master cell banks for our products;

§our inability to find a tissue source with an HLA haplotype that is compatible with the recipient may lead to limited
utility of the product in a broad population; and

§requirements to conduct additional trials and studies, and increased expenses associated with the services of the
Company’s CROs and other third parties.
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In addition, a clinical trial may be suspended or terminated by us, the FDA, or other regulatory authorities due to a
number of factors. If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates
beyond those that we currently contemplate, we or our development partners, if any, may be delayed in obtaining, or
may not be able to obtain, marketing approval for these product candidates. We may not be able to obtain approval for
indications that are as broad as intended, or we may be able to obtain approval only for indications that are entirely
different than those indications for which we sought approval.

Changes in regulatory requirements and guidance may occur, and we may need to amend clinical trial protocols to
reflect these changes with appropriate regulatory authorities. Amendments may require us to resubmit our clinical trial
protocols to institutional review boards, or IRBs, for re -examination, which may impact the costs, timing, or
successful completion of a clinical trial. If we experience delays in the completion of, or if we terminate, our clinical
trials, the commercial prospects for our product candidates will be harmed, and our ability to generate product
revenues will be delayed. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or
completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of a product candidate. Even
if we are able to ultimately commercialize our product candidates, other therapies for the same or similar indications
may have been introduced to the market and established a competitive advantage. Any delays in obtaining regulatory
approvals may:

§ delay commercialization of, and our ability to derive product revenues from, our product candidates;

§ impose costly procedures on us; or

§ diminish any competitive advantages that we may otherwise enjoy.

As the results of earlier clinical trials are not necessarily predictive of future results, any product candidate we
advance into clinical trials may not have favorable results in later clinical trials or receive regulatory approval.

Even if our clinical trials are completed as planned, including our ALLSTAR clinical trial of CAP-1002, we cannot be
certain that their results will support the claims of our product candidates. Positive results in pre-clinical testing and
early clinical trials does not ensure that results from later clinical trials will also be positive, and we cannot be sure
that the results of later clinical trials will replicate the results of prior clinical trials and pre-clinical testing. A number
of companies in the pharmaceutical industry, including those with greater resources and experience, have suffered
significant setbacks in Phase III clinical trials, even after seeing promising results in earlier clinical trials.

Our clinical trial process may fail to demonstrate that our product candidates are safe for humans and effective for
indicated uses. This failure would cause us to abandon a product candidate and may delay development of other
product candidates. Any delay in, or termination of, our clinical trials will delay the filing of our NDAs and/or BLAs
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with the FDA and, ultimately, our ability to commercialize our product candidates and generate product revenues. In
addition, our clinical trials to date involve a small patient population. Because of the small sample size, the results of
these clinical trials may not be indicative of future results.

Despite the results reported in earlier clinical trials for our product candidates, we do not know whether any Phase II,
Phase III or other clinical programs we may conduct will demonstrate adequate efficacy and safety to result in
regulatory approval to market our product candidates.

Our products face a risk of failure due to adverse immunological reactions.

A potential risk of an allogeneic therapy such as that being tested by the Company is that patients might develop an
immune response to the cells being infused. Such an immune response may induce adverse clinical effects which
would impact the safety of the Company’s products and the success of our trials. Additionally, if research subjects
have pre-existing antibodies or other immune sensitization to our cells, there is a potentiality that our cells and the
therapy would be rendered ineffective.
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Our business faces significant government regulation, and there is no guarantee that our product candidates will
receive regulatory approval.

Our research and development activities, preclinical studies, anticipated human clinical trials, and anticipated
manufacturing and marketing of our potential products are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other
regulatory authorities in the United States, as well as by regulatory authorities in other countries. In the United States,
our product candidates are subject to regulation as biological products under the Public Health Service Act or as
combination biological products/medical devices. Different regulatory requirements may apply to its products
depending on how they are categorized by the FDA under these laws. These regulations can be subject to substantial
and significant interpretation, addition, amendment or revision by the FDA and by the legislative process. The FDA
may determine that we will need to undertake clinical trials beyond those currently planned. Furthermore, the FDA
may determine that results of clinical trials do not support approval for the product. Similar determinations may be
encountered in foreign countries. The FDA will continue to monitor products in the market after approval, if any, and
may determine to withdraw its approval or otherwise seriously affect the marketing efforts for any such product. The
same possibilities exist for trials to be conducted outside of the United States that are subject to regulations established
by local authorities and local law. Any such determinations would delay or deny the introduction of our product
candidates to the market and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Drug manufacturers are subject to ongoing periodic unannounced inspection by the FDA, the Drug Enforcement
Agency, and corresponding state agencies to ensure strict compliance with Good Manufacturing Practices or GMPs
and other government regulations and corresponding foreign standards. We do not have control over third-party
manufacturers’ compliance with these regulations and standards. Other risks include:

§regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, specific warnings, a contraindication, or field
alerts to physicians and pharmacies;

§regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product or require us to take our approved products off the
market;

§we may be required to change the way the product is administered, conduct additional clinical trials or change the
labeling of our products;

§ we may have limitations on how we promote our products; and

§ we may be subject to litigation or product liability claims.
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Even if our product candidates receive regulatory approval in the United States, we may never receive approval or
commercialize our product candidates outside of the United States. In order to market and commercialize any product
candidate outside of the United States, we must establish and comply with numerous and varying regulatory
requirements of other countries regarding safety and efficacy. Approval procedures vary among countries and can
involve additional product testing and additional administrative review periods. For example, European regulatory
authorities generally require a trial comparing the efficacy of the new drug to an existing drug prior to granting
approval. The time required to obtain approval in other countries might differ from that required to obtain FDA
approval. The regulatory approval process in other countries may include all of the risks detailed above regarding
FDA approval in the United States as well as other risks. Regulatory approval in one country does not ensure
regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a
negative effect on the regulatory approval process in others. Failure to obtain regulatory approval in other countries or
any delay or setback in obtaining such approval could have the same adverse effects detailed above regarding FDA
approval in the United States. Such effects include the risks that our product candidates may not be approved for all
indications requested, which could limit the uses of our product candidates and have an adverse effect on product sales
and potential royalties, and that such approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the
product may be marketed or require costly, post-marketing follow-up studies.

Even if our product candidates receive regulatory approval, we may still face future development and regulatory
difficulties.

Even if United States regulatory approval is obtained, the FDA may still impose significant restrictions on a product’s
indicated uses or marketing, or impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies. Given the
number of recent high -profile adverse safety events with certain drug products, the FDA may require, as a condition
of approval, costly risk management programs which may include safety surveillance, restricted distribution and use,
patient education, enhanced labeling, special packaging or labeling, expedited reporting of certain adverse events,
pre-approval of promotional materials, and restrictions on direct-to -consumer advertising. Furthermore, heightened
Congressional scrutiny on the adequacy of the FDA’s drug approval process and the agency’s efforts to assure the
safety of marketed drugs has resulted in the proposal of new legislation addressing drug safety issues. If enacted, any
new legislation could result in delays or increased costs during the period of product development, clinical trials, and
regulatory review and approval, as well as increased costs to assure compliance with any new post-approval
regulatory requirements. Any of these restrictions or requirements could force us to conduct costly studies or increase
the time for us to become profitable. For example, any labeling approved for any of our product candidates may
include a restriction on the term of its use, or it may not include one or more of our intended indications.
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Our product candidates will also be subject to ongoing FDA requirements for the labeling, packaging, storage,
advertising, promotion, record-keeping, and submission of safety and other post-market information on the drug. In
addition, approved products, manufacturers, and manufacturers’ facilities are subject to continuous review and periodic
inspections. If a regulatory agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of
unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory
agency may impose restrictions on that product or us, including requiring withdrawal of the product from the market.
If our product candidates fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, such as current Good Manufacturing
Practices or GMPs, a regulatory agency may:

§ issue warning letters;

§require us to enter into a consent decree, which can include imposition of various fines, reimbursements for
inspection costs, required due dates for specific actions, and penalties for noncompliance;

§ impose other civil or criminal penalties;

§ suspend regulatory approval;

§ suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

§ refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us;

§ impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or

§ seize or detain products or require a product recall.

We have limited manufacturing capability, and may not be able to maintain our manufacturing licenses.

We presently maintain our lab and research facilities in leased premises at CSMC. We presently manufacture our cells
in an accredited GMP facility which is owned by and located within CSMC. Our intention is to manufacture cells at
this facility for our Phase II trial. We also intend to utilize our premises at CSMC to develop and manufacture
exosomes. If the lease is terminated or if CSMC revokes its permission to allow us to utilize the GMP facility, we
would have to secure alternative facilities in which to operate our research and development activities and/or
manufacture our products, which would involve a significant monetary investment and would negatively impact the
progress of our clinical trials and regulatory approvals. In addition, we will have to build out our own manufacturing
facility for the Phase III trial or establish a collaboration agreement with a third party.
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We are required to obtain and maintain certain licenses in connection with our manufacturing facilities and activities.
We have been issued a Manufacturing License and a Tissue Bank License from the State of California. There is no
guarantee that any licenses issued to us will not be revoked or forfeited by operation of law or otherwise. If we were
denied any required license or if any of its licenses were to be revoked or forfeited, we would suffer significant harm.
Additionally, in the event a serious adverse event in our clinical trial were to occur during the period in which any
required license was not in place, we could be exposed to additional liability if it were determined that the event was
due to our fault and we had not secured the required license.

We obtain the donor hearts from which our CDCs are manufactured from an organ procurement organization, or OPO.
There is no guarantee that the OPO which currently provides donor hearts to us will be able to continue to supply us
with donor hearts in the future or that an alternative OPO will be available to us. If that OPO or an alternative OPO is
not able or willing to supply us with donor hearts, we would be unable to produce our CDCs and the development of
our lead product candidate would be significantly impaired and possibly terminated. Additionally, OPO’s are subject to
regulations of various government agencies. There is no guarantee that laws and regulations pursuant to which our
OPO provides donor hearts will not change making it more difficult or even impossible for the OPO to continue to
supply us with the hearts we need to produce our product.
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We have no prior experience in manufacturing product for large clinical trials or commercial use.

Our manufacturing experience has been limited to manufacturing CAP-1002 for the current ALLSTAR trial. We have
no prior history or experience in manufacturing our allogeneic product or any other product for any clinical use and no
experience manufacturing any product for large clinical trials or commercial use. Our product candidates have not
previously been tested in any large trials to show safety or efficacy, nor are they available for commercial use. We
face risks of manufacturing failures and risks of making products that are not proven to be safe or effective.

If we continue with the development of Cenderitide or CU -NP, we will rely exclusively on third parties to
formulate and manufacture these product candidates.

We have no experience in drug formulation or manufacturing and do not intend to establish our own manufacturing
facilities for the production of Cenderitide or CU -NP. We lack the resources and expertise to formulate or
manufacture our own product candidates. If we continue with the development of Cenderitide or CU -NP, we will
have to contract with one or more manufacturers to manufacture, supply, store, and distribute drug supplies for our
clinical trials. If either of these product candidates receives FDA approval, we will rely on one or more third-party
contractors to manufacture supplies of our drug candidates. Our current and anticipated future reliance on a limited
number of third-party manufacturers exposes us to the following risks:

§

We may be unable to identify manufacturers needed to manufacture our product candidates on acceptable terms or at
all, because the number of potential manufacturers is limited, and subsequent to approval of an NDA or BLA, the
FDA must approve any replacement contractor. This approval would require new testing and compliance
inspections. In addition, a new manufacturer may have to be educated in, or develop substantially equivalent
processes for, production of our products after receipt of FDA approval, if any.

§
Some of the raw materials needed to manufacture our product candidates are available from a very limited number of
suppliers. Although we believe we have good relationships with these suppliers, we may have difficulty identifying
alternative suppliers if our arrangements with our current suppliers are disrupted or terminated.

§Our third-party manufacturers might be unable to formulate and manufacture our drugs in the volume and of the
quality required to meet our clinical and commercial needs, if any.

§
Our future contract manufacturers may not perform as agreed or may not remain in the contract manufacturing
business for the time required to supply our clinical trials or to successfully produce, store, and distribute our
products.
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§

Drug manufacturers are subject to ongoing periodic unannounced inspection by the FDA, the Drug Enforcement
Agency, and corresponding state agencies to ensure strict compliance with good manufacturing practice and other
government regulations and corresponding foreign standards. We do not have control over third-party manufacturers’
compliance with these regulations and standards.

Each of these risks could delay our clinical trials, the approval, if any, of our product candidates by the FDA, or the
commercialization of our product candidates, or result in higher costs or deprive us of potential product revenues.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

We may face uncertainty and difficulty in obtaining and enforcing our patents and other proprietary rights.

Our success will depend in large part on our ability to obtain, maintain, and defend patents on our products, obtain
licenses to use third party technologies, protect our trade secrets and operate without infringing the proprietary rights
of others. Legal standards regarding the scope of claims and validity of biotechnology patents are uncertain and
evolving. There can be no assurance that our pending, licensed-in or owned patent applications will be approved, or
that challenges will not be instituted against the validity or enforceability of any patent licensed-in or owned by us.
Additionally, we have entered into various confidentiality agreements with employees and third parties. There is no
assurance that such agreements will be honored by such parties or enforced in whole or part by the courts. The cost of
litigation to uphold the validity and prevent infringement of a patent is substantial. Furthermore, there can be no
assurance that others will not independently develop substantially equivalent technologies not covered by patents to
which we own rights or obtain access to our know-how. In addition, the laws of certain countries may not adequately
protect our intellectual property. Our competitors may possess or obtain patents on products or processes that are
necessary or useful to the development, use, or manufacture of our products. There can also be no assurance that our
proposed technology will not infringe patents or proprietary rights owned by others, with the result that others may
bring infringement claims against us and require us to license such proprietary rights, which may not be available on
commercially reasonable terms, if at all. Any such litigation, if instituted, will have a material adverse effect,
including monetary penalties, diversion of management resources, and injunction against continued manufacture, use,
or sale of certain products or processes.
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Some of our technology has resulted, and will result, from research funded by agencies of the United States
government and the State of California. As a result of such funding, the United States government and the State of
California have certain rights in the technology developed with the funding. These rights include a non-exclusive,
paid-up, worldwide license under such inventions for any governmental purpose. In addition, under certain conditions,
the government has the right to require us to grant third parties licenses to such technology. The licenses by which we
have obtained some of our intellectual property are subject to the rights of the funding agencies. We also rely upon
non-patented proprietary know-how. There can be no assurance that we can adequately protect our rights in such
non-patented proprietary know-how, or that others will not independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary
information or techniques or gain access to our proprietary know-how. Any of the foregoing events could have a
material adverse effect on us. In addition, if any of our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information is
disclosed, the value of our trade secrets, know-how and other proprietary rights would be significantly impaired and
our business and competitive position would suffer.

In September 2011, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was signed into law. The
Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law. These include provisions that affect the
way patent applications will be prosecuted and may also affect patent litigation. In particular, under the Leahy-Smith
Act, the U.S. transitioned in March 2013 to a "first to file" system in which the first inventor to file a patent
application will be entitled to the patent. Third parties are allowed to submit prior art before the issuance of a patent
by the USPTO and may become involved in opposition, derivation, reexamination, inter-parties review or interference
proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of our licensors. An adverse determination in any such
submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, our or our licensors' patent rights, which
could adversely affect our competitive position.

The USPTO is currently developing regulations and procedures to govern administration of the Leahy-Smith Act, and
many of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act, and in particular, the first to file
provisions, did not become effective until March 16, 2013. Accordingly, it is not clear what, if any, impact the
Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation of our business. However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation
could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement
or defense of our issued patents and those licensed to us.

It is difficult and costly to protect our proprietary rights, and we may not be able to ensure their protection. If we fail
to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights adequately or secure rights to patents of others, the value of our
intellectual property rights would diminish.

Our commercial viability will depend in part on obtaining and maintaining patent protection and trade secret
protection of our product candidates, and the methods used to manufacture them, as well as successfully defending
these patents against third-party challenges. Our ability to stop third parties from making, using, selling, offering to
sell, or importing our products is dependent upon the extent to which we have rights under valid and enforceable
patents or trade secrets that cover these activities.
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We have licensed certain patent and other intellectual property rights that cover our CAP-1002, CAP-1001, CSps, and
exosomes product candidates from University of Rome, JHU and CSMC. Under the license agreements with
University of Rome and JHU, those institutions prosecute and maintain their patents and patent applications in
collaboration with us. We rely on these institutions to file, prosecute, and maintain patent applications, and otherwise
protect the intellectual property to which we have a license, and we have not had and do not have primary control over
these activities for certain of these patents or patent applications and other intellectual property rights. We cannot be
certain that such activities by these institutions have been or will be conducted in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, or will result in valid and enforceable patents and other intellectual property rights. Under the Amended
CSMC License Agreement and the Exosomes License Agreement, we have assumed, in coordination with CSMC,
responsibility for the prosecution and maintenance of all patents and patent applications. Our enforcement of certain
of these licensed patents or defense of any claims asserting the invalidity of these patents would also be subject to the
cooperation of the third parties.
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We license certain patent and other intellectual property rights that cover our cenderitide and CU-NP product
candidates from Mayo. In the past, we have relied on the Mayo to file, prosecute, and maintain patent applications,
and otherwise protect the intellectual property to which we have a license, prior to the Amended Mayo License
Agreement, we did not have primary control over these activities for certain of these patents or patent applications and
other intellectual property rights. With the execution of the Amended Mayo License Agreement, we have the
responsibility for the prosecution and maintenance of the Mayo patents and patent applications at our expense. We
cannot be certain that that the activities conducted by Mayo have been or will be conducted in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, or will result in valid and enforceable patents and other intellectual property rights.
Our enforcement of certain of these licensed patents or defense of any claims asserting the invalidity of these patents
would also be subject to the cooperation of the third parties. We are also responsible for paying any prosecution and
maintenance fees of all Mayo patents and Mayo patent applications now existing and included in the Amended Mayo
License Agreement.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical companies can be highly uncertain and involve
complex legal and factual questions for which important legal principles remain unresolved. No consistent policy
regarding the breadth of claims allowed in biopharmaceutical patents has emerged to date in the United States. The
biopharmaceutical patent situation outside the United States is even more uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws
or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual
property. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in the patents we own
or to which we have a license or third-party patents. Further, if any of our patents are deemed invalid and
unenforceable, it could impact our ability to commercialize or license our technology.

The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain because legal means afford only limited
protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For
example:

§others may be able to make compounds that are similar to our product candidates but that are not covered by the
claims of any of our patents;

§we might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by any issued patents or patent applications we may
have (or third parties from whom we license intellectual property may have);

§ we might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions;

§ it is possible that any pending patent applications we may have will not result in issued patents;

§any issued patents may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or may be held invalid or unenforceable as a
result of legal challenges by third parties;
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§ we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; or

§ the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

We also may rely on trade secrets to protect our technology, especially where we do not believe patent protection is
appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. Although we use reasonable efforts to protect
our trade secrets, our employees, consultants, contractors, outside scientific collaborators, and other advisors may
unintentionally or willfully disclose our information to competitors. Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally
obtained and is using any of our trade secrets is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In
addition, courts outside the United States are sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets. Moreover, our
competitors may independently develop equivalent knowledge, methods, and know-how.
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If any of our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information is disclosed, the value of our trade secrets,
know-how and other proprietary rights would be significantly impaired and our business and competitive position
would suffer.

Our viability also depends upon the skills, knowledge and experience of our scientific and technical personnel, our
consultants and advisors as well as our licensors and contractors. To help protect our proprietary know-how and our
inventions for which patents may be unobtainable or difficult to obtain, we rely on trade secret protection and
confidentiality agreements. To this end, we require all of our employees, consultants, advisors and contractors to enter
into agreements which prohibit the disclosure of confidential information and, where applicable, require disclosure
and assignment to us of the ideas, developments, discoveries and inventions important to our business. These
agreements may not provide adequate protection for our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information in
the event of any unauthorized use or disclosure or the lawful development by others of such information. If any of our
trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information is disclosed, the value of our trade secrets, know-how and
other proprietary rights would be significantly impaired and our business and competitive position would suffer.

We may incur substantial costs as a result of litigation or other proceedings relating to patent and other intellectual
property rights and we may be unable to protect our rights to, or use of, our technology.

If we choose to go to court to stop someone else from using the inventions claimed in our patents, that individual or
company has the right to ask the court to rule that these patents are invalid and/or should not be enforced against that
third party. These lawsuits are expensive and would consume time and other resources even if we were successful in
stopping the infringement of these patents. In addition, there is a risk that the court will decide that these patents are
not valid and that we do not have the right to stop the other party from using the inventions. There is also the risk that,
even if the validity of these patents is upheld, the court will refuse to stop the other party on the ground that such other
party’s activities do not infringe our rights to these patents. In addition, the United States Supreme Court has recently
invalidated some tests used by the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, in granting patents over the
past 20 years. As a consequence, issued patents may be found to contain invalid claims according to the newly revised
standards. Some of our own or in -licensed patents may be subject to challenge and subsequent invalidation in a re
-examination proceeding before the USPTO or during litigation under the revised criteria which make it more difficult
to obtain patents.

Furthermore, a third party may claim that we or our manufacturing or commercialization partners are using inventions
covered by the third party’s patent rights and may go to court to stop us from engaging in our normal operations and
activities, including making or selling our product candidates. These lawsuits are costly and could affect our results of
operations and divert the attention of managerial and technical personnel. There is a risk that a court would decide that
we or our commercialization partners are infringing the third party’s patents and would order us or our partners to stop
the activities covered by the patents. In addition, there is a risk that a court will order us or our partners to pay the
other party damages for having violated the other party’s patents. We have agreed to indemnify certain of our
commercial partners against certain patent infringement claims brought by third parties. The biotechnology industry
has produced a proliferation of patents, and it is not always clear to industry participants, including us, which patents
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cover various types of products or methods of use. The coverage of patents is subject to interpretation by the courts,
and the interpretation is not always uniform. If we are sued for patent infringement, we would need to demonstrate
that our products or methods of use either do not infringe the patent claims of the relevant patent and/or that the patent
claims are invalid, and we may not be able to do this. Proving invalidity, in particular, is difficult since it requires a
showing of clear and convincing evidence to overcome the presumption of validity enjoyed by issued patents.

Because some patent applications in the United States may be maintained in secrecy until the patents are issued,
because patent applications in the United States and many foreign jurisdictions are typically not published until
eighteen months after filing, and because publications in the scientific literature often lag behind actual discoveries,
we cannot be certain that others have not filed patent applications for technology covered by our issued patents or our
pending applications, or that we were the first to invent the technology. Our competitors may have filed, and may in
the future file, patent applications covering technology similar to ours. Any such patent application may have priority
over our patent applications or patents, which could further require us to obtain rights to issued patents covering such
technologies. If another party has filed a United States patent application on inventions similar to ours, we may have
to participate in an interference proceeding declared by the USPTO to determine priority of invention in the United
States. The costs of these proceedings could be substantial, and it is possible that such efforts would be unsuccessful if
unbeknownst to us, the other party had independently arrived at the same or similar invention prior to our own
invention, resulting in a loss of our United States patent position with respect to such inventions.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can
because they have substantially greater resources. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and
continuation of any litigation could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise the funds necessary to
continue our operations.
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Risks Related to Our Relationships with Third Parties

We are largely dependent on our relationships with our licensors and collaborators and there is no guarantee that such
relationships will be maintained or continued.

We have entered into certain license agreements for certain intellectual property rights which are essential to enable us
to develop and commercialize our products. Agreements have been entered into with the University of Rome, JHU
and CSMC, which is also a shareholder of ours. Each of those agreements provides for an exclusive license to certain
patents and other intellectual property and requires the payment of fees, milestone payments and/or royalties to the
institutions that will reduce our net revenues, if and to the extent that we have future revenues. Each of those
agreements also contains additional obligations that we are required to satisfy. There is no guarantee that we will be
able to satisfy all of our obligations under our license agreements to each of the institutions and that such license
agreements will not be terminated. Each of the institutions receives funding from independent sources such as the NIH
and other private not-for-profit sources and are investigating scientific and clinical questions of interest to their own
principal investigators as well as the scientific and clinical communities at large. These investigators (including
Capricor’s founder, Dr. Eduardo Marbán, who is the Director of the Heart Institute at CSMC) are under no obligation
to conduct, continue, or conclude either current or future studies utilizing our stem cell or exosomes technology, and
they are not compelled to license any further technologies or intellectual property rights to us except as may be stated
in the applicable licensing agreements between those institutions and us. Changes in these collaborators’ research
interests or their funding sources away from our technology would have a material adverse effect on us. We are
substantially dependent on our relationships with these institutions from which we license the rights to our
technologies and know-how. If requirements under our license agreements are not met, we could suffer significant
harm, including losing rights to our product candidates.

Our rights to our cenderitide and CU -NP drug candidates were both derived from separate license agreements
between us and Mayo. On November 14, 2013, we entered into an Amended and Restated Exclusive License
Agreement, which we refer to as the Amended Mayo Agreement, with Mayo pursuant to which the rights to both
cenderitide and CU-NP were included in the Amended Mayo Agreement and many of the terms of the former
agreements were revised on terms more favorable to us. We are substantially dependent on our relationship with
Mayo with respect to the rights to these two drug candidates. If requirements under our license agreement are not met,
we could suffer significant harm. In order to develop these products, we will need to maintain the intellectual property
rights to these product candidates. The Amended Mayo Agreement requires us to perform certain obligations that
affect our rights under the Amended Mayo Agreement, including making cash payments if we were to enter into
certain types of business transactions. If we fail to comply with our obligations required under the Amended Mayo
Agreement, we could lose important patent and other intellectual property rights which may be critical to our business.

In addition, we are responsible for the cost of filing and prosecuting certain patent applications and maintaining
certain issued patents licensed to us. If we do not meet our obligations under our license agreements in a timely
manner, we could lose the rights to our proprietary technology.
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Finally, we may be required to obtain licenses to patents or other proprietary rights of third parties in connection with
the development and use of our product candidates and technologies. Licenses required under any such patents or
proprietary rights might not be made available on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

We have received government grants and a loan award which impose certain conditions on our operations.

Commencing in 2009, we received several grants from the NIH to fund various projects, including Phase I of the
ALLSTAR trial. These awards are subject to annual and quarterly reporting requirements. If we fail to meet these
requirements, the NIH could cease further funding.

On February 5, 2013, we entered into a Loan Agreement with CIRM, pursuant to which CIRM has agreed to disburse
$19,782,136 to us over a period of approximately three and one-half years to support Phase II of our ALLSTAR
clinical trial. Under the Loan Agreement, we are required to repay the CIRM loan with interest at maturity. The loan
also provides for the payment of a risk premium whereby we are required to pay CIRM a premium up to 500% of the
loan amount upon the achievement of certain revenue thresholds. The loan has a term of five years and is extendable
annually up to ten years from the original issuance at our option if certain conditions are met. CIRM has the right to
cease disbursements if a no-go milestone occurs or certain other conditions are not satisfied. The timing of the
distribution of funds pursuant to the Loan Agreement is contingent upon the availability of funds in the California
Stem Cell Research and Cures Fund in the State Treasury, as determined by CIRM in its sole discretion. So long as we
are not in default, the loan may be forgiven during the term of the project period if we abandon the trial due to the
occurrence of a no-go milestone. After the end of the project period, the loan may be forgiven if we elect to abandon
the project under certain circumstances. Under the Loan Agreement, we are also required to meet certain financial
milestones by demonstrating to CIRM prior to each disbursement of loan proceeds that we have funds available
sufficient to fund all costs and expenses anticipated to be required to continue Phase II of the ALLSTAR trial for at
least the following 12-month period, less the costs budgeted to be covered by planned loan disbursements. There is no
assurance that we will meet our milestones under the Loan Agreement or that CIRM will not discontinue the
disbursement of funds.
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If we enter into strategic partnerships, we may be required to relinquish important rights to and control over the
development of our product candidates or otherwise be subject to terms unfavorable to us.

If we do not establish strategic partnerships, we will have to undertake development and commercialization efforts on
our own, which would be costly and adversely impact our ability to commercialize any future products or product
candidates. If we enter into any strategic partnerships with pharmaceutical, biotechnology or other life sciences
companies, we will be subject to a number of risks, including:

§ we may not be able to control the amount and timing of resources that our strategic partners devote to
the development or commercialization of product candidates;

§
strategic partners may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding, terminate a clinical trial or abandon a
product candidate, repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new version of a product candidate for clinical
testing;

§strategic partners may not pursue further development and commercialization of products resulting from the strategic
partnering arrangement or may elect to discontinue research and development programs;

§strategic partners may not commit adequate resources to the marketing and distribution of any future products,
limiting our potential revenues from these products;

§
disputes may arise between us and our strategic partners that result in the delay or termination of the research,
development or commercialization of our product candidates or that result in costly litigation or arbitration that
diverts management’s attention and consumes resources;

§ strategic partners may experience financial difficulties;

§
strategic partners may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our proprietary
information in a manner that could jeopardize or invalidate our proprietary information or expose us to potential
litigation;

§business combinations or significant changes in a strategic partner’s business strategy may also adversely affect a
strategic partner’s willingness or ability to complete its obligations under any arrangement; and

§strategic partners could independently move forward with a competing product candidate developed either
independently or in collaboration with others, including our competitors.

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

45



Risks Related to Competitive Factors

Our products will likely face intense competition.

The Company is engaged in fields that are characterized by extensive worldwide research and competition by
pharmaceutical companies, medical device companies, specialized biotechnology companies, hospitals, physicians
and academic institutions, both in the United States and abroad. We will experience intense competition with respect
to our existing and future product candidates. The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitive, with a number of
established, large pharmaceutical companies, as well as many smaller companies. Many of these organizations
competing with us have substantially greater financial resources, larger research and development staffs and facilities,
greater clinical trial experience, longer drug development history in obtaining regulatory approvals, and greater
manufacturing, distribution, sales and marketing capabilities than we do. There are many pharmaceutical companies,
biotechnology companies, public and private universities, government agencies, and research organizations actively
engaged in research and development of products which may target the same indications as our product candidates.
We expect any future products and product candidates that we develop to compete on the basis of, among other things,
product efficacy and safety, time to market, price, extent of adverse side effects, and convenience of treatment
procedures. One or more of our competitors may develop products based upon the principles underlying our
proprietary technologies earlier than we do, obtain approvals for such products from the FDA more rapidly than we
do, or develop alternative products or therapies that are safer, more effective and/or more cost effective than any
product developed by us. Our competitors may obtain regulatory approval of their products more rapidly than we are
able to or may obtain patent protection or other intellectual property rights that limit our ability to develop or
commercialize our product candidates. Our competitors may also develop drugs that are more effective, useful, and
less costly than ours and may also be more successful than us in manufacturing and marketing their products.
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Our future success will depend in part on our ability to maintain a competitive position with respect to evolving
therapies as well as other novel technologies. There can be no assurance that existing or future therapies developed by
others will not render our potential products obsolete or noncompetitive. The drugs that we are attempting to develop
will have to compete with existing therapies. In addition, companies pursuing different but related fields represent
substantial competition. These organizations also compete with us to attract qualified personnel and parties for
acquisitions, joint ventures, or other collaborations.

If we are unable to retain and recruit qualified scientists and advisors, or if any of our key executives, key employees
or key consultants discontinues his or her employment or consulting relationship with us, it may delay our
development efforts or otherwise harm our business. In addition, several of our employees and consultants render
services on a part-time basis to us or to other companies.

All former employees of Nile were terminated upon consummation of the merger between Nile and Capricor. The loss
of any of our key employees or key consultants could impede the achievement of our research and development
objectives. Furthermore, recruiting and retaining qualified scientific personnel to perform research and development
work in the future is critical to the Company’s success. The Company may be unable to attract and retain personnel on
acceptable terms given the competition among biotechnology, biopharmaceutical, and health care companies,
universities, and non-profit research institutions for experienced scientists. Certain of the Company’s officers,
directors, scientific advisors, and/or consultants or certain of the officers, directors, scientific advisors, and/or
consultants hereafter appointed may from time to time serve as officers, directors, scientific advisors, and/or
consultants of other biopharmaceutical or biotechnology companies. The Company may not maintain “key man”
insurance policies on any of its officers or employees. All of the Company’s employees will be employed “at will” and,
therefore, each employee may leave the employment of the Company at any time. If we are unable to retain our
existing employees, including qualified scientific personnel, and attract additional qualified candidates, the Company’s
business and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Because of the specialized nature of our technology, we are dependent upon existing key personnel and on our ability
to attract and retain qualified executive officers and scientific personnel for research, clinical studies, and development
activities conducted or sponsored by us. There is intense competition for qualified personnel in our fields of research
and development, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to attract additional qualified
personnel necessary for the development and commercialization of our product candidates or retain our current
personnel. Dr. Linda Marbán, our Chief Executive Officer and employee, also provides services on a part-time basis
to CSMC as do several other of our employees and Dr. Frank Litvack is only a part-time consultant to the Company
and provides services to other non-competing enterprises. These individuals’ multiple responsibilities on behalf of the
Company and other entities could cause the Company harm in that such employees are unable to devote their full time
and attention to the Company.

If we do not establish strategic partnerships, we will have to undertake development and commercialization efforts on
our own, which would be costly and delay our ability to commercialize any future products or product candidates.
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An element of our business strategy includes potentially partnering with pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other
companies to obtain assistance for the development and potential commercialization of our product candidates,
including the cash and other resources we need for such development and potentially commercialization. We may not
be able to negotiate strategic partnerships on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to negotiate strategic
partnerships for our product candidates we may be forced to curtail the development of a particular candidate, reduce
or delay its development program, delay its potential commercialization, reduce the scope of our sales or marketing
activities or undertake development or commercialization activities at our own expense. In addition, we will bear all
the risk related to the development of that product candidate. If we elect to increase our expenditures to fund
development or commercialization activities on our own, we will need to obtain substantial additional capital, which
may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we do not have sufficient funds, we will not be able to
bring our product candidates to market and generate product revenue.
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We have no experience selling, marketing, or distributing products and no internal capability to do so.

The Company currently has no sales, marketing, or distribution capabilities. We do not anticipate having resources in
the foreseeable future to allocate to the sales and marketing of our proposed products. Our future success depends, in
part, on our ability to enter into and maintain sales and marketing collaborative relationships, or on our ability to build
sales and marketing capabilities internally. If we enter into a sales and marketing collaborative relationship, then we
will be dependent upon the collaborator’s strategic interest in the products under development, and such collaborator’s
ability to successfully market and sell any such products. We intend to pursue collaborative arrangements regarding
the sales and marketing of our products, however, there can be no assurance that we will be able to establish or
maintain such collaborative arrangements, or if able to do so, that they will have effective sales forces. To the extent
that we decide not to, or are unable to, enter into collaborative arrangements with respect to the sales and marketing of
our proposed products, significant capital expenditures, management resources, and time will be required to establish
and develop an in-house marketing and sales force with technical expertise. There can also be no assurance that we
will be able to establish or maintain relationships with third-party collaborators or develop in-house sales and
distribution capabilities. To the extent that we depend on third parties for marketing and distribution, any revenues we
receive will depend upon the efforts of such third parties, and there can be no assurance that such efforts will be
successful.

If any of our product candidates for which we receive regulatory approval do not achieve broad market acceptance,
the revenues that we generate from their sales will be limited.

The commercial viability of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval from the FDA or other
regulatory authorities will depend upon their acceptance among physicians, the medical community, and patients, and
coverage and reimbursement of them by third-party payors, including government payors. The degree of market
acceptance of any of our approved products will depend on a number of factors, including:

§ limitations or warnings contained in a product’s FDA -approved labeling;

§changes in the standard of care for the targeted indications for any of our product candidates, which could reduce the
marketing impact of any claims that we could make following FDA approval;

§limitations inherent in the approved indication for any of our product candidates compared to more commonly
understood or addressed conditions;

§ lower demonstrated clinical safety and efficacy compared to other products;
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§ prevalence and severity of adverse effects;

§ ineffective marketing and distribution efforts;

§ lack of availability of reimbursement from managed care plans and other third-party payors;

§ lack of cost-effectiveness;

§ timing of market introduction and perceived effectiveness of competitive products;

§ availability of alternative therapies at similar costs; and

§ potential product liability claims.
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Our ability to effectively promote and sell our product candidates in the marketplace will also depend on pricing and
cost effectiveness, including our ability to manufacture a product at a competitive price. We will also need to
demonstrate acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy and may need to demonstrate relative convenience and ease of
administration. Market acceptance could be further limited depending on the prevalence and severity of any expected
or unexpected adverse side effects associated with our product candidates. If our product candidates are approved but
do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, health care payors, and patients, we may not generate
sufficient revenue from these products, and we may not become or remain profitable. In addition, our efforts to
educate the medical community and third-party payors on the benefits of our product candidates may require
significant resources and may never be successful. If our approved drugs fail to achieve market acceptance, we will
not be able to generate significant revenue, if any.

Our ability to generate product revenues will be diminished if our drugs sell for inadequate prices or patients are
unable to obtain adequate levels of reimbursement.

Our ability to generate significant sales of our products depends on the availability of adequate coverage and
reimbursement from third-party payors. Healthcare providers that purchase medicine or medical products for
treatment of their patients generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the costs and fees associated
with the products. Adequate coverage and reimbursement from governmental, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and
commercial payors is critical to new product acceptance. Patients are unlikely to use our products if they do not
receive reimbursement adequate to cover the cost of our products.

In addition, the market for our future products will depend significantly on access to third-party payors’ drug
formularies, or lists of medications for which third-party payors provide coverage and reimbursement. Industry
competition to be included in such formularies results in downward pricing pressures on pharmaceutical companies.
Third-party payors may refuse to include a particular branded drug in their formularies when a generic equivalent is
available.

All third-party payors, whether governmental or commercial, whether inside the United States or outside, are
developing increasingly sophisticated methods of controlling healthcare costs. In addition, in the United States, no
uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for medical technology exists among all these payors. Therefore,
coverage of and reimbursement for medical products can differ significantly from payor to payor.

Further, we believe that future coverage and reimbursement may be subject to increased restrictions both in the United
States and in international markets. Third-party coverage and reimbursement for our products may not be available or
adequate in either the United States or international markets, limiting our ability to sell our products on a profitable
basis.
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Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of newly approved healthcare products. Healthcare
payors, including Medicare, are challenging the prices charged for medical products and services. Government and
other healthcare payors increasingly attempt to contain healthcare costs by limiting both coverage and the level of
reimbursement for drugs. Even if our product candidates are approved by the FDA, insurance coverage may not be
available, and reimbursement levels may be inadequate, to cover our drugs. If government and other healthcare payors
do not provide adequate coverage and reimbursement levels for any of our products, once approved, market
acceptance of our products could be reduced.

Risks Related to Product and Environmental Liability

Our products may expose us to potential product liability, and there is no guarantee that we will be able to obtain and
maintain adequate insurance to cover these liabilities.

The testing, marketing, and sale of human cell therapeutics, pharmaceuticals, and services entail an inherent risk of
adverse effects or medical complications to patients and, as a result, product liability claims may be asserted against
us. A future product liability claim or product recall could have a material adverse effect on the Company. There can
be no assurance that product liability insurance will be available to us in the future on acceptable terms, if at all, or
that coverage will be adequate to protect us against product liability claims. In the event of a successful claim against
the Company, insufficient or lack of insurance or indemnification rights could result in liability to us, which could
have a material adverse effect on the Company and its future viability. The use of our product candidates in clinical
trials and the sale of any products for which we obtain marketing approval, if at all, expose the Company to the risk of
product liability claims. Product liability claims might be brought against the Company by consumers, health care
providers or others using, administering or selling our products. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against
these claims, we will incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result
in:
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§ withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

§ termination of clinical trial sites or entire trial programs;

§ costs of related litigation;

§ substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;

§ decreased demand for our product candidates;

§ impairment of our business reputation;

§ loss of revenues; and

§ the inability to commercialize our product candidates.

The Company has obtained clinical trial insurance coverage for its clinical trials. However, such insurance coverage
may not reimburse the Company or may not be sufficient to reimburse it for any expenses or losses it may suffer.
Moreover, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, and, in the future, we may not be able to maintain
insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect the Company against losses due to liability.
We intend to expand our insurance coverage to include the sale of commercial products if we obtain marketing
approval for our product candidates in development, but we may be unable to obtain commercially reasonable product
liability insurance for any products approved for marketing. On occasion, large judgments have been awarded in class
action lawsuits based on drugs that had unanticipated side effects. A successful product liability claim or series of
claims brought against the Company could have a material adverse effect on us and, if judgments exceed our
insurance coverage, could decrease our cash position and adversely affect our business.

Our business involves risk associated with handling hazardous and other dangerous materials.

Our research and development activities involve the controlled use of hazardous materials, chemicals, human blood
and tissue, animal blood and blood products, and animal tissue, biological waste, and various radioactive compounds.
The risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials cannot be completely eliminated. The failure to
comply with current or future regulations could result in the imposition of substantial fines against the Company,
suspension of production, alteration of our manufacturing processes, or cessation of operations.
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Our business depends on compliance with ever-changing environmental laws.

We cannot accurately predict the outcome or timing of future expenditures that may be required to comply with
comprehensive federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations. We must comply with environmental laws
that govern, among other things, all emissions, waste water discharge and solid and hazardous waste disposal, and the
remediation of contamination associated with generation, handling and disposal activities. To date, the Company has
not incurred significant costs and is not aware of any significant liabilities associated with its compliance with federal,
state and local laws and regulations. However, environmental laws have changed in recent years and the Company
may become subject to stricter environmental standards in the future and may face large capital expenditures to
comply with environmental laws. We have limited capital and we are uncertain whether we will be able to pay for
significantly large capital expenditures that may be required to comply with new laws. Also, future developments,
administrative actions or liabilities relating to environmental matters may have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition or results of operations.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock

We expect that our stock price will fluctuate significantly, and you may not be able to resell your shares at or above
your investment price.

The stock market, particularly in recent years, has experienced significant volatility, particularly with respect to
pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other life sciences company stocks. Our operating results may fluctuate from
period to period for a number of reasons, and as a result our stock price may be subject to significant fluctuations.
Factors that could cause volatility in the market price of our common stock include, but are not limited to:

§ our financial condition, including our need for additional capital;

§
results from, delays in, or discontinuation of, any of the clinical trials for our drug candidates, including delays
resulting from slower than expected or suspended patient enrollment or discontinuations resulting from a failure to
meet pre-defined clinical endpoints;

§ announcements concerning clinical trials;

§ failure or delays in entering drug candidates into clinical trials;

§ failure or discontinuation of any of our research programs;

§ developments in establishing new strategic alliances or with existing alliances;

§ market conditions in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other healthcare related sectors;

§ actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial and operating results;

§ developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

§ introduction of technological innovations or new commercial products by us or our competitors;
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§ issues in manufacturing our drug candidates or drugs;

§ FDA or other United States or foreign regulatory actions affecting us or our industry;

§ market acceptance of our drugs, when they enter the market;

§ third-party healthcare coverage and reimbursement policies;

§ litigation or public concern about the safety of our drug candidates or drugs;

§ issuance of new or revised securities analysts’ reports or recommendations;

§ additions or departures of key personnel; or

§ volatility in the stock prices of other companies in our industry.

These and other external factors may cause the market price and demand for our common stock to fluctuate
substantially, which may limit or prevent investors from readily selling their shares of common stock and may
otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock. In addition, when the market price of a stock has been
volatile, holders of that stock have instituted securities class action litigation against the company that issued the
stock. If any of our stockholders brought a lawsuit against us, we could incur substantial costs defending the lawsuit.
Such a lawsuit could also divert our management’s time and attention.

Since we have broad discretion in how we use the proceeds received upon the exercise of the warrants, if any, we may
use the proceeds in ways with which you disagree.

We intend to use the net proceeds that we may receive upon the exercise of the warrants to fund our general corporate
expenses and working capital. However, our management will have significant flexibility in applying any net proceeds
from the exercise of such warrants. You will be relying on the judgment of our management with regard to the use of
these net proceeds, and you will not have the opportunity, as part of your investment decision, to assess whether the
proceeds are being used appropriately. It is possible that the net proceeds will be invested in a way that does not yield
a favorable, or any, return for us. The failure of our management to use such funds effectively could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flow.
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Because the Company’s common stock will be primarily traded on the OTCQB tier of the OTC Markets, the volume of
shares traded and the prices at which such shares trade may result in lower prices than might otherwise exist if our
common stock was traded on a national securities exchange.

The Company’s shares are traded on the OTCQB tier of the OTC Markets. Stock traded on the OTCQB tier of the
OTC Markets is often less liquid than stock traded on national securities exchanges, not only in terms of the number
of shares that can be bought and sold at a given price, but also in terms of delays in the timing of transactions and
reduced coverage of the Company by security analysts and media. This may result in lower prices for the Company’s
common stock than might otherwise be obtained if the common stock were traded on a national securities exchange,
and could also result in a larger spread between the bid and asked prices for the Company’s common stock. There is no
guarantee that the Company will be able to re-list its common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market or any other
market. The Company’s management will be required to devote substantial time to comply with public company
regulations.

We have never paid dividends and we do not anticipate paying dividends in the future.

We have never paid dividends on our capital stock and do not anticipate paying any dividends for the foreseeable
future. We anticipate that the Company will retain its earnings, if any, for future growth. Investors seeking cash
dividends should not invest in the Company’s common stock for that purpose.

There may be additional issuances of shares of blank check preferred stock in the future.

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, none of which are
issued or currently outstanding. Our Board of Directors will have the authority to fix and determine the relative rights
and preferences of preferred shares, as well as the authority to issue such shares, without further stockholder approval.
As a result, our Board of Directors could authorize the issuance of a series of preferred stock that is senior to our
common stock that would grant to holders preferred rights to our assets upon liquidation, the right to receive
dividends, additional registration rights, anti-dilution protection, the right to the redemption of such shares, together
with other rights, none of which will be afforded holders of our common stock.

Recent turmoil in the financial markets and the global recession has adversely affected and may continue to adversely
affect our industry, business and ability to obtain financing.
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Recent global market and economic conditions have been unprecedented and challenging with tighter credit
conditions leading to decreased spending by businesses and consumers alike. Continued turbulence in the U.S. and
international markets and economies and prolonged declines in business and consumer spending may adversely affect
our liquidity and financial condition, including our ability to access the capital markets to meet our liquidity needs.

We may not be able to attract the attention of major brokerage firms.

Security analysts of major brokerage firms may not provide coverage of us since there is no incentive to brokerage
firms to recommend the purchase of our common stock. No assurance can be given that brokerage firms will want to
conduct any secondary offerings on behalf of our Company in the future. The lack of such analyst coverage may
decrease the public demand for our common stock, making it more difficult for you to resell your shares when you
deem appropriate.

The operational and other projections and forecasts that we may make from time to time are subject to inherent risks.

The projections and forecasts that our management may provide from time to time (including, but not limited to, those
relating to timing, progress and anticipated results of clinical development, regulatory processes, clinical trial
timelines and any anticipated benefits of our product candidates) reflect numerous assumptions made by management,
including assumptions with respect to our specific as well as general business, economic, market and financial
conditions and other matters, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control.
Accordingly, there is a risk that the assumptions made in preparing the projections, or the projections themselves, will
prove inaccurate. There will be differences between actual and projected results, and actual results may be materially
different from than those contained in the projections. The inclusion of the projections in (or incorporated by reference
in) this prospectus should not be regarded as an indication that we or our management or representatives considered or
consider the projections to be a reliable prediction of future events, and the projections should not be relied upon as
such.
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Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws contain provisions that may discourage, delay or prevent a change in our
management team that stockholders may consider favorable.

Our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that may have the effect of
preserving our current management, such as:

§ authorizing the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock without any need for action by stockholders;

§ eliminating the ability of stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders; and

§establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing
matters that can be acted on by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

These provisions could make it more difficult for our stockholders to affect our corporate policies, make changes in
our Board of Directors and for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders.

Ownership of the Company’s common stock is highly concentrated, which may prevent you and other stockholders
from influencing significant corporate decisions and may result in conflicts of interest that could cause the Company’s
stock price to decline.

Capricor’s former stockholders, many of whom are executive officers and directors continuing with the Company,
together with their respective affiliates beneficially own or control approximately 90% of the outstanding shares of the
Company. Accordingly, stockholders, executive officers, directors and their affiliates, acting individually or as a
group, will have substantial influence over the outcome of a corporate action of the Company requiring stockholder
approval, including the election of directors, any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of the
Company’s assets or any other significant corporate transaction. These stockholders may also exert influence in
delaying or preventing a change in control of the Company, even if such change in control would benefit the other
stockholders of the Company. In addition, the significant concentration of stock ownership may adversely affect the
market value of the Company’s common stock due to investors’ perception that conflicts of interest may exist or arise.

The Company’s ability to utilize Nile’s net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards in the future is subject to
substantial limitations and may be further limited as a result of the recent merger with Capricor.
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Federal and state income tax laws impose restrictions on the utilization of net operating loss, or NOL, and tax credit
carryforwards in the event that an “ownership change” occurs for tax purposes, as defined by Section 382 of the Code.
In general, an ownership change occurs when shareholders owning 5% or more of a “loss corporation” (a corporation
entitled to use NOL or other loss carryforwards) have increased their aggregate ownership of stock in such corporation
by more than 50 percentage points during any three-year period. If an “ownership change” occurs, Section 382 of the
Code imposes an annual limitation on the amount of post-ownership change taxable income that may be offset with
pre-ownership change NOLs of the loss corporation experiencing the ownership change. The annual limitation is
calculated by multiplying the loss corporation’s value immediately before the ownership change by the greater of the
long-term tax-exempt rate determined by the IRS in the month of the ownership change or the two preceding months.
This annual limitation may be adjusted to reflect any unused annual limitation for prior years and certain recognized
built-in gains and losses for the year. Section 383 of the Code also imposes a limitation on the amount of tax liability
in any post-ownership change year that can be reduced by the loss corporation’s pre-ownership change tax credit
carryforwards.

It is expected that the merger between Nile and Capricor resulted in another “ownership change” of Nile. Accordingly,
the Company’s ability to utilize Nile’s NOL and tax credit carryforwards may be substantially limited. These limitations
could, in turn, result in increased future tax payments for the Company, which could have a material adverse effect on
the business, financial condition, or results of operations of the Company.
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Failure to achieve and maintain effective internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 could have a material adverse effect on our business and stock price.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or Sarbanes-Oxley, as well as rules implemented by the SEC and any market on
which the Company’s shares may be listed in the future, impose various requirements on public companies, including
those related to corporate governance practices. The Company’s management and other personnel will need to devote a
substantial amount of time to these requirements. Moreover, these rules and regulations will increase the Company’s
legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time consuming and costly.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or Section 404, requires that we establish and maintain an adequate
internal control structure and procedures for financial reporting. Our annual reports on Form 10-K must contain an
assessment by management of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and must include
disclosure of any material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting that we have identified. The
requirements of Section 404 are ongoing and also apply to future years. We expect that our internal control over
financial reporting will continue to evolve as our business develops. Although we are committed to continue to
improve our internal control processes and we will continue to diligently and vigorously review our internal control
over financial reporting in order to ensure compliance with Section 404 requirements, any control system, regardless
of how well designed, operated and evaluated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives
will be met. Therefore, we cannot be certain that in the future material weaknesses or significant deficiencies will not
exist or otherwise be discovered. If material weaknesses or other significant deficiencies occur, these weaknesses or
deficiencies could result in misstatements of our results of operations, restatements of our consolidated financial
statements, a decline in our stock price, or other material adverse effects on our business, reputation, results of
operations, financial condition or liquidity.
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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which statements involve
substantial risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future financial
or operating performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words
such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,” “target,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,”
“estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions that
concern our expectations, strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus
include, but are not limited to, statements about:

· the development of our drug candidates, including when we expect to undertake, initiate and complete clinical trials
of our product candidates;

· the regulatory approval of our drug candidates;

· our use of clinical research centers, third party manufacturers and other contractors;

· our ability to find collaborative partners for research, development and commercialization of potential products;

· our ability to manufacture products for clinical and commercial use;

· our ability to protect our patents and other intellectual property;

· our ability to market any of our products;

· our history of operating losses;

· our ability to secure adequate protection for our intellectual property;

· our ability to compete against other companies and research institutions;

· the effect of potential strategic transactions on our business;
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·acceptance of our products by doctors, patients or payors and the availability of reimbursement for our product
candidates;

· our ability to attract and retain key personnel;

· the volatility of our stock price; and

· other risks and uncertainties detailed in the section of this prospectus entitled “Risk Factors”.

We caution you that the forward-looking statements highlighted above do not encompass all of the forward-looking
statements made in this prospectus.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the
forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus primarily on our current expectations and projections about
future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties
and other factors described in the section of this prospectus entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus.
Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and challenging environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from
time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the
forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus. We cannot assure you that the results, events and
circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events or
circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.
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The forward-looking statements made in this prospectus relate only to events as of the date on which the statements
are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this prospectus to reflect
events or circumstances after the date of this prospectus or to reflect new information or the occurrence of
unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations
disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking
statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers,
dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make.

This prospectus also contains statistical data, estimates, and forecasts that are based on independent industry
publications or other publicly available information, as well as other information based on our internal sources.
Although we believe that the third-party sources referred to in this prospectus are reliable, we have not independently
verified the information provided by these third parties. While we are not aware of any misstatements regarding any
third-party information presented in this prospectus, their estimates, in particular, as they relate to projections, involve
numerous assumptions, are subject to risks and uncertainties, and are subject to change based on various factors,
including those discussed under the section of this prospectus entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the common stock by the selling stockholders. However, we may
receive up to approximately $570,497 in the aggregate upon the exercise of the warrants. We intend to use the
proceeds received from any exercise of the warrants to further develop our product candidates and for other general
corporate and working capital purposes.

Our management will have broad discretion regarding the use of proceeds from the exercise of any warrants, and
investors will be relying on the judgment of our management regarding the application of the proceeds from the
exercise of any warrants. We may change the use of these proceeds from those described above as a result of various
factors such as competitive developments, the results of our early clinical development and commercialization efforts,
acquisition and investment opportunities and other factors.
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MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Prior to November 20, 2013, our common stock traded on the OTCQB tier of the OTC Markets under the symbol
“NLTX.PK”. On November 20, 2013, our symbol changed to “NLTXD”. On December 20, 2013, we began trading under
the symbol “CAPR”. On November 20, 2013, we effected a 1:50 reverse stock split of all of our outstanding shares of
common stock (the “Reverse Stock Split”). The following table lists the high and low prices of our common stock as
quoted, in U.S. dollars, by the OTCQB during each quarter within the last two completed fiscal years, as well as the
first quarter of 2014. The quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail markup, markdown or commission, and
may not represent actual transactions. Consequently, the information provided below may not be indicative of our
common stock price under different conditions. All share and per share information set forth in this prospectus has
been adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split. The closing price of our common stock as reported on the OTCQB
was $4.61 on June 5, 2014.

High Low
Year ended December 31, 2012
First Quarter $29.50 $22.00
Second Quarter 25.00 3.50
Third Quarter 7.50 4.50
Fourth Quarter 5.50 1.00

Year ended December 31, 2013
First Quarter 10.00 2.00
Second Quarter 5.50 2.50
Third Quarter 3.50 1.50
Fourth Quarter 5.00 2.15

Year ended December 31, 2014
First Quarter  17.15 2.50

Holders

According to the records of our transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as of May 15, 2014, we
had 107 holders of record of common stock, not including those held in “street name.”
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Dividends Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We intend to retain future earnings, if any, to
finance the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be made at the discretion of our Board of Directors or any
authorized committee thereof after considering our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements,
business prospects and other factors our Board of Directors or such committee deems relevant, and subject to
applicable Delaware law and the restrictions contained in our current or future financing instruments.
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Capitalization

The following table sets forth our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities and capitalization as of March 31,
2014:

· on an actual basis; and

·on a pro forma basis after giving effect to the exercise of the outstanding warrants to purchase 251,044 shares of our
common stock.

The information in this table should be read in conjunction with “Use of Proceeds” and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our condensed consolidated financial statements and
related condensed consolidated notes thereto included elsewhere in this prospectus.

As of March 31, 2014

Actual
(unaudited)

Pro Forma
(unaudited)

Pro Forma As
Adjusted
(unaudited)

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $13,305,376 $ 570,497 $ 13,875,873

DEBT
Loan payable 3,961,733 - 3,961,733

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Preferred stock, $0.001 par, 5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued
and outstanding - - -

Common stock, $0.001 par, 50,000,000 shares authorized 11,690,859
shares issued and outstanding actual, 251,044 shares issued and
outstanding Pro Forma, 11,941,903 shares issued and outstanding Pro
Forma as adjusted

11,690 251 11,941

Additional paid-in capital 15,638,420 570,246 16,208,666
Subscription receivable - - -
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (404 ) - (404 )
Deficit accumulated during the development stage (17,309,146) - (17,309,146 )
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) (1,659,440 ) 570,497 (1,088,943 )
TOTAL CAPITALIZATION $2,302,293 $ 570,497 $ 2,872,790

The table set forth above is based on 11,690,859, the number of shares of our common stock outstanding as of March
31, 2014. The table excludes:
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·4,709,000 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options with a weighted
average exercise price of approximately $0.58 per share as of March 31, 2014;

·
81,237 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants with a weighted average
exercise price of approximately $63.33 per share as of March 31, 2014 (excluding the shares underlying the warrants
being registered hereby); and

·
2,178,214 shares of our common stock reserved for issuance as of March 31, 2014 under our: (1) Amended and
Restated 2005 Stock Option Plan; (2) 2006 Stock Option Plan; (3) 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan; and (4) 2012
Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements, condensed consolidated financial statements, the consolidated notes, and
condensed consolidated notes to those statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. This discussion includes
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, our actual results may
differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements.

Overview

Our mission is to improve the treatment of diseases by commercializing innovative therapies, with a primary focus on
heart disease. Our executive offices are located at 8840 Wilshire Blvd., 2nd Floor, Beverly Hills, California 90211.
Our telephone number is (310) 358-3200 and our Internet address is www.capricor.com.

Consummation of the Merger

On November 20, 2013, pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of July 7,
2013, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of
September 27, 2013, or, as so amended, the Merger Agreement, by and among Nile Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, or Nile, Bovet Merger Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nile, or Merger
Sub, and Capricor, Merger Sub merged with and into Capricor and Capricor became a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Nile. Immediately prior to the effective time of the merger, or the Effective Time, and in connection therewith, Nile
filed certain amendments to its certificate of incorporation which, among other things (i) effected a 1-for-50 reverse
split of its common stock, (ii) changed its corporate name from “Nile Therapeutics, Inc.” to “Capricor Therapeutics, Inc.,”
and (iii) effected a reduction in the total number of authorized shares of common stock from 100,000,000 to
50,000,000, and a reduction in the total number of authorized shares of preferred stock from 10,000,000 to 5,000,000.

At the Effective Time and in connection with the merger between Capricor and Nile, each outstanding share of
Capricor’s Series A-1, Series A-2 and Series A-3 Preferred Stock was converted into one share of common stock, par
value $0.001 per share, of Capricor.

As a result of the merger between Capricor and Nile and in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, each
outstanding share of Capricor common stock was converted into the right to receive approximately 2.07 shares of the
common stock of Capricor Therapeutics, par value $0.001 per share, on a post 1-for-50 reverse stock split basis.
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Immediately after the Effective Time and in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, the former Capricor
stockholders owned approximately 90% of the outstanding common stock of Capricor Therapeutics, and the Nile
stockholders owned approximately 10% of the outstanding common stock of Capricor Therapeutics, in each case on a
fully-diluted basis. For accounting purposes, the merger between Capricor and Nile is accounted for as a reverse
merger with Capricor as the accounting acquiror (legal acquiree) and Nile as the accounting acquiree (legal acquiror).

After the Effective Time, each then outstanding Capricor stock option, whether vested or unvested, was assumed by
Capricor Therapeutics in accordance with the terms of the (i) 2006 Stock Option Plan, (ii) 2012 Restated Equity
Incentive Plan, or (iii) 2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, as applicable, and the stock option agreement
under which each such option was issued. All rights with respect to Capricor common stock under outstanding
Capricor options were converted into rights with respect to Capricor Therapeutics common stock.

Since Capricor was deemed to be the accounting acquiror in the merger, the historical financial information for
periods prior to the merger reflects the financial information and activities solely of Capricor and not of Nile. The
historical equity of Capricor has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the equity structure of Capricor Therapeutics
using the respective exchange ratio established in the merger between Capricor and Nile, which reflects the number of
shares Capricor Therapeutics issued to equity holders of Capricor as a result of the merger. The retroactive adjustment
of Capricor’s equity includes Capricor’s preferred stock as if such shares of preferred stock had been converted into
Capricor common stock at the respective dates of issuance, which is consistent with the terms of the merger.
Accordingly, all common and preferred shares and per share amounts for all periods presented in the condensed
consolidated financial statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and condensed consolidated notes
thereto have been adjusted retrospectively, where applicable, to reflect the respective exchange ratio established in the
merger.
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Capricor, our wholly-owned subsidiary, was founded in 2005 as a Delaware corporation based on the innovative work
of its founder, Eduardo Marbán, M.D., Ph.D., and his collaborators. First located in Baltimore, Maryland, adjacent to
The Johns Hopkins University, or JHU, where Dr. Marbán was chief of cardiology, Capricor moved to Los Angeles,
California in 2007 when Dr. Marbán become Director of the Heart Institute at Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, or
CSMC. Capricor’s labs are located in space that Capricor leases from CSMC.

We currently have six drug candidates in various stages of development:

·

CAP-1002:  Capricor’s lead product candidate consists of allogeneic cardiosphere-derived cells, or CDCs. CAP-1002
is currently being tested in Capricor’s ALLSTAR Phase I/II clinical trial which will determine if the cells can lead to
reduction in scar size in patients who have had a heart attack. It is a dual cohort clinical trial that has two
independently recruiting strata:  the first are patients who have recently experienced a myocardial infarction, or MI
(30-90 days post MI); the second are patients who have suffered an MI within one year (90 days to one-year post MI)
to see if the cells can reduce the size of older, more established scar. In addition to measuring scar size, ALLSTAR
will also look at a variety of clinical and quality of life endpoints. Phase I of the ALLSTAR trial was a 14 patient trial
conducted at three sites to determine if allogeneic CDCs are safe for patients. Phase I of the trial was funded in large
part by a grant received from the National Institutes of Health, or NIH.  The primary endpoints focused on acute
effects of cell delivery and potential immune consequences of allogeneic cell delivery. Patient enrollment was
completed for the Phase I portion of the trial on October 11, 2013. On December 15, 2013, Capricor received
notification from the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute, or the NHLBI, Gene and Cell Therapy Data Safety
Monitoring Board that the 14-patient Phase I portion had met its safety endpoints and that Capricor was cleared to
begin the Phase II portion of the trial. Capricor began enrollment of the Phase II portion of the ALLSTAR study in
the first quarter of 2014.  Phase II is an estimated 300 patient, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial
which is powered to detect a reduction in infarct (scar) size as measured by MRI in both groups of patients, those
with recent and chronic MI, at the one year follow-up.  As infarct size was reduced significantly in the CADUCEUS
patients at six months, Capricor intends to get a preliminary readout of ALLSTAR at six months post infusion. Phase
II of ALLSTAR is being funded in large part through the support of the California Institute for Regenerative
Medicine, or CIRM. Recently, Capricor entered into a Collaboration Agreement and Exclusive License Option with
Janssen Biotech, Inc., or Janssen. Under the agreement, Janssen has an exclusive option to enter into an exclusive
license agreement with Capricor, pursuant to which, if exercised, Janssen would receive a worldwide, exclusive
license to exploit CAP-1002 as well as certain allogeneic cardiospheres and cardiosphere-derived cells in the field of
cardiology.

Additionally, Capricor has been awarded a grant from the NIH to support further development of the CAP-1002
product. Dr. Eduardo Marbán of CSMC, and Capricor’s founder, has received approval on an investigational new drug,
or IND, for a trial named “DYNAMIC” (dilated cardiomyopathy intervention with allogeneic myocardially-regenerative
cells). Presently, Capricor is in discussions with the NIH with respect to the possible use of the funds subject to the
grant for other clinical purposes. If approved, it is possible that Capricor will deploy this grant to fund the Phase I
portion of the DYNAMIC trial. The Phase I portion of the DYNAMIC trial would use CAP-1002 to treat patients with
advanced heart failure and a recent hospitalization for such. Capricor’s decision to become involved in the DYNAMIC
trial will depend on multiple factors, including, but not limited to: approval by the NHLBI to utilize the grant monies
to fund the DYNAMIC trial, the ability of Capricor to reach an agreement with CSMC regarding the clinical
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operations aspect of the trial, and the assessment by Capricor of the appropriateness of DYNAMIC with respect to our
pipeline development plan.

·

CAP-1001: CAP-1001 consists of autologous CDCs. This product was used in the Phase I CADUCEUS clinical trial,
which was sponsored and conducted by CSMC in collaboration with JHU. In that study, 25 patients were enrolled, of
which 17 patients received autologous CDCs. 16 of the 17 treated patients showed a mean reduction of
approximately 45% in scar mass and an increase in viable heart muscle one-year post heart attack. The eight patients
in the control group had no significant change in infarct (scar) size. At present there is no plan for another clinical
trial for CAP-1001. The data from CADUCEUS, using autologous CDCs, suggests that the cells are effective in
reducing scar within several months of a heart attack. The ALLSTAR trial is designed to validate the results of
CADUCEUS using an allogeneic product while also looking for potential efficacy in patients between 90 days and
one year post MI with a more chronic scar, a patient population that CADUCEUS was not designed to study.
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·
CSps: CSps are multicellular clusters called cardiospheres, a 3D micro-tissue from which CDCs are derived, and
have shown significant healing effects in pre-clinical models of heart failure. While Capricor considers the CSps an
important product, at present there is no plan for a clinical trial for CSps.

·

Exosomes: Exosomes are nano-sized, membrane-enclosed vesicles, or “bubbles”, that are filled with select molecules,
including proteins and microRNAs, which, when released, send messages to neighboring cells to regulate cellular
functions. Exosomes act as a transport vehicle out of the cell for microRNA, other fragments of genetic material and
proteins that act as messengers between cells, ultimately providing regulatory function for many cell processes,
including inflammation, angiogenesis, programmed cell death (apoptosis) and scarring. Research has shown that
exogenous exosomes can be used as therapeutic agents aimed to direct or, in some cases, re-direct cellular activities.
Their size, ease of crossing cell membranes, and ability to communicate in native cellular language makes them a
class of exciting and novel therapeutic agents. Capricor is currently in pre-clinical testing to explore the possible
future therapeutic benefits that exosomes may possess.

·

Cenderitide (CD-NP): Cenderitide is a chimeric natriuretic peptide that is being considered for the treatment of heart
failure. To date, we have explored the use of cenderitide in acute heart failure admissions as well as in the setting of
patients in the vulnerable post-hospitalization phase. Any further development of cenderitide is subject to our ability
to either raise additional capital or enter into a strategic transaction in which a strategic partner provides the capital
necessary to continue development activities. We are currently evaluating whether we will proceed with further
clinical development of this product.

·

CU-NP: CU-NP is a pre-clinical rationally-designed natriuretic peptide that consists of amino acid chains identical to
those produced by the human body, specifically the ring structure of C-type natriuretic peptide, or CNP, and the N-
and C-termini of Urodilatin, or URO. Any further development of CU-NP is subject to our ability to either raise
additional capital or enter into a strategic transaction in which a strategic partner provides the capital necessary to
continue development activities. We are currently evaluating whether we will proceed with further clinical
development of this product.

We have no product sales to date and will not have the ability to generate any product revenue until after we have
received approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, or equivalent foreign regulatory bodies
to begin selling our pharmaceutical product candidates. Developing pharmaceutical products is a lengthy and very
expensive process. Even if we obtain the capital necessary to continue the development of our product candidates,
whether through a strategic transaction or otherwise, we do not expect to complete the development of a product
candidate for many years, if ever. To date, most of our development expenses have related to our product candidates,
CAP-1002 and cenderitide. As we proceed with the clinical development of CAP-1002 and other potential indications
for CAP-1002, or if we further develop cenderitide or other additional products, our expenses will further increase. To
the extent that we are successful in acquiring additional product candidates for our development pipeline, our need to
finance further research and development activities will continue increasing. Accordingly, our success depends not
only on the safety and efficacy of our product candidates, but also on our ability to finance the development of the
products. Our major sources of working capital have been proceeds from private and public equity sales, grants
received from the NIH, a payment from Janssen, and a loan award from CIRM.
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Research and development, or R&D, expenses consist primarily of salaries and related personnel costs, clinical patient
costs, consulting fees, costs of manufacturing personnel and supplies, costs of service providers for pre-clinical,
clinical and certain legal expenses resulting from intellectual property prosecution, stock compensation expense and
other expenses relating to the design, development, testing and enhancement of our product candidates. Except for
certain capitalized patent expenses, R&D costs are expensed as incurred.

General and administrative, or G&A, expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses for executive, finance
and other administrative personnel, stock compensation expense, accounting, legal and other professional fees,
consulting expenses, rent for corporate offices, business insurance and other corporate expenses.

Our results have included non-cash compensation expense as a result of the issuance of stock options and warrants, as
applicable. We expense the fair value of stock options and warrants over their vesting period as applicable. When
more precise pricing data is unavailable, we determine the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. The terms and vesting schedules for share-based awards vary by type of grant and the
employment status of the grantee. Generally, the awards vest based upon time-based or performance-based conditions.
Performance-based conditions generally include the attainment of goals related to our financial performance and
product development. Stock-based compensation expense is included in the condensed consolidated statements of
operations under G&A or R&D expenses, as applicable. We expect to record additional non-cash compensation
expense in the future, which may be significant.
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Results of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013; and the fiscal years ending 2013
and 2012

General and Administrative Expenses. G&A expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 were
approximately $0.9 million and $0.5 million, respectively. The increase in the first quarter of 2014 of approximately
$0.4 million compared to the same period of 2013 is primarily attributable to an increase of approximately $0.2
million in professional fees related to legal, consulting and accounting work related to the merger between Capricor
and Nile, as well as additional expenses related to relevant public company compliance. Additionally, there was an
increase of approximately $0.1 million in compensation costs related to increased headcount.

G&A expenses for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were approximately $2.2 million and $1.4 million,
respectively. The increase of approximately $0.8 million compared to the same period of 2012 is primarily attributable
to an increase of approximately $0.2 million in compensation costs, primarily related to increased headcount.
Additionally, there was an increase in rent expense of approximately $0.1 million due to us amending our then current
lease arrangement to provide for additional office space at our corporate offices. Additionally, there was an increase in
professional fees related to legal, consulting and accounting work primarily related to the merger between Nile and
Capricor of approximately $0.3 million compared to the same period of 2012.

Research and Development Expenses. R&D expenses for three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 were
approximately $1.4 million and $1.2 million, respectively. The increase of approximately $0.2 million over the same
period of 2013 is primarily due to the timing of clinical development activities of CAP-1002 in our Phase I/II trial
throughout 2013 and 2014. This resulted in an increase of approximately $0.2 million in clinical costs primarily
related to patient costs, site costs and expenses for the operational team that supports our clinical trial.

R&D expenses for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were approximately $5.2 million and $2.6 million,
respectively. The increase of approximately $2.6 million over the same period of 2012 is primarily due to the fact that
Capricor was actively conducting clinical development activities of CAP-1002 in our Phase I/II trial throughout 2013.
This resulted in an increase of approximately $2.1 million in clinical costs primarily related to contract research
organizations for statistical programming and data management, as well as patient costs and expenses for the
operational team that supports our clinical trial. Additionally, we had an increase of approximately $0.3 million in
manufacturing costs, primarily related to the supplies and testing required to release our clinical product.

CAP-1002 – Although the development of CAP-1002 is in its early stages, we believe that it has the potential to treat
heart disease. On December 15, 2013 the NHLBI Gene and Cell Therapy Data Safety Monitoring Board gave
Capricor approval to move into the Phase II portion of the ALLSTAR trial. We expect to spend approximately $7.5 to
$10.0 million during 2014 on the development of CAP-1002, which is primarily related to our Phase II ALLSTAR
trial. The Phase I portion of the trial was funded in large part through a grant received from the NIH. We began
enrollment of the Phase II portion of the ALLSTAR trial in the first quarter of 2014. Phase II is an estimated 300
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patient, double blind, placebo controlled, multi-centered study in which CAP-1002 is administered to patients via
intracoronary infusion within 30 days to one year following a heart attack. Phase II is substantially funded through the
support of a loan award from CIRM for approximately $19.8 million. The trial will measure several endpoints,
including infarct size. Additional endpoints include left ventricular end-systolic and diastolic volume and ejection
fraction at six and twelve months. Our strategy for further development of CAP-1002 will depend to a large degree on
the outcome of these planned studies.

CAP-1001 – In 2011, CSMC, in collaboration with JHU, completed a Phase I, 25 patient clinical trial called
CADUCEUS. In this study, 25 patients were enrolled who had suffered a heart attack within a mean of 65 days. 17 of
those patients received CAP-1001 and the remaining eight received standard of care. 12 months after the study was
completed, no measurable safety effects occurred in the 17 patients who were treated with CAP-1001. 16 of the 17
treated patients showed a mean reduction of approximately 45% in scar mass and an increase in viable heart muscle
one-year post heart attack. The eight patients in the control group had no significant change in infarct (scar) size. At
present, there is no plan for another clinical trial for CAP-1001. Capricor’s strategy for further development of
CAP-1001 will depend to a large degree on the outcome of its trial involving its CAP-1002 product and its ability to
obtain significant capital to conduct further studies to further develop this product.

CSps – This product candidate is multicellular clusters called cardiospheres. This product is in pre-clinical development
and has yet to be studied in humans. At present, there is no plan for a clinical trial of CSps.
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Exosomes – Exosomes are nano-sized, membrane-enclosed vesicles, or “bubbles”, that are filled with select molecules,
including proteins and microRNAs, which, when released, send messages to neighboring cells to regulate cellular
functions. Capricor is currently in pre-clinical testing to explore the possible future therapeutic benefits that exosomes
may possess.

Cenderitide – The Company acquired the rights to cenderitide in 2006, and incurred substantial losses surrounding the
development of the product. Prior to the merger between Capricor and Nile, Nile had incurred approximately $19.9
million in expenses directly relating to the cenderitide development program through September 30, 2013. We are
currently evaluating whether to proceed with further clinical development of this product.

CU-NP – The Company acquired the rights to CU-NP in September 2008. Prior to the merger between Capricor and
Nile, Nile had incurred approximately $0.7 million directly relating to the CU-NP development program through
September 30, 2013.We are currently evaluating whether to proceed with further clinical development of this product.

Our expenditures on current and future clinical development programs, particularly our CAP-1002 and cenderitide
programs, are expected to be substantial and to increase in relation to our available capital resources. However, these
planned expenditures are subject to many uncertainties, including the results of clinical trials and whether we develop
any of our drug candidates with a partner or independently. As a result, we cannot predict with any significant degree
of certainty the amount of time which will be required to complete our clinical trials, the costs of completing research
and development projects or whether, when and to what extent we will generate revenues from the commercialization
and sale of any of our product candidates. The duration and cost of clinical trials may vary significantly over the life
of a project as a result of unanticipated events arising during clinical development and a variety of other factors,
including:

· the number of trials and studies in a clinical program;
· the number of patients who participate in the trials;

· the number of sites included in the trials;
· the rates of patient recruitment and enrollment;
· the duration of patient treatment and follow-up;

· the costs of manufacturing our drug candidates; and
· the costs, requirements and timing of, and the ability to secure, regulatory approvals.

Grant Income.  Grant income for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 was approximately $0 and $0.2
million, respectively. This decrease in grant income in the first quarter of 2014 as compared to 2013 is due to the
timing of activities under certain research and development projects that are covered under grant awards. These
activities are not necessarily consistent from project to project and period to period. Additionally, in the last six
months of 2013, Capricor’s active grants were approaching the ends of their respective project periods.
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Grant income for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 was approximately $0.5 million and $1.9 million,
respectively. This decrease in grant income in 2013 as compared to 2012 is primarily due to the timing of activities
under certain research and development projects that are covered under grant awards. These activities are not
necessarily consistent from project to project and period to period. Additionally, in 2013 Capricor’s primary grants
were approaching the ends of their respective project periods.

Collaboration Income.  As a result of the Collaboration Agreement and Exclusive License Option with Janssen, or the
Janssen Agreement, income for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 was approximately $1.0 million and
$0, respectively. The increase in the three months ended March 31, 2014 over the same period in 2013 is due to the
fact that the Janssen Agreement was entered into with Janssen in late 2013, and a payment of $12.5 million was
received by Capricor pursuant to the terms of the Janssen Agreement during the first quarter of 2014. A ratable
portion of the payment to Capricor was recognized during the three months ended March 31, 2014.

Investment Income (Loss). Investment income (loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 was $153
and $18,889, respectively. This decrease in investment income in the first quarter of 2014 as compared to the same
period in 2013 is due to the timing of interest payments in the marketable securities account, as well as the principal
balance in the marketable securities account being higher in the three month period ending March 31, 2013 as
compared to March 31, 2014.
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Investment income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $(11,890) and $28,785, respectively.
This decrease in investment income over the same period in 2012 is primarily due to realized losses on the marketable
securities account as securities held were sold in 2013 due to additional operational cash needs.

Interest Expense. Interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 was $25,327 and $3,711,
respectively. This increase in interest expense in the first quarter of 2014 as compared to the same period in 2013 is
due to the interest on the CIRM loan award, related to the principal balance being higher in the first quarter of 2014,
as compared to the same period of 2013.

Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $58,134 and $0, respectively. This increase in
interest expense over the same period in 2012 is due to the interest on the CIRM loan award, which was not disbursed
until 2013.

Impairment of Goodwill. Goodwill impairment for each of the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 was $0.
There was impairment as a result of goodwill recorded at the consummation of the merger between Capricor and Nile
of approximately $1.9 million which we deemed fully impaired as of December 31, 2013.

Goodwill impairment for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 was approximately $1.9 million and $0,
respectively. This impairment is a result of goodwill recorded at the consummation of the merger of approximately
$1.9 million which the Company deemed fully impaired as of December 31, 2013.

Liquidity and Capital Resources for the three months ending March 31, 2014 and 2013; and the fiscal years
ending 2013 and 2012

The following table summarizes our liquidity and capital resources as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and
our net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, and is
intended to supplement the more detailed discussion that follows. The amounts stated are expressed in thousands.

Liquidity and capital resources March 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,979 $ 1,730
Working capital $ 7,732 $ 1,628
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ (1,659 ) $ (535 )
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Three months ended March 31,
Cash flow data 2014 2013
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 11,343 $ (1,176 )
Investing activities (94 ) 431
Financing activities 1 857
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 11,250 $ 112

Our total cash resources, not including restricted cash, as of March 31, 2014 were approximately $13.0 million
compared to approximately $1.7 million as of December 31, 2013. Total marketable securities, consisting primarily of
United States treasuries, were approximately $0.3 million as of each of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013. As of
March 31, 2014, we had approximately $17.6 million in total liabilities, of which approximately $11.5 million is
recorded as deferred income under the Janssen Agreement, and approximately $7.7 million in net working capital. We
incurred a net loss of approximately $1.2 million and had positive cash flow from operating activities of
approximately $11.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014. Since July 5, 2005 (inception) through
March 31, 2014, we have incurred an aggregate net loss of approximately $17.3 million. To the extent we obtain
sufficient capital and/or long-term debt funding and are able to continue developing our product candidates, we expect
to continue to incur substantial and increasing losses, which will continue to generate negative net cash flow from
operating activities as we expand our technology portfolio and engage in further research and development activities,
particularly the conducting of pre-clinical studies and clinical trials.
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We had cash flow from operating activities of approximately $11.3 million, $(1.2) million and $(1.8) million for the
three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through March 31,
2014, respectively. The difference of approximately $12.5 million in cash from operating activities for the three
months ended March 31, 2014 as compared to the same period of 2013 is primarily due to our receipt of the $12.5
million payment under the terms of the Janssen Agreement. To the extent we obtain sufficient capital and/or long-term
debt funding and are able to continue developing our product candidates, we expect to continue incurring substantial
and increasing losses, which will continue to generate negative net cash flows from operating activities as we expand
our technology portfolio and engage in further research and development activities, particularly in conducting
pre-clinical studies and clinical trials.

We had cash flow from investing activities of approximately $(0.1) million for the three months ended March 31,
2014, cash flow from investing activities of approximately $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013,
and cash flow from investing activities of approximately $(0.9) million for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception)
through March 31, 2014. The difference in cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31,
2014 as compared to the same period of 2013 is primarily due to the proceeds from sales of marketable securities.

We had positive cash flow from financing activities of approximately $0, $0.9 million and $15.6 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through March 31, 2014,
respectively. The cash flow of approximately $0.9 million in the three months ended March 31, 2013 is a result of
Capricor’s CIRM loan financing, with no such funds received during the three months ended March 31, 2014.

The following table summarizes the Company’s liquidity and capital resources as of and for each of the last two fiscal
years, and is intended to supplement the more detailed discussion that follows. The amounts stated are expressed in
thousands.

Liquidity and capital resources December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,730 $ 170
Working Capital $ 1,628 $ 4,664
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ (535 ) $ 4,894

Years ending December 31,
Cash flow data 2013 2012
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ (6,144 ) $ (2,063 )
Investing activities 3,778 (4,317 )
Financing activities 3,925 5,000
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 1,559 $ (1,380 )
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The Company’s total cash resources as of December 31, 2013 were approximately $1.7 million compared to
approximately $0.2 million as of December 31, 2012. Total marketable securities, consisting primarily of United
States treasuries, were approximately $0.3 million as of December 31, 2013 and approximately $4.2 million as of
December 31, 2012. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had approximately $6.1 million in liabilities, and
approximately $1.6 million in net working capital. The Company incurred a net loss of approximately $8.9 million
and had negative cash flow from operating activities of approximately $6.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2013. Since July 5, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2013, the Company has incurred an aggregate net loss of
approximately $16.1 million, while negative cash flow from operating activities has amounted to approximately $13.1
million. To the extent we obtain sufficient capital and/or long-term debt funding and are able to continue developing
our product candidates, we expect to continue to incur substantial and increasing losses, which will continue to
generate negative net cash flow from operating activities as we expand our technology portfolio and engage in further
research and development activities, particularly the conducting of pre-clinical studies and clinical trials.
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The Company had negative cash flow from operating activities of approximately $6.1 million, $2.1 million and $13.1
million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through
December 31, 2013, respectively. The difference of approximately $4.0 million in cash used in operating activities for
the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the same period of 2012 is primarily due to the fact that Capricor’s
net loss was substantially higher in 2013 as compared to 2012. Capricor was actively involved in clinical activities
relating to the ALLSTAR Phase I/II trial throughout 2013, which increased overall operational losses. To the extent
the Company obtains sufficient capital and/or long-term debt funding and is able to continue developing its product
candidates, it expects to continue incurring substantial and increasing losses, which will continue to generate negative
net cash flows from operating activities as the Company expands its technology portfolio and engages in further
research and development activities, particularly in conducting pre-clinical studies and clinical trials.

The Company had positive cash flow from investing activities of approximately $3.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013, negative cash flow from investing activities of approximately $4.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012, and negative cash flow from investing activities of approximately $0.8 million for the period
from July 5, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2013. The difference in cash used in investing activities for the
year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the same period of 2012 is primarily due to the proceeds and payments
from purchases and sales of marketable securities.

The Company had positive cash flow from financing activities of $3.9 million, $5.0 million and $15.6 million for the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through December 31,
2013, respectively. The cash flow of approximately $3.9 million in 2013 is a result of Capricor’s CIRM loan financing,
and the $5.0 million in 2012 is a result of a portion of the proceeds received from Capricor’s A-3 financing.

Phase II of Capricor’s ALLSTAR trial has been funded in large part through a loan award from CIRM. Following
completion of the Phase II trial would be a Phase IIb and/or Phase III trial. If we continue with a Phase IIb or Phase III
trial, we will need substantial additional capital in order to continue the development of CAP-1002. Pursuant to the
Janssen Agreement, the CMC package will be developed by the joint efforts of Janssen and Capricor. Capricor will be
required to reimburse Janssen for its costs of development up to an agreed-upon maximum amount. If Janssen
exercises its exclusive option, Janssen will be responsible for any additional trials with respect to CAP-1002.

We need substantial additional capital in order to continue the development of cenderitide. We are currently
evaluating whether to proceed with further clinical development of this product.

From inception through March 31, 2014, Capricor has financed its operations through private sales of its equity
securities, NIH grants, a payment from Janssen, and a CIRM loan award. Prior to the merger between Capricor and
Nile, Nile financed its operations through public sales of its equity. As we have not generated any revenue from the
sale of our products to date, and we do not expect to generate revenue for several years, if ever, we will need to raise
substantial additional capital in order to fund our immediate general corporate activities and, thereafter, to fund our
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research and development, including our long-term plans for clinical trials and new product development.  We may
seek to raise additional funds through various potential sources, such as equity and debt financings, or through
strategic collaborations and license agreements.  We can give no assurances that we will be able to secure such
additional sources of funds to support our operations, or if such funds are available to us, that such additional
financing will be sufficient to meet our needs. Moreover, to the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity
securities, our stockholders may experience additional significant dilution, and debt financing, if available, may
involve restrictive covenants. To the extent that we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing
arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights to our technologies or our product candidates, or grant
licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us.

Our estimates regarding the sufficiency of our financial resources are based on assumptions that may prove to be
wrong. We may need to obtain additional funds sooner than planned or in greater amounts than we currently
anticipate. The actual amount of funds we will need to operate is subject to many factors, some of which are beyond
our control. These factors include the following:

· the progress of our research activities;
· the number and scope of our research programs;
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· the progress of our pre-clinical and clinical development activities;

· the progress of the development efforts of parties with whom we have entered into research and development
agreements;

·our ability to maintain current research and development programs and to establish new research and development
and licensing arrangements;

· the cost involved in prosecuting and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights; and
· the cost and timing of regulatory approvals.

Financing Activities by the Company

March 2013 Financing. On March 15, 2013, we entered into a convertible note purchase agreement with certain
accredited investors pursuant to which we agreed to sell an aggregate principal amount of up to $500,000 of secured
convertible promissory notes, or the 2013 Notes, for an aggregate original issue price of $425,000, representing a 15%
original issue discount. The closing of the private placement also occurred on March 15, 2013, and resulted in the sale
of 2013 Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $450,000 for an aggregate original issue price of $382,500.

On September 27, 2013, we and the holders of the 2013 Notes entered into an amendment to the 2013 Notes, which
provided, among other things, that upon a Change of Control (as defined in the 2013 Notes), the conversion price
applicable to the 2013 Notes and the exercise price applicable to the warrants issuable upon a Change of Control will
be equal to the average dollar volume weighted average price, or VWAP, of our common stock for each trading day
during the period from July 8, 2013 to September 30, 2013. The average VWAP during such period was
approximately $0.045 per share. Additionally, pursuant to the amendment, upon a conversion of the 2013 Notes in
connection with a Change of Control, the holders confirmed that all obligations under the 2013 Notes would be
deemed satisfied in full and released us from any claims relating to the 2013 Notes.

On October 21, 2013, we and the holders of the 2013 Notes entered into an amendment to the Convertible Note
Purchase Agreement pursuant to which we sold to such holders additional notes having an aggregate principal amount
of $120,510, or the Additional Notes. The Additional Notes have identical terms and conditions as the 2013 Notes
described above and were allocated among the holders on a pro rata basis based on their initial purchase of the 2013
Notes. In exchange for the issuance of the Additional Notes, we received aggregate gross proceeds of $102,433. The
2013 Notes and the Additional Notes are collectively referred to herein as the 2013 Notes.

The 2013 Notes converted at the close of the merger between Capricor and Nile on November 20, 2013 into 251,044
shares of our common stock on a post-reverse stock split basis. Additionally, 251,044 warrants to purchase our
common stock at a strike price of $2.2725, on a post-reverse stock split basis, were issued to the holders of the 2013
Notes. We have filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 to register for resale the shares of common stock
underlying the 2013 Notes.

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

86



April 2012 Financing. On March 30, 2012, the Company entered into subscription agreements with certain
purchasers pursuant to which we agreed to sell an aggregate of 67,000 shares of our common stock to such purchasers
for a purchase price of $20.00 per share (calculated using the post-reverse stock split factor of 1:50). In addition, for
each share purchased, each purchaser also received three-fourths of a five-year warrant to purchase an additional share
of common stock at an exercise price of $25.00 per share (calculated using the post-reverse stock split factor of 1:50),
resulting in the issuance of warrants to purchase an aggregate of 50,250 shares of our common stock. The total gross
proceeds from the offering were $1.3 million, before deducting anticipated selling commissions and expenses of
approximately $0.2 million. The closing of the offering occurred on April 4, 2012. In connection with the offering, we
engaged Roth Capital Partners, LLC, or Roth, to serve as placement agent. Pursuant to the terms of the placement
agent agreement, we agreed to pay Roth a cash fee equal to seven percent of the gross proceeds received by us, or
approximately $93,800, plus a non-accountable expense allowance of $35,000. Richard B. Brewer, our former
Executive Chairman, Joshua A. Kazam, our former President and Chief Executive Officer and a current director of the
Company, Daron Evans, our former Chief Financial Officer, and Hsiao Lieu, M.D., our former Executive VP of
Clinical Development, participated in the offering on the same terms as the unaffiliated purchasers, and collectively
purchased 5,500 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase 4,125 shares of our common stock for an
aggregate purchase price of $110,000.
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The offer and sale of the shares and warrants were made pursuant to our shelf registration statement on Form S-3
(SEC File No. 333-165167), which became effective on March 12, 2010. Pursuant to the subscription agreements that
we entered into with the purchasers in the April 2012 financing, we agreed to file, within 15 business days after the
closing of the offering, a registration statement covering the issuance of the shares of our common stock upon exercise
of the warrants and the subsequent resale of such shares, or the Additional Registration Statement, and to cause such
registration statement to be declared effective within 90 days following the closing of the offering. In the event the
Additional Registration Statement was not declared effective by the SEC within such 90-day period, we agreed to pay
liquidated damages to each purchaser in the amount of 1% of such purchaser’s aggregate investment amount for each
30-day period until the Additional Registration Statement was declared effective, subject to an aggregate limit of 12%
of such purchaser’s aggregate investment amount. The Additional Registration Statement was filed on April 25, 2012
and was declared effective by the SEC on May 7, 2012.

At the consummation of the merger between Capricor and Nile, warrants to purchase 50,063 shares of our common
stock, which were issued in the April 2012 financing described above, were exchanged for 50,063 shares of our
common stock, and certain April 2012 warrants were cancelled. After the exchange, warrants to purchase 187 shares
of our common stock remain outstanding from the April 2012 issuance, which such warrants provide for a strike price
of $2.2725.

Financing Activities by Capricor, Inc.

CIRM Loan Agreement. On February 5, 2013, Capricor entered into a Loan Agreement with CIRM, or the CIRM
Loan Agreement, pursuant to which CIRM agreed to disburse $19,782,136 to Capricor over a period of approximately
three and one-half years to support Phase II of the ALLSTAR clinical trial.

Under the CIRM Loan Agreement, Capricor is required to repay the CIRM loan with interest at the end of the loan
period. The loan also provides for the payment of a risk premium whereby Capricor is required to pay CIRM a
premium of up to 500% of the loan amount upon the achievement of certain revenue thresholds. The loan has a term
of five years and is extendable annually up to ten years at Capricor’s option if certain conditions are met. The interest
rate for the initial term is set at the one-year LIBOR rate plus 2% (“base rate”), compounded annually, and becomes due
at the end of the fifth year. After the fifth year, if the term of the loan is extended and if certain conditions are met, the
interest rate will increase by 1% over the base rate each sequential year thereafter, with a maximum increase of 5%
over the base rate in the tenth year. CIRM has the right to cease disbursements if a no-go milestone occurs or certain
other conditions are not met. Under the terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement, CIRM deducted $36,667 from the initial
disbursement to cover its costs in conducting financial due diligence on Capricor. CIRM will also deduct $16,667
from each disbursement made in the second and third year of the loan period to cover its costs of continuing due
diligence, according to the payment disbursement schedule which may be amended from time to time. So long as
Capricor is not in default under the terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement, the loan may be forgiven during the term of
the project period if Capricor abandons the trial due to the occurrence of a no-go milestone. After the end of the
project period, the loan may also be forgiven if Capricor elects to abandon the project under certain circumstances.
Under the CIRM Loan Agreement, Capricor is required to meet certain financial milestones by demonstrating to
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CIRM prior to each disbursement of loan proceeds that it has funds available sufficient to cover all costs and expenses
anticipated to be required to continue Phase II of the ALLSTAR trial for at least the following 12-month period, less
the costs budgeted to be covered by planned loan disbursements. Capricor will not issue stock, warrants or other
equity to CIRM in connection with this award.

The timing of the distribution of funds pursuant to the CIRM Loan Agreement shall be contingent upon the
availability of funds in the California Stem Cell Research and Cures Fund in the State Treasury, as determined by
CIRM in its sole discretion.

Convertible Preferred Stock. Prior to the Merger and without giving effect to the applicable multiplier, Capricor was
authorized to issue 5,426,844 shares of convertible preferred stock, which was allocated as follows: Series A-1:
940,000 shares, all of which were issued; Series A-2: 736,844 shares, all of which were issued; and Series A-3:
3,750,000 shares, of which 1,500,000 shares were issued. During 2011 and 2012, the 1,500,000 shares of Series A-3
convertible preferred stock, par value of $0.001 per share, were issued by Capricor for cash proceeds of $6,000,000.
Immediately prior to the effective time of the merger between Capricor and Nile, all shares of Capricor preferred stock
were converted into shares of Capricor common stock pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement. The shares of
Capricor preferred stock that were converted into Capricor common stock as a result of the merger between Capricor
and Nile and in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement, were exchanged according to the applicable
multiplier for 6,591,494 shares of our common stock.

Grant and Sub-grant Awards. In 2010, Capricor was awarded $2,993,268 in a federal grant from the NIH to support
the project entitled “Safety and Efficacy of Allogeneic Cardiosphere-derived Stem Cells After MI”. The award was
issued under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009. The award is subject to certain quarterly and
annual reporting requirements as well as a final progress report. The award was used to fund a portion of the Phase I
clinical trial for the CAP-1002 product, as well as various development activities associated with CAP-1002, and
includes, among other permitted costs, certain allowable expenses such as personnel, supplies and certain patient
costs. In the second quarter of 2013, the project period of the grant was extended until September 30, 2013 through an
approved no-cost extension. As of December 31, 2013, the full amount of the award had been disbursed to Capricor.
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In 2009, Capricor was awarded $124,791 in a federal grant through the NIH Small Business Innovation Research, or
SBIR, program for the project entitled, “Characterization and Potency of Optimized Cardiosphere-derived Stem Cell
Method” (Phase I). The grant award is subject to quarterly and annual reporting requirements as stipulated in the Notice
of Award, and is subject to certain terms and conditions. The award was complete as of December 31, 2013.

In 2011, Capricor was awarded an additional $397,217 (Phase II) in connection with the SBIR award from the NIH. In
2012, Capricor was awarded a third year under the award and was approved for an additional $425,410 (Phase III). In
the third quarter of 2013, the project period of the grant was extended until August 30, 2013 through an approved
no-cost extension. The award was complete as of December 31, 2013.

On August 21, 2013, Capricor was approved for a Phase IIB Bridge grant through the NIH SBIR program for
continued development of its CAP-1002 product candidate. Under the terms of the grant, approximately $2,879,437
will be disbursed over three years subject to annual and quarterly reporting requirements. As of March 31, 2014, no
funds had been disbursed under the terms of this award. Capricor is currently in discussions with the NIH with respect
to the possible use of the funds for other clinical purposes. If approved, it is possible that Capricor will deploy this
grant to fund the Phase I portion of the DYNAMIC trial, the investigational new drug which was submitted by Dr.
Eduardo Marbán of CSMC. The Phase I portion of the DYNAMIC trial would be to use CAP-1002 to treat patients
with advanced heart failure and a recent hospitalization for such. Capricor’s decision to become involved in the
DYNAMIC trial will depend on multiple factors, including, but not limited to: approval by the NHLBI to utilize the
grant monies to fund the DYNAMIC trial, the ability of Capricor to reach an agreement with CSMC regarding the
clinical operations aspect of the trial, and the assessment by Capricor of the appropriateness of DYNAMIC with
respect to our pipeline development plan.

Off -Balance Sheet Arrangements

There were no off-balance sheet arrangements as of March 31, 2014.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of
these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing
basis, including research and development and clinical trial accruals, and stock-based compensation estimates. Our
estimates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Our actual results could differ from these estimates. We believe the following critical accounting
policies reflect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements and
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accompanying notes.

Grant Income

The determination as to when income is earned is dependent on the language in each specific grant. Generally, we
recognize grant income in the period in which the expense is incurred for those expenses that are deemed reimbursable
under the terms of the grant.

Income from Collaborative Agreement

Revenue from nonrefundable, up-front license or technology access payments under license and collaborative
arrangements that are not dependent on any future performance by us is recognized when such amounts are earned. If
we have continuing obligations to perform under the arrangement, such fees are recognized over the estimated period
of continuing performance obligation.
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We account for multiple element arrangements, such as license and development agreements in which a customer may
purchase several deliverables, in accordance with FASB ASC Subtopic 605-25, “Multiple Element Arrangements”. For
new or materially amended multiple element arrangements, we identify the deliverables at the inception of the
arrangement and each deliverable within a multiple deliverable revenue arrangement is accounted for as a separate
unit of accounting if both of the following criteria are met: (1) the delivered item or items have value to the customer
on a standalone basis and (2) for an arrangement that includes a general right of return relative to the delivered
item(s), delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered probable and substantially in our control. We
allocate revenue to each non-contingent element based on the relative selling price of each element. When applying
the relative selling price method, we determine the selling price for each deliverable using vendor-specific objective
evidence (“VSOE”) of selling price, if it exists, or third-party evidence (“TPE”) of selling price, if it exists. If neither
VSOE nor TPE of selling price exist for a deliverable, we use the best estimated selling price for that deliverable.
Revenue allocated to each element is then recognized based on when the basic four revenue recognition criteria are
met for each element.

We determined the deliverables under our collaborative arrangement with Janssen did not meet the criteria to be
considered separate accounting units for the purposes of revenue recognition. As a result, we recognized revenue from
non-refundable, upfront fees ratably over the term of our performance under the agreement. The upfront payments
received, pending recognition as revenue, are recorded as deferred revenue and are classified as a short-term or
long-term liability on the consolidated balance sheets and amortized over the estimated period of performance. We
periodically review the estimated performance period of our contract based on the progress of our project.

Research and Development Expenses and Accruals

Research and development, or R&D, expenses consist primarily of salaries and related personnel costs, clinical patient
costs, consulting fees, costs of manufacturing personnel and supplies, costs of service providers for pre-clinical,
clinical and certain legal expenses resulting from intellectual property prosecution, stock compensation expense and
other expenses relating to the design, development, testing and enhancement of our product candidates. Except for
certain capitalized patent expenses, R&D costs are expensed as incurred.

Our cost accruals for clinical trials and other R&D activities are based on estimates of the services received and efforts
expended pursuant to contracts with numerous clinical trial centers and Contract Research Organizations, or CROs,
clinical study sites, laboratories, consultants or other clinical trial vendors that perform activities in connection with a
trial. Related contracts vary significantly in length and may be for a fixed amount, a variable amount based on actual
costs incurred, capped at a certain limit, or for a combination of fixed, variable and capped amounts. Activity levels
are monitored through close communication with the CROs and other clinical trial vendors, including detailed invoice
and task completion review, analysis of expenses against budgeted amounts, analysis of work performed against
approved contract budgets and payment schedules, and recognition of any changes in scope of the services to be
performed. Certain CRO and significant clinical trial vendors provide an estimate of costs incurred but not invoiced at
the end of each quarter for each individual trial. These estimates are reviewed and discussed with the CRO or vendor
as necessary, and are included in R&D expenses for the related period. For clinical study sites which are paid
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periodically on a per-subject basis to the institutions performing the clinical study, we accrue an estimated amount
based on subject screening and enrollment in each quarter. All estimates may differ significantly from the actual
amount subsequently invoiced, which may occur several months after the related services were performed.

In the normal course of business, we contract with third parties to perform various R&D activities in the on-going
development of our product candidates. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from
contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. Payments under the contracts depend on factors such as
the achievement of certain events, the successful enrollment of patients, and the completion of portions of the clinical
trial or similar conditions. The objective of the accrual policy is to match the recording of expenses in the financial
statements to the actual services received and efforts expended. As such, expense accruals related to clinical trials and
other R&D activities are recognized based on our estimates of the degree of completion of the event or events
specified in the applicable contract.

No adjustments for material changes in estimates have been recognized in any period presented.

Stock-Based Compensation

Our results include non-cash compensation expense as a result of the issuance of stock, stock options and warrants, as
applicable. We have issued stock options to employees, directors and consultants under our four stock option plans: (i)
the Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Option Plan, (ii) the 2006 Stock Option Plan, (iii) the 2012 Restated Equity
Incentive Plan (which superseded the 2006 Stock Option Plan), and (iv) the 2012 Non-Employee Director Stock
Option Plan.
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We expense the fair value of stock-based compensation over the vesting period. When more precise pricing data is
unavailable, we determine the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. This
valuation model requires us to make assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the calculation. These
variables and assumptions include the weighted-average period of time that the options granted are expected to be
outstanding, the volatility of our common stock, the risk-free interest rate and the estimated rate of forfeitures of
unvested stock options.

Stock options or other equity instruments to non-employees (including consultants) issued as consideration for goods
or services received by us are accounted for based on the fair value of the equity instruments issued (unless the fair
value of the consideration received can be more reliably measured). The fair value of stock options is determined
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is periodically re-measured as the underlying options vest. The fair
value of any options issued to non-employees is recorded as expense over the applicable service periods.

The terms and vesting schedules for share-based awards vary by type of grant and the employment status of the
grantee. Generally, the awards vest based upon time-based or performance-based conditions. Performance-based
conditions generally include the attainment of goals related to our financial and development performance.
Stock-based compensation expense is included in the general and administrative expense or the research and
development expense, as applicable, in the Statements of Operations. We expect to record additional non-cash
compensation expense in the future, which may be significant.

Warrant Liability

The Company previously accounted for the warrants issued in connection with the April 2012 financing and the
embedded derivative warrant liability contained in the 2013 Notes in accordance with the guidance on Accounting for
Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, which provides that we classify the
warrant instrument as a liability at its fair value and adjust the instrument to fair value at each reporting period. This
liability is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is
recognized as a component of other income or expense. In connection with the merger between Capricor and Nile,
50,063 warrants issued in the April 2012 financing were eliminated and 50,063 shares of Company common stock
were issued in exchange for cancellation of the warrants to purchase 50,063 shares of Company common stock.
Furthermore, the 2013 Notes converted into shares of Company common stock and additional warrants for Company
common stock were issued to the holders. Management has determined the value of the warrant liability to be
insignificant at March 31, 2014, and no such liability has been reflected on the condensed consolidated balance sheet.

Long-Term Debt
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Capricor accounts for the loan proceeds under its CIRM Loan Agreement as long-term liabilities. Capricor recognizes
the CIRM loan disbursements as a loan payable as the principal is disbursed rather than recognizing the full amount of
the award. Capricor recognizes the disbursements in this manner since the period in which the loan will be paid back
will not be in the foreseeable future. The terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement contain certain forgiveness provisions
that may allow for the principal and interest of the loan to be forgiven. The potential for forgiveness of the loan is
contingent upon many conditions, some of which are outside of Capricor’s control, and no such estimates are made to
determine a value for this potential for forgiveness.

Restricted Cash

Capricor accounts for the disbursements received under the CIRM Loan Agreement which have not been attributed to
a particular project’s costs through the current period as restricted cash.

Recently Issued or Newly Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2013-02, Reporting of Amounts Reclassified
Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, (“ASU 2013-02”). ASU 2013-02 amends ASC 220, Comprehensive
Income (“ASC 220”), and requires entities to present the changes in the components of accumulated other
comprehensive income for the current period. Entities are required to present separately the amount of the change that
is due to reclassifications, and the amount that is due to current period other comprehensive income. These changes
are permitted to be shown either before or net-of-tax and can be displayed either on the face of the financial statements
or in the footnotes. ASU 2013-02 was effective for our interim and annual periods beginning January 1, 2013. The
adoption of ASU 2013-02 did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

52

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

95



In March 2013, the FASB issued new guidance related to the release of cumulative translation adjustment related to an
entity’s investment in a foreign entity. The guidance clarifies that the guidance in Subtopic 830-30, Foreign Currency
Matters - Translation of Financial Statements, applies to the release of cumulative translation adjustment into net
income when a reporting entity either sells a part or all of its investment in a foreign entity or ceases to have a
controlling financial interest in a subsidiary or group of assets that constitute a business within a foreign entity. This
guidance is effective for the Company prospectively for reporting periods beginning October 1, 2014. The adoption of
this guidance is not expected to have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.

In April 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-07, Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205): Liquidation Basis of
Accounting. ASU 2013-07 clarifies when an entity should apply the liquidation basis of accounting. ASU 2013-07
also provides principles for the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities and requirements for financial
statements prepared using the liquidation basis of accounting. ASU 2013-07 is effective for fiscal years and interim
periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2013. We do not expect amendments in ASU 2013-07 to
impact our condensed consolidated financial statements, results of operations or liquidity.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax
Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists, which
eliminates diversity in practice for the presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss
carryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward is available to reduce the taxable income or tax payable
that would result from disallowance of a tax position. ASU 2013-11 affects only the presentation of such amounts in
an entity’s balance sheet and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2013 and interim periods within
those years. The adoption of ASU 2013-11 did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or
results of operations.
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Sensitivity

The Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to its marketable securities and
cash and cash equivalents. As of March 31, 2014, the fair value of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, including
restricted cash, and its marketable securities was approximately $13.9 million. Additionally, as of March 31, 2014,
Capricor’s portfolio consisted of marketable securities, including primarily United States treasuries and bank savings
and checking accounts. Capricor did not have any investments with significant exposure to the subprime mortgage
market issues.

The goal of the Company’s investment policy is to place its investments with highly rated credit issuers and limit the
amount of credit exposure. We seek to improve the safety and likelihood of preservation of our invested funds by
limiting default risk and market risk. Our investments may be exposed to market risk due to fluctuation in interest
rates, which may affect our interest income and the fair market value of our investments, if any. We will manage this
exposure by performing ongoing evaluations of our investments. Due to the short-term maturities, if any, of our
investments to date, their carrying value has always approximated their fair value. The Company’s policy is to mitigate
default risk by investing in high credit quality securities, and we currently do not hedge interest rate exposure. Due to
our policy of only making investments in United States treasury securities with primarily short-term maturities, we
believe that the fair value of our investment portfolio would not be significantly impacted by a hypothetical 100 basis
point increase or decrease in interest rates.

54

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

97



Business

Overview of the Company

Capricor Therapeutics, Inc. is a development stage, biopharmaceutical company whose mission is to develop and
commercialize regenerative medicine and large molecule products for the treatment of disease. We were originally
incorporated in Delaware in August 2005 under the name Nile Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and we changed our name to Nile
Therapeutics, Inc., or Nile Therapeutics, in January 2007. On September 17, 2007, we were acquired by SMI
Products, Inc., or SMI, which was then a public shell company, in a reverse merger transaction whereby a
wholly-owned subsidiary of SMI merged with and into Nile Therapeutics, with Nile Therapeutics remaining as the
surviving corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of SMI in accordance with the terms of this transaction, the
stockholders of Nile Therapeutics exchanged all of their shares of Nile Therapeutics common stock for shares of SMI
common stock, which immediately following the transaction represented approximately 95 percent of the issued and
outstanding common stock of SMI. Upon completion of the merger, the sole officer and director of SMI resigned and
was replaced by the officers and directors of Nile Therapeutics. Additionally, following the merger, Nile Therapeutics,
or Old Nile, was merged into SMI, and SMI changed its name to Nile Therapeutics, Inc., or Nile, and adopted the
business plan of Old Nile. On November 20, 2013, pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger and
Reorganization, dated as of July 7, 2013, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of
Merger and Reorganization, dated as of September 27, 2013 (as amended, the Merger Agreement), by and among
Nile, Nile’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Bovet Merger Corp., a Delaware corporation, or Merger Sub, and Capricor, Inc.,
or Capricor, a Delaware corporation, Merger Sub merged with and into Capricor and Capricor became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Nile (referred to herein as the Merger). Immediately prior to the effective time of the
Merger and in connection therewith, Nile filed certain amendments to its certificate of incorporation which, among
other things, (i) effected a 1-for-50 reverse split of its common stock (the Reverse Stock Split), (ii) changed its
corporate name from “Nile Therapeutics, Inc.” to “Capricor Therapeutics, Inc.,” and (iii) effected a reduction in the total
number of authorized shares of common stock from 100,000,000 to 50,000,000, and a reduction in the total number of
authorized shares of preferred stock from 10,000,000 to 5,000,000.

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Capricor, Inc., or Capricor, was founded in 2005 as a Delaware corporation based on
the innovative work of its founder, Eduardo Marbán, M.D., Ph.D. First located in Baltimore, Maryland, adjacent to
The Johns Hopkins University, or JHU, where Dr. Marbán was chief of cardiology, Capricor moved to Los Angeles,
California in 2007 when Dr. Marbán was recruited to become Director of the Heart Institute at Cedars-Sinai Medical
Center, or CSMC. Capricor’s labs are located in space that Capricor leases from CSMC.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to develop and commercialize regenerative medicine and large molecule products for the treatment of
disease, with an initial focus on the treatment of heart disease and its complications. Capricor has historically
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approached the treatment of heart disease through the discovery and development of regenerative medicine products,
while Nile Therapeutics has focused on the discovery and development of natriuretic peptides. Recently, we added
exosomes to our list of product candidates to expand our focus by exploring additional new therapies and indications.
These programs represent our core technology and products.

The initial discovery by Dr. Marbán and his colleagues was that a novel progenitor cell type called a CDC, or
cardiosphere derived cell, can be isolated from heart tissue after passing through a cardiosphere phase and expanded
into doses that can be delivered directly to the patient. These cells come from the heart and are potentially well-suited
to treat the heart. Capricor believes that CDCs have anti-fibrotic, anti-apoptotic and angiogenic-functions that may
reduce damage caused by myocardial ischemia and encourage blood vessel development in those areas of injury. This
combination of properties may be able to treat other disease processes that cause the development of scar tissue.
Capricor is evaluating the possibilities of applying these cells or similar cells into other therapeutic areas. Capricor has
exclusively licensed intellectual property for CDCs and Capricor’s other product candidate, cardiospheres, or CSps,
from three academic institutions and also maintains its own intellectual property relating to these product candidates.

Capricor’s proprietary methods center on producing therapeutic doses of cardiac-derived stem cells to boost the
regenerative capacity of the heart and, with that, to perhaps improve cardiac function. A significant number of patients
who suffer a heart attack eventually go on to develop heart failure. Heart attacks are one of the most common causes
of heart failure. In patients with heart failure, the main pumping function of the heart is often diminished and results in
symptoms and signs of poor cardiac function including shortness of breath, pulmonary congestion, diminished ability
to perform activities of daily life (ADL) and, in some cases, death.
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When a patient suffers a heart attack, also called a myocardial infarction (MI), blood cannot reach the area due to an
artery being blocked, preventing blood from reaching the distal tissue. The tissue that is downstream of the blockage
quickly dies. The dead tissue is now a scar, and the bigger the size of the scar, the greater the chance that a patient will
have additional complications. CDCs have been shown in pre-clinical and clinical studies to reduce scar size
following myocardial infarction. Further, it has been demonstrated that new tissue is generated in response to cell
delivery. Capricor researchers believe that the reduced scar and new tissue may improve heart function so that it will
work more efficiently. Should Capricor’s CDCs prove to be effective at reducing the damage done to the heart by a
heart attack, it is possible that fewer people may develop heart failure and suffer its devastating consequences.

The first trial using CDCs was CADUCEUS, sponsored by CSMC in collaboration with JHU. CADUCEUS was a
twenty-five patient randomized open-label study using 25 million autologous CDCs (i.e. CDCs derived from the
patient’s own heart tissue) injected down the coronary artery thirty to ninety days after MI. Seventeen patients received
CDCs and eight received standard of care for post heart attack patients. Sixteen of the seventeen patients treated with
CDCs showed a reduction in infarct (scar) size and generation of new heart tissue. To the best of Capricor’s
knowledge, CADUCEUS is the first trial in the field of cardiac stem cell therapy that showed a significant reduction
in scar size and new heart muscle as determined by blinded MRI analysis.

The precise mechanism of action of CDCs is not definitively understood. Capricor believes that CDCs work by
harnessing and augmenting the natural healing powers that exist within the heart and that the cells act by recruiting the
endogenous pool of stem cells to come to the site of injury and assist in repairing the damage that has been done.
These natural healing effects may be enough for daily wear and tear on the heart but may not be strong enough for
catastrophic injury like a heart attack. Capricor believes that the CDCs track to the area of injury and release growth
factors and cytokines (molecules that stimulate specific cell responses) that signal the heart to repair itself. The
CADUCEUS trial provides preliminary validation to the potential regenerative properties of CDCs.

Capricor’s core technology is based in cardiospheres, or CSps, which are multi-cell clusters of cardiac derived cells
that have been demonstrated to process regenerative properties in pre-clinical studies. The size of CSps is sufficiently
large that injecting them directly into the infarct related artery is not feasible due to potential for impairment of blood
flow. Capricor’s lead product candidate, the CDC, is the single cell monolayer product of the CSps. CDCs are small
enough that within acceptable dose limits, they can be injected down a coronary artery without damaging the heart
muscle. Capricor has done studies to establish the range of doses that are safe to deliver to the heart. Capricor is not
now actively developing CSps for clinical use although it has experimented with direct intra-myocardial injection.
CSps appear to be no more effective than CDCs for the presently considered indications. It is possible that at some
time in the future, the Company may evaluate the use of CSps for other indications.

Both CSps and CDCs are derived from either a deceased human donor (allogeneic source) or from heart tissue taken
directly from recipient patients themselves (autologous source). The manufacturing method for both allogeneic and
autologous CSps or CDCs is similar though the starting material comes from different sources. Capricor has data to
demonstrate that CSps and CDCs can be readily grown from heart tissue of humans.
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Capricor’s exosome technology is based upon pre-clinical research by Dr. Eduardo Marbán and his colleagues at
CSMC. As recently published research indicates, exosomes extracted from Capricor’s CDCs prompted myocardial
regeneration in pre-clinical models of ischemic heart disease. Further, exosomes were shown to induce various
structural and functional changes within the heart. We believe that these findings demonstrate for the first time that
exosomes derived from CDCs may possess regenerative capabilities and may serve as proof of principle for the
potential of these CDC-derived agents. We are hopeful that the unique properties of CDC-derived exosomes may
allow us to develop novel cell-free therapeutics and expand our product portfolio. Though it is early in the
development cycle, Capricor plans to explore the development of the exosome technology as a next generation
regenerative medicine portfolio in a variety of cardiovascular and non-cardiovascular areas.

Cenderitide is a novel chimeric natriuretic peptide being considered for the treatment of heart failure patients.
Specifically, cenderitide is a dual receptor agonist acting on both the A and B receptors. Cenderitide was rationally
designed by scientists at the Mayo Clinic’s cardio-renal research labs. Current therapies for acutely decompensated
heart failure, or ADHF, including nesiritide, have been associated with favorable pharmacologic effects, but have also
been associated with hypotension, which limit their utility outside the hospital setting. Cenderitide was designed to
preserve the favorable effects of existing natriuretic peptide therapies while reducing or attenuating the hypotensive
response and enhancing or preserving renal function. We believe that there may be a role for the use of cenderitide in
the outpatient treatment of heart failure.  We are currently evaluating whether we will proceed with further clinical
development of this product.
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Our Product Candidates

We currently have six drug candidates in various stages of development:

·

CAP-1002:  Capricor’s lead product candidate consists of allogeneic cardiosphere-derived cells, or CDCs. CAP-1002
is currently being tested in Capricor’s ALLSTAR Phase I/II clinical trial which will determine if the cells can lead to
reduction in scar size in patients who have had a heart attack. It is a dual cohort clinical trial that has two
independently recruiting strata:  the first are patients who have recently experienced a myocardial infarction, or MI
(30-90 days post MI); the second are patients who have suffered an MI within one year (90 days to one-year post MI)
to see if the cells can reduce the size of older, more established scar. In addition to measuring scar size, ALLSTAR
will also look at a variety of clinical and quality of life endpoints. Phase I of the ALLSTAR trial was a 14 patient trial
conducted at three sites to determine if allogeneic CDCs are safe for patients. Phase I of the trial was funded in large
part by a grant received from the National Institutes of Health, or NIH.  The primary endpoints focused on acute
effects of cell delivery and potential immune consequences of allogeneic cell delivery. Patient enrollment was
completed for the Phase I portion of the trial on October 11, 2013. On December 15, 2013, Capricor received
notification from the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute, or the NHLBI, Gene and Cell Therapy Data Safety
Monitoring Board that the 14-patient Phase I portion had met its safety endpoints and that Capricor was cleared to
begin the Phase II portion of the trial. Capricor began enrollment of the Phase II portion of the ALLSTAR study in
the first quarter of 2014.  Phase II is an estimated 300 patient, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial
which is powered to detect a reduction in infarct (scar) size as measured by MRI in both groups of patients, those
with recent and chronic MI, at the one year follow-up.  As infarct size was reduced significantly in the CADUCEUS
patients at six months, Capricor intends to get a preliminary readout of ALLSTAR at six months post infusion. Phase
II of ALLSTAR is being funded in large part through the support of the California Institute for Regenerative
Medicine, or CIRM. Recently, Capricor entered into a Collaboration Agreement and Exclusive License Option with
Janssen Biotech, Inc., or Janssen. Under the agreement, Janssen has an exclusive option to enter into an exclusive
license agreement with Capricor, pursuant to which, if exercised, Janssen would receive a worldwide, exclusive
license to exploit CAP-1002 as well as certain allogeneic cardiospheres and cardiosphere-derived cells in the field of
cardiology.

Additionally, Capricor has been awarded a grant from the NIH to support further development of the CAP-1002
product. Dr. Eduardo Marbán of CSMC, and Capricor’s founder, has received approval on an investigational new drug,
or IND, for a trial named “DYNAMIC” (dilated cardiomyopathy intervention with allogeneic myocardially-regenerative
cells). Presently, Capricor is in discussions with the NIH with respect to the possible use of the funds subject to the
grant for other clinical purposes. If approved, it is possible that Capricor will deploy this grant to fund the Phase I
portion of the DYNAMIC trial. The Phase I portion of the DYNAMIC trial would use CAP-1002 to treat patients with
advanced heart failure and a recent hospitalization for such. Capricor’s decision to become involved in the DYNAMIC
trial will depend on multiple factors, including, but not limited to: approval by the NHLBI to utilize the grant monies
to fund the DYNAMIC trial, the ability of Capricor to reach an agreement with CSMC regarding the clinical
operations aspect of the trial, and the assessment by Capricor of the appropriateness of DYNAMIC with respect to our
pipeline development plan.
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·

CAP-1001: CAP-1001 consists of autologous CDCs. This product was used in the Phase I CADUCEUS clinical trial,
which was sponsored and conducted by CSMC in collaboration with JHU. In that study, 25 patients were enrolled, of
which 17 patients received autologous CDCs. 16 of the 17 treated patients showed a mean reduction of
approximately 45% in scar mass and an increase in viable heart muscle one-year post heart attack. The eight patients
in the control group had no significant change in infarct (scar) size. At present there is no plan for another clinical
trial for CAP-1001. The data from CADUCEUS, using autologous CDCs, suggests that the cells are effective in
reducing scar within several months of a heart attack. The ALLSTAR trial is designed to validate the results of
CADUCEUS using an allogeneic product while also looking for potential efficacy in patients between 90 days and
one year post MI with a more chronic scar, a patient population that CADUCEUS was not designed to study.
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·
CSps: CSps are multicellular clusters called cardiospheres, a 3D micro-tissue from which CDCs are derived, and
have shown significant healing effects in pre-clinical models of heart failure. While Capricor considers the CSps an
important product, at present there is no plan for a clinical trial for CSps.

·

Exosomes: Exosomes are nano-sized, membrane-enclosed vesicles, or “bubbles”, that are filled with select molecules,
including proteins and microRNAs, which, when released, send messages to neighboring cells to regulate cellular
functions. Exosomes act as a transport vehicle out of the cell for microRNA, other fragments of genetic material and
proteins that act as messengers between cells, ultimately providing regulatory function for many cell processes,
including inflammation, angiogenesis, programmed cell death (apoptosis) and scarring. Research has shown that
exogenous exosomes can be used as therapeutic agents aimed to direct or, in some cases, re-direct cellular activities.
Their size, ease of crossing cell membranes, and ability to communicate in native cellular language makes them a
class of exciting and novel therapeutic agents. Capricor is currently in pre-clinical testing to explore the possible
future therapeutic benefits that exosomes may possess.

·

Cenderitide (CD-NP): Cenderitide is a chimeric natriuretic peptide that is being considered for the treatment of heart
failure. To date, we have explored the use of cenderitide in acute heart failure admissions as well as in the setting of
patients in the vulnerable post-hospitalization phase. Any further development of cenderitide is subject to our ability
to either raise additional capital or enter into a strategic transaction in which a strategic partner provides the capital
necessary to continue development activities. We are currently evaluating whether we will proceed with further
clinical development of this product.

·

CU-NP: CU-NP is a pre-clinical rationally-designed natriuretic peptide that consists of amino acid chains identical to
those produced by the human body, specifically the ring structure of C-type natriuretic peptide, or CNP, and the N-
and C-termini of Urodilatin, or URO. Any further development of CU-NP is subject to our ability to either raise
additional capital or enter into a strategic transaction in which a strategic partner provides the capital necessary to
continue development activities. We are currently evaluating whether we will proceed with further clinical
development of this product.

The following table summarizes our product development programs:

Product Indications Commercial
Rights Ongoing Studies / Status

CAP-1002 Cardiovascular Capricor
ALLSTAR Phase II is currently open for enrollment. This
study is an estimated 300 patient, double blind, placebo
controlled, multi-center trial.

CAP-1001 Cardiovascular Capricor

CSMC and JHU sponsored Phase I CADUCEUS trial has
been completed. Funded by the NHLBI Specialized Centers
for Cell-based Therapy.

CSps Cardiovascular             Capricor Preclinical.
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Exosomes 

Cardiovascular and
non-cardiovascular Capricor Preclinical.

Cenderitide Cardiovascular Capricor
Therapeutics

Completed single -blind, placebo-controlled Phase I study
of cenderitide in chronic heart failure patients in October
2011. Continued development and future clinical trials are
being evaluated.

CU-NP Cardiovascular Capricor
Therapeutics

Preclinical. Continued development and future clinical trials
are being evaluated.

58

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

105



Intellectual Property and Proprietary Technology

Our goal is to obtain, maintain and enforce patent protection for our products, formulations, processes, methods and
other proprietary technologies, preserve our trade secrets, and operate without infringing on the proprietary rights of
other parties, both in the United States and abroad. Our policy is to actively seek to obtain, where appropriate, the
broadest intellectual property protection possible for our current product candidates and any future product candidates,
proprietary information and proprietary technology through a combination of contractual arrangements and patents,
both in the United States and abroad. Even patent protection, however, may not always afford us with complete
protection against competitors who seek to circumvent our patents. If we fail to adequately protect or enforce our
intellectual property rights or secure rights to patents of others, the value of our intellectual property rights would
diminish. To this end, we require all of our employees, consultants, advisors and other contractors to enter into
confidentiality agreements that prohibit the disclosure and use of confidential information and, where applicable,
require disclosure and assignment to us of the ideas, developments, discoveries and inventions important to our
business.

The development of complex biotechnology products such as ours typically includes the early discovery of a
technology platform – often in an academic institution – followed by increasingly focused development around a product
opportunity, including identification and definition of a specific product candidate and development of scalable
manufacturing processes, formulation, delivery and dosage regimens. As a result, biotechnology products are often
protected by several families of patent filings that are made at different times of the development cycle and cover
different aspects of the product. Earlier filed broad patent applications directed to the discovery of the platform
technology thus usually expire ahead of patents covering later developments such as scalable manufacturing processes
and dosing regimens. Patent expirations on products may therefore span several years and vary from country to
country based on the scope of available coverage. There are also limited opportunities to obtain extensions of patent
coverage in certain countries.

Capricor’s Technology - CAP-1002, CAP-1001, CSps and Exosomes

Capricor has entered into exclusive license agreements for intellectual property rights related to cardiac derived cells
with Università Degli Studi Di Roma at la Sapienza (the “University of Rome”), The Johns Hopkins University (“JHU”)
and CSMC. Capricor has also entered into an exclusive license agreement with CSMC relating to exosomes. In
addition, Capricor has filed patent applications related to enhancements or validation of the technology developed by
its own scientists.

University of Rome License Agreement
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Capricor and the University of Rome entered into a License Agreement, dated June 21, 2006 (the “Rome License
Agreement”), which provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by the University of
Rome to Capricor (with the right to sublicense) to develop and commercialize licensed products under the licensed
patent rights in all fields. With respect to any new or future patent applications assigned to the University of Rome
utilizing cardiac stem cells in cardiac care, Capricor has a first right of negotiation for a certain period of time to
obtain a license thereto.

Pursuant to the Rome License Agreement, Capricor paid the University of Rome a license issue fee, is currently
paying minimum annual royalties in the amount of 20,000 Euros per year, and is obligated to pay a lower-end of a
mid-range double-digit percentage on all royalties received as a result of sublicenses granted, which are net of any
royalties paid to third parties under a license agreement from such third party to Capricor. The minimum annual
royalties are creditable against future royalty payments.

The Rome License Agreement will, unless extended or sooner terminated, remain in effect until the later of the last
claim of any patent or until any patent application comprising licensed patent rights has expired or been abandoned.
Under the terms of the Rome License Agreement, either party may terminate the agreement should the other party
become insolvent or file a petition in bankruptcy. Either party shall have up to 90 days to cure its material breach.

The foregoing description of the Rome License Agreement is a summary of its material terms, does not purport to be
complete, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Rome License Agreement, which, subject to any
confidential treatment requested, is filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2013, as filed with the SEC on March 31, 2014.
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The Johns Hopkins University License Agreement

Capricor and JHU entered into an Exclusive License Agreement, effective June 22, 2006 (the “JHU License
Agreement”), which provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by JHU to Capricor
(with the right to sublicense) to develop and commercialize licensed products and licensed services under the licensed
patent rights in all fields and a nonexclusive right to the know-how. In May 2009, the JHU License Agreement was
amended to add additional patent rights to the JHU License Agreement in consideration of a payment to JHU and
reimbursement of patent costs. Capricor and JHU executed a Second Amendment to the JHU License Agreement,
effective as of December 20, 2013, pursuant to which, among other things, certain definitions were added or amended,
the timing of certain obligations was revised and other obligations of the parties were clarified.

Pursuant to the JHU License Agreement, JHU was paid an initial license fee and, thereafter, Capricor is required to
pay minimum annual royalties on the anniversary dates of the JHU License Agreement. The minimum annual
royalties range from $5,000 on the first and second anniversary dates to $20,000 on the tenth anniversary date and
thereafter. The minimum annual royalties are creditable against a low single-digit running royalty on net sales of
products and net service revenues which Capricor is also required to pay under the JHU License Agreement, which
running royalty may be subject to further reduction in the event that Capricor is required to pay royalties on any patent
rights to third parties in order to make or sell a licensed product. In addition, Capricor is required to pay a low
double-digit percentage of the consideration received by it from sublicenses granted, and is required to pay JHU
certain defined development milestone payments upon the successful completion of certain phases of its clinical
studies and upon receiving approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”). The development
milestones range from $100,000 upon successful completion of a full Phase I clinical study to $1,000,000 upon full
FDA market approval and are fully creditable against payments owed by Capricor to JHU on account of sublicense
consideration attributable to milestone payments received from a sublicensee. The maximum aggregate amount of
milestone payments payable under the JHU License Agreement, as amended, is $1,850,000. As of March 31, 2014,
$100,000 is currently accrued due the Phase I enrollment being completed.

The JHU License Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, continue in effect in each applicable country until the
date of expiration of the last to expire patent within the patent rights, or, if no patents are issued, then for twenty years
from the effective date. Under the terms of the JHU License Agreement, either party may terminate the agreement
should the other party become insolvent or file a petition in bankruptcy, or fail to cure a material breach within 30
days after notice. In addition, Capricor may terminate for any reason upon 60 days’ written notice.

The foregoing description of the JHU License Agreement, as amended, is a summary of its material terms, does not
purport to be complete, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the JHU License Agreement, and the
amendments thereto, all of which, subject to any confidential treatment requested, are filed as an exhibit to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2013, as filed with the SEC on March 31, 2014.
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Cedars-Sinai Medical Center License Agreements

On January 4, 2010, Capricor entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with CSMC (the “CSMC License
Agreement”), for certain intellectual property rights. In 2013, the CSMC License Agreement was amended twice
resulting in, among other things, a reduction in the percentage of sublicense fees which would have been payable to
CSMC. Effective December 30, 2013, Capricor entered into an Amended and Restated Exclusive License Agreement
with CSMC (the “Amended CSMC License Agreement”) pursuant to which, among other things, certain definitions
were added or amended, the timing of certain obligations was revised and other obligations of the parties were
clarified.

The Amended CSMC License Agreement provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license
by CSMC to Capricor (with the right to sublicense) to conduct research using the patent rights and know-how and
develop and commercialize products in the field using the patent rights and know-how. In addition, Capricor has the
exclusive right to negotiate for an exclusive license to any future rights arising from related work conducted by or
under the direction of Dr. Eduardo Marbán on behalf of CSMC. In the event the parties fail to agree upon the terms of
an exclusive license, Capricor shall have a non-exclusive license to such future rights, subject to royalty obligations.

Pursuant to the CSMC License Agreement, CSMC was paid a license fee and Capricor was obligated to reimburse
CSMC for certain fees and costs incurred in connection with the prosecution of certain patent rights. Additionally,
Capricor was required to meet certain spending and development milestones. The annual spending requirements range
from $350,000 to $800,000 each year between 2010 and 2017 (with the exception of 2014, for which there is no
annual spending requirement). Pursuant to the Amended CSMC License Agreement, Capricor remains obligated to
pay low single-digit royalties on sales of royalty-bearing products as well as a low double-digit percentage of the
consideration received from any sublicenses or other grant of rights. The above-mentioned royalties are subject to
reduction in the event Capricor becomes obliged to obtain a license from a third party for patent rights in connection
with the royalty-bearing product. In 2010, Capricor discontinued its research under some of the patents.
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The Amended CSMC License Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, continue in effect on a country by country
basis until the last to expire of the patents covering the patent rights or future patent rights. Under the terms of the
Amended CSMC License Agreement, unless waived by CSMC, the agreement shall automatically terminate: (i) if
Capricor ceases, dissolves or winds up its business operations; (ii) in the event of the insolvency or bankruptcy of
Capricor or if Capricor makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; (iii) if performance by either party
jeopardizes the licensure, accreditation or tax exempt status of CSMC or the agreement is deemed illegal by a
governmental body; (iv) within 30 days for non-payment of royalties; (v) within 90 days if Capricor fails to undertake
commercially reasonable efforts to exploit the patent rights or future patent rights; (vi) if a material breach has not
been cured within 90 days; or (vii) if Capricor challenges any of the CSMC patent rights. Capricor may terminate the
agreement if CSMC fails to cure any material breach within 90 days after notice.

The foregoing description of the Amended CSMC License Agreement is a summary of its material terms, does not
purport to be complete, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Amended CSMC License Agreement which,
subject to any confidential treatment requested, is filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2013, as filed with the SEC on March 31, 2014.

On May 5, 2014, Capricor entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with CSMC (the “Exosomes License
Agreement”), for certain intellectual property rights related to exosomes technology. The Exosomes License
Agreement provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by CSMC to Capricor (with the
right to sublicense) in order to conduct research using the patent rights and know-how and to develop and
commercialize products in the field using the patent rights and know-how. In addition, Capricor has the exclusive
right to negotiate for an exclusive license to any future rights arising from related work conducted by or under the
direction of Dr. Eduardo Marbán on behalf of CSMC. In the event the parties fail to agree upon the terms of an
exclusive license, Capricor shall have a non-exclusive license to such future rights, subject to royalty obligations.

Pursuant to the Exosomes License Agreement, CSMC was paid a license fee and Capricor reimbursed CSMC for
certain fees and costs incurred in connection with the prosecution of certain patent rights. Additionally, Capricor is
required to meet certain non-monetary development milestones and is obligated to pay low single-digit royalties on
sales of royalty-bearing products as well as a single-digit percentage of the consideration received from any
sublicenses or other grant of rights. The above-mentioned royalties are subject to reduction in the event Capricor
becomes obliged to obtain a license from a third party for patent rights in connection with the royalty bearing product.

The Exosomes License Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, continue in effect on a country by country basis
until the last to expire of the patents covering the patent rights or future patent rights. Under the terms of the
Exosomes License Agreement, unless waived by CSMC, the agreement shall automatically terminate: (i) if Capricor
ceases, dissolves or winds up its business operations; (ii) in the event of the insolvency or bankruptcy of Capricor or if
Capricor makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; (iii) if performance by either party jeopardizes the
licensure, accreditation or tax exempt status of CSMC or the agreement is deemed illegal by a governmental body;
(iv) within 30 days for non-payment of royalties; (v) within 90 days if Capricor fails to undertake commercially
reasonable efforts to exploit the patent rights or future patent rights; (vi) if a material breach has not been cured within
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90 days; or (vii) if Capricor challenges any of the CSMC patent rights. Capricor may terminate the agreement if
CSMC fails to cure any material breach within 90 days after notice.

The foregoing description of the Exosomes License Agreement is a summary of its material terms, does not purport to
be complete, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Exosomes License Agreement which, subject to any
confidential treatment requested, is filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a
part.

As noted above and below, Capricor Therapeutics is party to lease agreements with CSMC, which holds more than
10% of the outstanding capital stock of Capricor Therapeutics. Additionally, Dr. Eduardo Marbán, who holds more
than 10% of the outstanding capital stock of Capricor Therapeutics, is the Director of the Cedars-Sinai Heart Institute
and the Co-founder and Scientific Advisory Board Chairman of Capricor.

61

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

111



Collaboration Agreement with Janssen Biotech, Inc.

On December 27, 2013, Capricor entered into a Collaboration Agreement and Exclusive License Option (the “Janssen
Agreement”) with Janssen, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson. Under the terms of the Janssen
Agreement, Capricor and Janssen agreed to collaborate on the development of Capricor’s cell therapy program for
cardiovascular applications, including its lead product, CAP-1002. Capricor and Janssen further agreed to collaborate
on the development of cell manufacturing in preparation for future clinical trials. Under the Janssen Agreement,
Capricor was paid $12.5 million, and Capricor will contribute to the development of a chemistry, manufacturing and
controls (“CMC”) package. In addition, Janssen has the exclusive right to enter into an exclusive license agreement
pursuant to which Janssen would receive a worldwide, exclusive license to exploit CAP-1002 as well as certain
allogeneic cardiospheres and cardiosphere-derived cells in the field of cardiology. Janssen has the right to exercise the
option at any time until 60 days after the delivery by Capricor of the six-month follow-up results from Phase II of
Capricor’s ALLSTAR clinical trial for CAP-1002. If Janssen exercises its option rights, Capricor would receive an
upfront license fee and additional milestone payments which may total up to $325 million. In addition, a royalty
ranging from a low double-digit percentage to a lower-end of a mid-range double-digit percentage would be paid on
sales of licensed products.

The foregoing description of the Collaboration Agreement and Exclusive License Option is a summary of its material
terms, does not purport to be complete, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Collaboration Agreement and
Exclusive License Option, which, subject to any confidential treatment requested, is filed as an exhibit to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2013, as filed with the SEC on March 31, 2014.

Company’s Technology – Cenderitide and CU-NP

The Company has entered into an exclusive license agreement for intellectual property rights related to natriuretic
peptides with the Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research and a Clinical Trial Funding Agreement with
Medtronic, Inc., which also includes certain intellectual property licensing provisions.

Mayo License Agreement

The Company and the Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research (“Mayo”) previously entered into a
Technology License Agreement with respect to cenderitide on January 20, 2006, which was filed as Exhibit 10.6 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on
September 21, 2007, and which was amended on June 2, 2008 (as so amended, the “CD-NP Agreement”). On June 13,
2008, the Company and Mayo entered into a Technology License Agreement with respect to CU-NP (the “CU-NP
Agreement”, which was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on
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August 14, 2008. On November 14, 2013, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated License Agreement
with Mayo (the “Amended Mayo Agreement”). The Amended Mayo Agreement amends and restates in its entirety each
of the CD-NP Agreement and the CU-NP Agreement, and creates a single amended and restated license agreement
between the Company and Mayo with respect to CD-NP and CU-NP.

The Amended Mayo Agreement provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by Mayo
to the Company (with the right to sublicense) under the Mayo patents, patent applications and improvements, and a
nonexclusive right under the know-how, for the development and commercialization of CD-NP and CU-NP in all
therapeutic indications. With respect to any future patents and any improvements related to cenderitide and CU-NP
owned by or assigned to Mayo, the Company has the exclusive right of first negotiation for the exclusive or
non-exclusive rights (at the Company’s option) thereto. Such exclusive right of negotiation shall be effective as of June
1, 2016, or such earlier date when the Company has satisfied certain payment obligations to Mayo.

Under each of the previous CD-NP Agreement and CU-NP Agreement, the Company paid Mayo up-front cash
payments and the Company agreed to make certain performance-based cash payments to Mayo upon successful
completion of certain milestones. Additionally, the Company issued certain amounts of common stock of the
Company to Mayo under each agreement. The Amended Mayo Agreement restructured the economic arrangements of
the CD-NP Agreement and CU-NP Agreement by, among other things, eliminating certain milestone payments and
decreasing the royalty percentages payable upon the commercial sale of the products to low single-digit royalties on
sales of CD-NP and CU-NP products. The Company is also obligated to pay to Mayo a low single-digit percentage on
any upfront consideration or milestone payment received in connection with a sublicense. The Company is further
obligated to pay to Mayo a low single-digit percentage on any consideration received in connection with an
assignment of rights under the Amended Mayo Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the Amended Mayo Agreement,
the Company agreed to pay to Mayo an annual license maintenance fee and to issue to Mayo an additional 18,000
shares of the Company’s common stock as additional consideration for the grant of certain rights. Mayo also agreed to
waive or defer the payment of certain fees owed to Mayo. All breaches and defaults by the Company under the terms
of the CD-NP Agreement and CU-NP Agreement were waived by Mayo in the Amended Mayo Agreement.

62

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

113



The Amended Mayo Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, expire on the later of (i) the expiration of the last to
expire valid claim contained in the Mayo patents, or (ii) the 20th anniversary of the Amended Mayo Agreement.
Under the terms of the Amended Mayo Agreement, Mayo may terminate the agreement earlier (i) for the Company’s
material breach of the agreement that remains uncured after 90 days’ written notice to the Company, (ii) for the
Company’s insolvency or bankruptcy, (iii) if the Company challenges the validity or enforceability of any of the patent
rights in any manner, or (iv) if the Company has not initiated either the next clinical trial of cenderitide within two
years of the effective date of the Amended Mayo Agreement or a clinical trial of CU-NP within two and one-half
years of the effective date. The Company may terminate the Amended Mayo Agreement without cause upon 90 days’
written notice.

The foregoing description of the Amended Mayo Agreement is a summary of its material terms, does not purport to be
complete, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Amended Mayo Agreement, which, subject to any
confidential treatment requested, is filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2013, as filed with the SEC on March 31, 2014.

Medtronic Clinical Trial Funding Agreement

In February 2011, the Company entered into a Clinical Trial Funding Agreement with Medtronic, Inc. (“Medtronic”).
Pursuant to the agreement, Medtronic provided funding and equipment necessary for the Company to conduct a Phase
I clinical trial to assess the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of cenderitide when delivered to heart failure
patients through continuous subcutaneous infusion using Medtronic’s pump technology.

The agreement provided that intellectual property conceived in or otherwise resulting from the performance of the
Phase I clinical trial will be jointly owned by the Company and Medtronic (the “Joint Intellectual Property”), and that
the Company is to pay royalties to Medtronic based on the net sales of a product covered by the Joint Intellectual
Property.  The agreement further provided that, if the parties fail to enter into a definitive commercial license
agreement with respect to cenderitide, each party will have a right of first negotiation to license exclusive rights to any
Joint Intellectual Property.

Pursuant to its terms, the agreement expired in February 2012, following the completion of the Phase I clinical trial
and the delivery of data and reports related to such study. Nile received the final reimbursement of $195,500 in
February 2012 and a total of $1,550,000 over the life of the agreement. Although the Medtronic agreement expired,
there are certain provisions that survive the expiration of the agreement, including the obligation to pay royalties on
products that might be covered by the Joint Intellectual Property. Neither party has exercised its right to negotiate for
exclusive rights to the Joint Intellectual Property.
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Manufacturing

Capricor presently maintains its laboratory and research facilities in leased premises located at CSMC. Additionally,
Capricor presently manufactures its cells in an accredited Good Manufacturing Practices, or GMP, facility which is
owned by and located within CSMC. It is Capricor’s intention is to manufacture cells at this facility for its Phase II
trial of CAP-1002. If the lab lease is terminated or if CSMC revokes its permission to allow Capricor to utilize the
GMP facility, Capricor would have to secure alternative facilities in which to operate its research and development
activities and/or manufacture its products, which would involve a significant monetary investment and would
negatively impact the progress of Capricor’s clinical trials and regulatory approvals. In addition, Capricor would have
to build out its own manufacturing facility for any Phase III trial or establish a collaboration agreement with a third
party.

CAP-1001:

The manufacturing process begins with a biopsy of cardiac tissue from the patient taken during a simple outpatient
procedure. This tissue is taken to the lab where the cells are isolated, expanded, and processed through a series of
proprietary unit operations. After release testing and quality review of the manufacturing data, this drug product is
then administered into the same patient. The time frame for autologous manufacturing is 6-8 weeks post-biopsy until
the product can be administered to the patient.
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CAP-1002:

The process for manufacturing CAP-1002 differs very little from the CAP-1001 process, except that it can be
executed at a significantly larger scale. This is because the starting material is from an entire heart taken from a donor,
and collected from an organ procurement organization (OPO), rather than a small biopsy taken from the patient. After
expanding, processing, release testing and quality review, the CAP-1002 product becomes available for administration
to patients. CAP-1002 is cryo-preserved, enabling us to produce large lots that can be frozen and then administered to
patients as needed. We believe that the allogeneic nature of CAP- 1002 enables us to create a commercially scalable
stem cell product.

Exosomes:

The exosomes technology is currently in pre-clinical testing, and we are evaluating the most effective way in which to
manufacture the product candidate.

Cenderitide and CU-NP:

We do not currently manufacture cenderitide or CU-NP in-house, nor do we have the capacity to do so. Accordingly,
we will need to establish relationships with third-party manufacturers and other service providers to perform these
services for us.

Research and Development

Capricor’s research and development program has been funded in large part through Federal grants totaling
approximately $7.0 million. In addition, Capricor has been granted a loan award in the approximate amount of $19.8
million from the California Institute for Regenerative Medicine, or CIRM, to fund Phase II of the ALLSTAR trial.
The Company’s research and development efforts to date have led to the development of three product candidates
which have reached various stages of clinical development, autologous CDCs, allogeneic CDCs and cenderitide.
Ongoing research focuses on in-depth product characterization, expanded use of current products, development of
next generation products and identification of new technologies. Capricor aims to create a pipeline of regenerative
medicine products potentially capable of improving the healing capacity of injured tissue. Capricor’s research
continues to explore the growth factors and cytokines that have been shown to reduce both infarct (scar) size and
promote regeneration of heart muscle or other tissues injured by ischemia. Capricor spent approximately $5.2 million
and $2.6 million on research and development activities for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012,
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respectively. Additionally we spent approximately $1.4 million on research and development activities for the three
month period ending March 31, 2014.

Competition

We are engaged in fields that are characterized by extensive worldwide research and competition by pharmaceutical
companies, medical device companies, specialized biotechnology companies, hospitals, physicians and academic
institutions, both in the United States and abroad. The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitive, with a number of
established, large pharmaceutical companies, as well as many smaller companies. Many of the organizations
competing with us have substantially greater financial resources, larger research and development staffs and facilities,
longer drug development history in obtaining regulatory approvals, and greater manufacturing and marketing
capabilities than we do. There are many pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies, public and private
universities, government agencies, and research organizations actively engaged in research and development of
products which may target the same indications as our product candidates. We expect any future products and product
candidates we develop to compete on the basis of, among other things, product efficacy and safety, time to market,
price, extent of adverse side effects, and convenience of treatment procedures. The biotechnology and pharmaceutical
industries are subject to rapid and significant technological change. The drugs that we are attempting to develop will
have to compete with existing therapies. Our future success will depend in part on our ability to maintain a
competitive position with respect to evolving cell therapies as well as other novel technologies. There can be no
assurance that existing or future therapies developed by others will not render our potential products obsolete or
noncompetitive. In addition, companies pursuing different but related fields represent substantial competition. These
organizations also compete with us to attract qualified personnel and parties for acquisitions, joint ventures, or other
collaborations.
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Government Regulation

The research, development, testing, manufacture, labeling, promotion, advertising, distribution and marketing, among
other things, of our product candidates are extensively regulated by governmental authorities in the United States and
other countries. In the United States, the Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, regulates drugs under the Federal
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or the FDCA, and its implementing regulations. Failure to comply with the applicable
United States requirements may subject us to administrative or judicial sanctions, such as FDA refusal to approve a
pending new drug application, or NDA, or a pending biologics license application, or BLA, warning letters, product
recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions and/or criminal
prosecution.

Drug Approval Process

A drug or drug candidate may not be marketed or sold in the United States until it has received FDA approval. The
process to receiving such approval is long, expensive and risky, and includes the following steps:

· pre-clinical laboratory tests, animal studies, and formulation studies;

·submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinical testing, which must become effective before human clinical
trials may begin;

·adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the drug for each indication;
· submission to the FDA of an NDA or BLA;

·satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities at which the drug is produced
to assess compliance with current good manufacturing practices, or cGMPs; and

· FDA review and approval of the NDA or BLA.

Regulation by United States and foreign governmental authorities is a significant factor affecting our ability to
commercialize any of our products, as well as the timing of such commercialization and our ongoing research and
development activities. The commercialization of drug products requires regulatory approval by governmental
agencies prior to commercialization. Various laws and regulations govern or influence the research and development,
non-clinical and clinical testing, manufacturing, processing, packing, validation, safety, labeling, storage, record
keeping, registration, listing, distribution, advertising, sale, marketing and post-marketing commitments of our
products. The lengthy process of seeking these approvals, and the subsequent compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, require expending substantial resources.

Pharmaceutical products such as ours may not be commercially marketed without prior approval from the FDA and
comparable regulatory agencies in other countries. In the United States, the process for obtaining FDA approval
typically includes pre-clinical studies, the filing of an IND, human clinical trials and filing and approval of either an
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NDA, for chemical pharmaceutical products, or a BLA for biological pharmaceutical products. The results of
pre-clinical testing, which include laboratory evaluation of product chemistry and formulation, animal studies to
assess the potential safety and efficacy of the product and its formulations, details concerning the drug manufacturing
process and its controls, and a proposed clinical trial protocol and other information must be submitted to the FDA as
part of an IND that must be reviewed and become effective before clinical testing can begin. The study protocol and
informed consent information for patients in clinical trials must also be submitted to an independent Institutional
Review Board, or IRB, for approval covering each institution at which the clinical trial will be conducted. Once a
sponsor submits an IND, the sponsor must wait 30 calendar days before initiating any clinical trials. If the FDA has
comments or questions within this 30-day period, the issue(s) must be resolved to the satisfaction of the FDA before
clinical trials can begin. In addition, the FDA, an IRB or Capricor may impose a clinical hold on ongoing clinical
trials due to safety concerns. If the FDA imposes a clinical hold, clinical trials can only proceed under terms
authorized by the FDA. Our non-clinical and clinical studies must conform to the FDA’s Good Laboratory Practice, or
GLP, and Good Clinical Practice, or GCP, requirements, respectively, which are designed to ensure the quality and
integrity of submitted data and protect the rights and well-being of study patients. Information for certain clinical trials
also must be publicly disclosed within certain time limits on the clinical trial registry and results databank maintained
by the NIH.

Typically, clinical testing involves a three-phase process; however, the phases may overlap or be combined:

·Phase I clinical trials typically are conducted in a small number of volunteers or patients to assess the early
tolerability and safety profile, and the pattern of drug absorption, distribution and metabolism;
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·Phase II clinical trials typically are conducted in a limited patient population with a specific disease in order to assess
appropriate dosages and dose regimens, expand evidence of the safety profile and evaluate preliminary efficacy; and

·
Phase III clinical trials typically are larger scale, multicenter, well-controlled trials conducted on patients with a
specific disease to generate enough data to statistically evaluate the efficacy and safety of the product, to establish the
overall benefit-risk relationship of the drug and to provide adequate information for the registration of the drug.

The results of the pre-clinical and clinical testing, chemistry, manufacturing and control information proposed labeling
and other information are then submitted to the FDA in the form of either an NDA or BLA for review and potential
approval to begin commercial sales. In responding to an NDA or BLA, the FDA may grant marketing approval,
request additional information in a Complete Response Letter, or CRL, or deny the approval if it determines that the
NDA or BLA does not provide an adequate basis for approval. A CRL generally contains a statement of specific
conditions that must be met in order to secure final approval of an NDA or BLA and may require additional testing. If
and when those conditions have been met to the FDA’s satisfaction, the FDA will typically issue an approval letter,
which authorizes commercial marketing of the product with specific prescribing information for specific indications,
and sometimes with specified post-marketing commitments and/or distribution and use restrictions imposed under a
REMS program. Any approval required from the FDA might not be obtained on a timely basis, if at all.

Among the conditions for an NDA or BLA approval is the requirement that the manufacturing operations conform on
an ongoing basis with current cGMP. In complying with cGMP, we must expend time, money and effort in the areas
of training, production and quality control within our own organization and at our contract manufacturing facilities. A
successful inspection of the manufacturing facility by the FDA is usually a prerequisite for final approval of a
pharmaceutical product. Following approval of the NDA or BLA, we and our manufacturers will remain subject to
periodic inspections by the FDA to assess compliance with cGMP requirements and the conditions of approval. We
will also face similar inspections coordinated by foreign regulatory authorities.

Post -Approval Requirements

Often times, even after a drug has been approved by the FDA for sale, the FDA may require that certain post-approval
requirements be satisfied, including the conduct of additional clinical studies. If such post-approval requirements are
not satisfied, the FDA may withdraw its approval of the drug. In addition, holders of an approved NDA or BLA are
required to report certain adverse reactions to the FDA, comply with certain requirements concerning advertising and
promotional labeling for their products, and continue to have quality control and manufacturing procedures conform
to current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, after approval. The FDA periodically inspects the sponsor’s
records related to safety reporting and/or manufacturing facilities; this latter effort includes assessment of compliance
with cGMP. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money, and effort in the area of production
and quality control to maintain cGMP compliance.
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Capricor presently manufactures its cells in an accredited GMP facility which is owned by and located within CSMC.
Capricor’s intention is to manufacture cells at this facility for its Phase II trial. If CSMC were to revoke its permission
to allow Capricor to utilize the GMP facility, Capricor would have to secure alternative facilities in which to operate
its research and development activities and/or manufacture its products which would involve a significant monetary
investment and would negatively impact the progress of Capricor’s clinical trials and regulatory approvals. In addition,
Capricor would have to build out its own manufacturing facility for the Phase III trial or establish a collaboration
agreement with a third party.

If we proceed with the development of cenderitide or CU-NP, we intend to use third-party manufacturers to produce
our products in clinical and commercial quantities, and future FDA inspections may identify compliance issues at the
facilities of our contract manufacturers that may disrupt production or distribution, or require substantial resources to
correct. In addition, discovery of problems with a product after approval may result in restrictions on a product,
manufacturer, or holder of an approved NDA or BLA, including withdrawal of the product from the market.
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Corporate Information

Our corporate headquarters are located at 8840 Wilshire Blvd., 2nd Floor, Beverly Hills, California 90211. Our
telephone number is (310) 358-3200 and our internet address is www.capricor.com. The information on, or accessible
through, our website is not part of this prospectus.

Employees

Currently, we have 21 full-time employees and one part-time employee, although several of our full-time employees
also perform part-time services for CSMC, including our Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Linda Marbán, who provides
services on a part-time basis to CSMC. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We
believe that our relations with our employees are satisfactory. We have also retained several consultants to serve in
various operational and administrative positions.

All former employees of Nile were terminated upon consummation of the merger between Nile and Capricor. The
employees of Capricor, which is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, are continuing their employment
relationship with Capricor. Certain officers of Capricor are also serving as officers of the Company.

Description of Property

We do not own any real property. Our principal offices are located at 8840 Wilshire Blvd., 2nd Floor, Beverly Hills,
California 90211. Under the terms of a two-year lease which expires on June 30, 2015, the base rent for the first
12-month period is $16,620 per month, and the base rent for the second 12-month period will be $17,285.

Capricor currently leases two research laboratories from CSMC under the terms of a three-year lease which expires on
June 1, 2017. The rent expense for the first six-month period is approximately $15,461 per month.  Commencing with
the seventh month of the lease term, the rent expense will increase to approximately $19,350 per month. The amount
of rent expense is subject to annual adjustments according to increases in the Consumer Price Index.

With permission from CSMC, Capricor presently manufactures its cells in an accredited GMP facility which is owned
by and located within CSMC. Our laboratory and manufacturing facility are located at 8700 Beverly Blvd. Los
Angeles, CA 90048. As our operations expand, we expect our space requirements and related expenses to increase.
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Legal Proceedings

We are not involved in any material pending legal proceedings and are not aware of any material threatened legal
proceedings against us.
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DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors and Executive Officers

The following table lists our executive officers and directors and their respective ages and positions as of the date of
this report:

Name Age Positions Held
Linda Marbán, Ph.D. 50 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Anthony Bergmann, M.B.A. 28 Principal Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance
Karen G. Krasney, J.D. 61 Executive Vice President and General Counsel
Andrew Hamer, M.D. 52 Vice President of Medical Affairs
Rachel Smith, Ph.D. 35 Vice President of Research and Development
Frank Litvack, M.D. 58 Executive Chairman and Director
Joshua Kazam 37 Director
Gregory W. Schafer 49 Director
Earl M. (Duke) Collier, Jr. 65 Director
David B. Musket 55 Director
Louis Manzo 75 Director
Louis J. Grasmick 89 Director
George W. Dunbar, Jr. 66 Director

Linda Marbán, Ph.D. Dr. Marbán is currently serving as our Chief Executive Officer. Co-founder of Capricor, Dr.
Marbán has been with Capricor since 2005 and became its Chief Executive Officer in 2010. She combines her
background in research with her business experience to lead Capricor and create a path to commercialization for its
novel stem-cell cardiac therapies. Dr. Marbán was the lead negotiator in procuring the license agreements that are the
foundation of Capricor’s intellectual property portfolio. Under her direction as Chief Executive Officer, Capricor
secured approximately $27.0 million in non-dilutive grants and a loan award which funds Capricor’s R&D programs
and clinical trials involving its CAP-1002 product. Dr. Marbán’s deep knowledge of the cardiac space in particular
allows her to provide unique direction for the company’s development and growth. From 2003 to 2009, Dr. Marbán
was with Excigen, Inc., a biotechnology start-up company, where she was responsible for business development,
operations, pre-clinical research, and supervising the development of gene therapy products in a joint development
agreement with Genzyme Corp. While at Excigen, she also negotiated a joint development and sublicense agreement
with Medtronic Corp. utilizing Excigen’s technology and supervised the building of a lab in which the work was to be
performed. Dr. Marbán began her career in academic science, first at the Cleveland Clinic Foundation working on the
biophysical properties of cardiac muscle. That work continued when she moved to a postdoctoral fellowship at Johns
Hopkins University, or JHU. While at JHU, she advanced to the rank of Research Assistant Professor in the
Department of Pediatrics, continuing her work on the mechanism of contractile dysfunction in heart failure. Her
tenure at JHU ran from 2000 to 2003. Dr. Marbán earned a Ph.D. from Case Western Reserve University in cardiac
physiology.
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Anthony Bergmann, M.B.A. Mr. Bergmann currently serves as our Vice President of Finance. Mr. Bergmann
previously worked at the business management firm, Gettleson, Witzer and O’Connor, in Beverly Hills, California
beginning in 2008, where he focused on accounting and finance for several production studios generating motion
picture releases and worldwide revenue exceeding $1 billion. The firm’s clients included foundations, trusts, and
independent actors, writers, producers and directors across the entertainment industry. While at the firm, he focused
on budgeting, tax forecasting and asset management. Mr. Bergmann joined Capricor in 2011 and has served as the
Director of Finance since 2012. In 2013, he began serving as Vice President of Finance of Capricor. He also serves as
Capricor’s corporate treasurer. Mr. Bergmann was instrumental in facilitating the company’s Series A-3 $6.0 million
Preferred Stock offering and helped structure the company’s successful $19.8 million budget proposal to the California
Institute for Regenerative Medicine for the company’s Phase II clinical trial. Mr. Bergmann is responsible for all
aspects of the Company’s finance, accounting, and HR functions. Mr. Bergmann graduated from Providence College
with a BS in Management, and a minor in Finance. He has an MBA from the University of Southern California’s
Marshall School of Business. He is actively involved in various venture capital and entrepreneurial associations
throughout the Los Angeles area.

Karen G. Krasney, J.D. Ms. Krasney is currently serving as our Executive Vice President, Secretary and General
Counsel. Ms. Krasney’s career spans over 35 years serving as General Counsel for numerous corporations and private
companies engaged in a wide variety of industries. Her extensive background and vast experience has been focused on
domestic and international corporate and business law, as well as litigation. Ms. Krasney has been involved in the
medical technology arena since the mid 1990’s, representing several medical technology companies developing
products for the treatment of cardiovascular disease. Commencing in 2002, Ms. Krasney served as legal counsel of
Biosensors International Group Ltd., a multinational medical device company that develops, manufactures and sells
medical devices for cardiology applications. In 2006, she accepted the position of General Counsel and Executive
Vice President of Biosensors and served in that capacity until 2010. During her tenure at Biosensors, among other
things, Ms. Krasney headed the legal team that facilitated the company’s successful initial public offering in Singapore
and was responsible for negotiating and documenting all agreements for the company worldwide, including licensing
agreements with major medical device companies and agreements required for the company’s international clinical
trials. Ms. Krasney has been providing legal services to Capricor since 2011 and in 2012 joined Capricor as its
Executive Vice President and General Counsel. Ms. Krasney also serves as a director on the Board of Cardiovascular
Research Foundation, a non-profit research and education entity. Ms. Krasney received her Bachelor of Arts degree
from the University of California, Los Angeles and her Juris Doctorate from the University of Southern California.
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Andrew Hamer, M.D. Dr. Hamer is currently serving as our Vice President of Medical Affairs. He completed internal
medicine and cardiology training at Green Lane Hospital in Auckland, New Zealand, having completed his degree in
medicine from Otago University. Dr. Hamer also completed a Senior Cardiology Fellowship at the Deaconess
Hospital and at Harvard Medical School in Boston. He served as Chairman of the New Zealand branch of the Cardiac
Society of Australia and New Zealand from 2008 to 2009. In 2008, Dr. Hamer also co-chaired the Cardiac Surgery
Services Development Working Group (CSSDG). In 2009, Dr. Hamer was selected by the Minister of Health to lead
the development of the National Cardiac Surgery Clinical Network to oversee the implementation of the CSSDG
recommendations, leading to substantial improvements in cardiac surgery delivery in New Zealand. In 2011, Dr.
Hamer was asked to lead the expansion of the network to incorporate all of the cardiac services, forming the New
Zealand Cardiac Clinical Network. In this role he led the implementation of national strategies to improve the equity
and access to cardiac services and the establishment of national registries for acute coronary syndrome, percutaneous
coronary intervention and cardiac surgery to enable continuous quality improvement from a local to national level. Dr.
Hamer joined Capricor in November 2013 as the Vice President of Medical Affairs. Throughout this time, Dr. Hamer
has been a cardiologist and internal medicine specialist at Nelson Hospital, where he has been a principal investigator
for over 40 multi-center clinical trials in acute coronary syndrome, cholesterol, hypertension, heart failure, diabetes
and atrial fibrillation management.

Rachel Smith, Ph.D. Dr. Smith is currently serving as our Vice President of Research and Development. Dr. Smith
joined Capricor in 2008 and is a co-inventor of the CardiosphereTM technology that forms the core of Capricor’s
product portfolio. She also published the seminal proof-of-concept paper demonstrating the clinical utility of the
Cardiosphere-derived stem cells in models of heart disease. Her research expertise encompasses the areas of stem cell
biology, cardiac physiology, electrophysiology, as well as cell and tissue engineering. In 2012, Dr. Smith was
appointed Vice President of Research and Development of Capricor and is responsible for developing the company’s
clinical trial protocols and managing its regulatory and research partner relationships. Dr. Smith obtained her Ph.D. in
Biomedical Engineering from Johns Hopkins University under the advisement of Dr. Eduardo Marbán and with the
support of a Whitaker Foundation Graduate Fellowship and a National Science Foundation Graduate Fellowship. She
received her undergraduate degree in Biomedical Engineering, Magna Cum Laude, from Tulane University.

Frank Litvack, M.D., FACC. Dr. Litvack is currently serving as our Executive Chairman and as a member of our
Compensation Committee. Dr. Litvack is a native of Canada. He completed medical school and residency at McGill
University in Montreal and a Cardiovascular Fellowship at Cedars Sinai Medical Center in Los Angeles, where he
subsequently became co-director of the Cardiovascular Intervention Center and Professor of Medicine at UCLA.
There he led a prominent clinical and research program known for its excellence in innovation, care and leadership in
Translational Medicine. Dr. Litvack was Board certified in Internal Medicine, Cardiovascular Diseases and
Interventional Cardiology. He has published more than one hundred research articles and chapters and is the recipient
of several awards, including an American Heart Association Young Investigator Award, the Leon Goldman Medical
Excellence Award for contributions to the field of biomedical optics and the United States Space Technology and
Space Foundation Hall of Fame for pioneering work with the excimer laser. Dr. Litvack left full time practice and
academics in 2000 to concentrate on entrepreneurial activities. Dr. Litvack has founded and operated several
healthcare ventures, both as chairman and/or chief executive officer, including Progressive Angioplasty Systems Inc.,
a medical device company that was acquired by United States Surgical Corp. in 1998; Savacor, Inc., a medical device
company that was acquired by St. Jude Medical in 2005; Conor Medsystems, Inc., a publicly traded medical device
company that was acquired by Johnson & Johnson for $1.4 billion in 2007; and Entourage Medical Technologies Inc.,
a medical device company currently in development. He presently sits on the boards of several early stage healthcare
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companies and was a former director of publicly traded Nile Therapeutics, Inc. from 2009-2012. Dr. Litvack joined
the Capricor Board as Executive Chairman in 2012. Dr. Litvack is currently a General Partner in Pura Vida
Investment, LLC, a healthcare hedge fund and is serving as a Director on the Board of Cardiovascular Research
Foundation, a non-profit research and education entity.

Joshua A. Kazam. Mr. Kazam served as Nile’s non-employee President and Chief Executive Officer from June 2009
through August 2012, and has served as a director of the Company since inception in August 2005. In September
2004, Mr. Kazam co-founded Two River Group Holdings, LLC (“Two River”), and currently serves as Vice President
and Director of Two River’s managing member, Two River Group Management, LLC. Mr. Kazam also serves as an
officer of the managing member of Two River Consulting, LLC, an organization that provides management,
consulting and operational services for development stage biotechnology companies. Mr. Kazam also serves as an
Officer and Director of Riverbank Capital Securities, Inc. From 1999 to 2004, Mr. Kazam was a Managing Director of
Paramount BioCapital, Inc. where he was responsible for ongoing operations of venture investments, and as the
Director of Investment for the Orion Biomedical Fund, LP. Mr. Kazam also co-founded and served as a director of
Arno Therapeutics, Inc., a publicly-held, New Jersey-based biopharmaceutical company focused on the treatment of
cancer patients, from its inception in August 2005 until September 2010. Mr. Kazam currently serves as a director of
Kirax Corporation (formerly Tigris Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) and Kite Pharma, Inc., both privately-held biotechnology
companies, and Velcera, Inc., a privately-held specialty pharmaceutical company. Mr. Kazam is a graduate of the
Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania.

Gregory W. Schafer. Mr. Schafer has served as a director of the Company since January 2008, and also serves as
Chairman of the Audit Committee and as a member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Mr.
Schafer has served as Chief Operating Officer of Aduro Biotech, a private biotechnology company focused in
oncology and infectious diseases since July 2013. From 2010 to July 2013, Mr. Schafer served as Chief Financial
Officer of Jennerex, a biotherapeutics company focused in oncology. From April 2009 to June 2010, Mr. Schafer
served as an independent consultant to private and public biotechnology companies. From April 2006 to January
2009, Mr. Schafer served as the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a
publicly-held, biopharmaceutical company focused on oncology. Prior to Onyx, from 2004 to 2006, Mr. Schafer
served as a consultant to several private and public biotechnology companies. From 1997 to 2004, Mr. Schafer held
various executive positions at Cerus Corporation, a public biotechnology company, including Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining Cerus, Mr. Schafer worked as a management consultant for Deloitte &
Touche LLP. Mr. Schafer holds an M.B.A. from the Anderson Graduate School of Management at UCLA and a BSE
in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Pennsylvania.
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Earl M. (Duke) Collier, Jr. Mr. Collier joined the Capricor Board of Directors in 2011 and is a member of the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. He is currently the chief executive officer of 480 Biomedical, a
medical device company developing products used in the treatment of peripheral artery disease, and serves as a Senior
Advisor to Polaris Venture Partners, a venture capital firm focused on information technology and life sciences, and as
executive chairman of Arsenal Medical, Inc., a medical device company. Mr. Collier was formerly Executive Vice
President at Genzyme Corporation, a biotechnology company acquired by Sanofi for $20.1 billion in 2011. During his
tenure at Genzyme, Mr. Collier was responsible for building the biosurgery business and overseeing the company’s
efforts in multiple sclerosis and other immune disorders. He has also led some of Genzyme’s significant acquisitions
and the formation of MG Biotherapeutics, Genzyme’s joint venture with Medtronic Inc., which is focused on cardiac
cell therapy. Mr. Collier also served as President of Vitas Healthcare, a hospice provider, as a partner at the
Washington, DC-based law firm of Hogan and Hartson and as Deputy Administrator of the Health Care Finance
Administration (now CMS) in the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. Mr. Collier sits on the boards of
several corporations including Arsenal Medical, Inc. and Pervasis Therapeutics, a biotechnology company. He is also
chairman of the board for the Newton-Wellesley Hospital. From 2006 to 2009, Mr. Collier served as a director of
publicly traded Decode Genetics Inc. (DGI Resolution, Inc.), a biopharmaceutical company. Mr. Collier earned a
Bachelor of Arts degree at Yale University and received a law degree from the University of Virginia Law School.

David B. Musket. Mr. Musket joined the Capricor Board of Directors in 2012 and is a member of the Audit
Committee and the Compensation Committee. Mr. Musket has vast experience in strategic finance and has been
following developments in the pharmaceutical and medical device industries for over 30 years. Mr. Musket began his
investment career as an equities research analyst at Goldman Sachs & Co. following the pharmaceutical industry. In
1991 he founded Musket Research Associates, a venture banking firm focused exclusively on emerging healthcare
companies. In 1996 he co-founded ProMed Management, a healthcare-focused investment partnership. He is still
actively involved with both of these entities. He has served on the boards of several private and public companies
throughout his career, and is currently on the board of privately held TherOx, Inc., a medical device company. From
1999 to 2007, Mr. Musket served on the board of directors of publicly traded Conor MedSystems, Inc., a medical
device company sold to Johnson & Johnson in 2007 for $1.4 billion. Mr. Musket holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Biology and Psychology from Boston College.

Louis Manzo. Mr. Manzo was one of the initial investors in Capricor and joined the Capricor Board of Directors in
2006. Mr. Manzo is also a member of the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee. Mr. Manzo has been a prominent Baltimore entrepreneur for over three decades and has extensive
experience in the area of finance. Mr. Manzo received his BS degree from the University of Notre Dame and his MBA
from Harvard Business School. He served in the armed forces as an officer in the United States Navy. After
completing his MBA at Harvard, Mr. Manzo joined, and in a few years became General Partner of, Baker, Watts &
Co., a NYSE Member Firm. His experience there included being Director of Equity Research and later, the Head of
Corporate Finance. During the 1980’s, Mr. Manzo started his own private investment firm, LVM Venture Partners.
Beginning in 1989, Mr. Manzo became part of the founders group which helped a Johns Hopkins cardiologist fund his
launching of a research center for preventive cardiology. Mr. Manzo remained as an advisor during the center’s
formative years. His continued interest in preventive research included a major investment to research the use of
protein modeling for early disease detection. Since 2002, he has been following and supporting research into the use
of adult stem cells in the repair of spinal cord and heart damage. The list of private company boards, senior advisory
roles, and charities that Mr. Manzo has been involved with over the years are numerous and varied, including: the
Johns Hopkins Preventive Cardiology Center, a hospital center; Greater Baltimore Medical Center, a hospital;
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Goodwill Industries of Maryland, a non-profit organization; E.I.L Instruments, Inc., an instrument company; and
Notre Dame University of Maryland, a private university.

Louis J. Grasmick. Mr. Grasmick was one of the initial investors in Capricor and joined the Capricor Board of
Directors in 2006. Mr. Grasmick is a prominent Baltimore philanthropist and entrepreneur with over fifty years of
executive experience. He is the chief executive officer of the Louis J. Grasmick Lumber Company, a supplier of
industrial lumber, which he founded after playing professional baseball for seven years. His many accomplishments
and positions include being director of the Harbor Bank of Maryland’s Executive Committee, as well as past president
of Signal 13, a non-profit organization. Mr. Grasmick currently sits on the board of directors for The Johns Hopkins
Hospital Broccoli Center. Voted “Man of the Year” by both the Baltimore Junior Association of Commerce and the
Variety Club, he was also honored by the Children’s Guild of Maryland in 2009 with their award for “Making the
Impossible Possible.”
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George W. Dunbar, Jr. Mr. Dunbar joined the Capricor Board of Directors in 2012 and is a member of the Audit
Committee. Mr. Dunbar is currently President and Chief Executive Officer of ISTO Technologies. Inc., a
privately-held biotechnology company. Mr. Dunbar has extensive healthcare and life sciences operating experience,
and has served as a former Director or CEO with a number of private and public life science companies. Prior to
joining ISTO, commencing in 2010, Mr. Dunbar served as a Venture Partner with Arboretum Ventures, a leading
healthcare venture capital firm. He has served as a board member for the following portfolio companies: IntelliCyt, a
provider of high throughput screening and analytics for aiding drug discovery, KFx Medical, a medical device
company (as chair), and CerviLenz, Inc., a medical device company (as executive chair). He was a past director and
executive chair of Accuri Cytometers (now Becton Dickinson & Co.), a cell analysis and flow cytometer company.
Mr. Dunbar has also served as the chief executive officer and/or a director of several publicly traded companies, all of
which are involved in the healthcare industry. Previously, he served as chairman and chief executive officer of
publicly traded Aastrom Biosciences, a biotechnology company developing therapies for severe, chronic
cardiovascular diseases; as a director and chief executive officer of publicly traded Stem Cells Inc. (formerly Cyto
Therapeutics), a company engaged in the development of stem cell therapies; as a director and chief executive officer
of publicly traded Metra Biosystems, a bio-marker discovery company; as a director of publicly traded DepoTech, a
biotechnology company; as a director of publicly traded LJL Biosystems, a provider of drug discovery automated
systems to the life sciences industry; and as a director of publicly traded Quidel Corporation, a company which
develops and markets diagnostic testing solutions. Mr. Dunbar has also worked with several venture capital groups
and served as an advisor, director, or chief executive officer to several private life sciences companies, including
Quantum Dot, a Versant Ventures/MPM Capital company; Targesome, an Alloy Ventures/CHL Medical Partners
company; and Epic Therapeutics, an MPM Capital/Proquest Investments company. He has also held senior leadership
positions with Ares-Serono, now Merck- Serono, and Amersham International, now GE Healthcare. Mr. Dunbar
attended Auburn University where he graduated with a BS in Electrical Engineering and later received his MBA. He
currently serves on the Harbert College of Business MBA Advisory Board and is an advisor to Vanderbilt University’s
Center for Technology Transfer and Commercialization.

Experience, Qualifications, Attributes and Skills of Directors

We look to our directors to lead us through our continued growth as an early-stage public biopharmaceutical
company. Our directors bring their leadership experience from a variety of life science and other companies and
professional backgrounds which we require to continue to grow and bring value to our stockholders. Dr. Frank
Litvack, our Executive Chairman, has a wealth of business building experience and medical expertise that ensures that
our activities are anchored in sound scientific research and solid business planning and practices. As an accomplished
veteran of the healthcare industry who has orchestrated the founding, development and sale of several medical
technology companies, we believe that Dr. Litvack provides invaluable knowledge and leadership to the company. Dr.
Linda Marbán brings a wealth of knowledge in research and development especially for the treatment of
cardiovascular disease. She has over a decade of experience in early stage life sciences companies, as well as business
development expertise. Mr. Kazam and Mr. Musket have venture capital or investment banking backgrounds and offer
expertise in financing and growing small biopharmaceutical companies. Each of Mr. Collier, Dunbar, Kazam, Manzo,
Grasmick, Musket, and Mr. Schafer have significant experience with early stage private and public companies and
bring depth of knowledge in building stockholder value, growing a company from inception and navigating significant
corporate transactions and the public company process. Mr. Dunbar and Mr. Collier have extensive experience in the
pharmaceutical industry, allowing them to contribute their significant operational experience. As a result of his
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experience in the role of chief financial officer of public companies, Mr. Schafer also brings extensive finance,
accounting and risk management knowledge to us.
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Compensation of Directors

The following table sets forth the compensation received by our directors for their service in 2013. Dr. Marbán is not
listed below since she is an employee of Capricor Therapeutics and receives no additional compensation for serving
on our Board of Directors or its committees. Additionally, Ms. Horton, the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer,
is not listed in the below table as she received no compensation for her service on the Board during the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2013.

Name Fees Earned or
Paid in Cash Option Awards (1) Total

Frank Litvack, M.D. (2) $ 120,000 $ 88,479 $208,479
George Dunbar — 3,513 3,513
Louis Manzo — 3,513 3,513
Louis Grasmick — 3,513 3,513
Earl Collier — 3,445 3,445
David Musket — 3,513 3,513
Joshua Kazam (3) — — —
Gregory Schafer (4) — — —
Arie S. Belldegrun, M.D. (5) — — —
Pedro Granadillo (5) — — —
Peter M. Kash, Ed.D. (5) — — —
Paul A. Mieyal, Ph.D. (5) — — —

(1)

Amounts reflect the grant date fair value of awards granted under the 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan and the
2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, computed pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board’s
Accounting Standards Codification 718 “Compensation – Stock Compensation”. Assumptions used in the calculation
of these amounts are included in Note 4 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this
prospectus.

(2)Dr. Litvack served on the Board of Directors of Nile Therapeutics, Inc. until October 28, 2012 and is currently the
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors of Capricor Therapeutics, Inc.

(3)Mr. Kazam was previously a member of the Nile Therapeutics, Inc. Board, and was not compensated for his
services in 2013. Upon his appointment to the Capricor Therapeutics Board, he forfeited all prior options held.
Pursuant to the terms of Nile’s services agreement with Two River Consulting, LLC, or TRC, Mr. Kazam served as
Nile’s non-employee President and Chief Executive Officer from June 2009 until Dr. Horton’s appointment as
President and Chief Executive Officer on August 6, 2012. Mr. Kazam received no direct compensation for his
services as President and Chief Executive Officer, though, as a principal owner of TRC, he indirectly received a
portion of the monthly cash fees paid to TRC under the services agreement. The TRC agreement was terminated at
the close of the merger between Nile and Capricor. Amounts reflected in the table above represent compensation
received solely for Mr. Kazam’s services as a director in accordance with the standard compensation applicable to
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our other non-employee directors.

(4)Mr. Schafer was previously a member of the Nile Therapeutics, Inc. Board, and was not compensated for his
services in 2013. Upon his appointment to the Capricor Therapeutics Board, he forfeited all prior options held.

(5)These directors resigned from the Board effective upon completion of the merger between Nile and Capricor on
November 20, 2013.

Director Independence

In determining whether the members of our board of directors and its committees are independent, we have elected to
use the definition of “independence” set forth in the listing standards of the NASDAQ Stock Market, which requires that
a majority of the board of directors qualify as independent, as determined by the board of directors. After considering
all relevant relationships and transactions, our board of directors, in consultation with legal counsel, has determined
that Messrs. Schafer, Dunbar, Musket, Collier, Manzo and Grasmick and Dr. Litvack are “independent” within the
meaning of the applicable listing standards of the NASDAQ Stock Market. In making this determination, the board of
directors found that none of these directors had a material or other disqualifying relationship with us. In addition to
transactions required to be disclosed under SEC rules, the board of directors considered certain other relationships in
making its independence determinations, and determined in each case that such other relationships did not impair the
director’s ability to exercise independent judgment on our behalf.

Dr. Marbán, our Chief Executive Officer, is not an independent director by virtue of her employment with us. Mr.
Kazam is also deemed not an independent director due to his previous relationship, and that of his consulting firm
Two River Consulting, LLC, with Nile Therapeutics, Inc.
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Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) that applies to all directors,
officers, employees, consultants, contractors and agents, wherever they are located and whether they work for us on a
full- or part-time basis. The Code was designed to help such directors, employees and other agents to resolve ethical
issues encountered in the business environment. The Code covers topics such as conflicts of interest, compliance with
laws, confidentiality of Company information, encouraging the reporting of any violations of the Code, fair dealing
and protection and use of Company assets.

A copy of the Code, as adopted by the Board of Directors, is available at the Corporate Governance page of our
website at www.capricor.com. Please note that information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference
in, or considered to be a part of, this prospectus. We may post amendments to or waivers of the provisions of the
Code, if any, made with respect to any directors and employees on that website.

Board Committees

Audit Committee

The current members of our Audit Committee are Mr. Gregory Schafer (Chair), Mr. George Dunbar and Mr. David
Musket. Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Schafer qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” as
defined by the applicable rules of the SEC. Although our shares are not listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market, the
Board has determined that all members are “independent” within the meaning of the applicable listing standard of the
NASDAQ Stock Market.

Compensation Committee

The current members of our Compensation Committee are Dr. Frank Litvack, Mr. Louis Manzo and Mr. David
Musket. Although our shares are not listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market, the Board has determined that all members
are “independent” within the meaning of the applicable listing standard of the NASDAQ Stock Market.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
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The current members of our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are Mr. Earl Collier, Mr. Gregory
Schafer and Mr. Louis Manzo. Although our shares are not listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market, the Board has
determined that all members are “independent” within the meaning of the applicable listing standard of the NASDAQ
Stock Market.

Risk Assessment of Compensation Programs

We do not believe that our compensation programs create risks that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse
effect on our company. We believe that the combination of different types of compensation as well as the overall
amount of compensation, together with our internal controls and oversight by our Board of Directors, mitigates
potential risks.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary Compensation Table

The following summary compensation table reflects cash and non-cash compensation for the 2013 and 2012 fiscal
years awarded to or earned by (i) each individual serving as our principal executive officer during the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2013; and (ii) the two most highly-compensated individuals, other than our principal executive
officer, that served as an executive officer at the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 and who received in
excess of $100,000 in total compensation during such fiscal year. We refer to these individuals as our “named
executive officers”.

Name and 
Principal Position Year Salary ($) Bonus ($) Option

Awards($)(1)
All Other
Compensation ($) Total ($)

Linda Marbán, Ph.D. 2012 $ 190,313 – – – $190,313
Chief Executive Officer 2013 $ 232,344 – $ 108,000 – $340,344

Karen Krasney, J.D. 2012 $ 130,000 – $ 54,747 $ 1,000 (2) $185,747
Executive Vice President & General
Counsel

2013 $ 189,390 – – $ 1,000 (2) $190,390

Anthony Davies, Ph.D. 2012 $         – – – – –
Chief Technology Officer 2013 $ 213,083 – $ 49,272  $ 40,554 (3) $302,909

Darlene Horton, M.D. 2012 $ 81,439 – – – $81,439
Former Chief Executive Officer 2013 $ 1,000 239,345 (4) – – $240,345

(1)

Amounts reflect the grant date fair value of awards granted under the Capricor, Inc. 2012 Restated Equity Incentive
Plan, computed pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting Standards Codification 718
“Compensation – Stock Compensation”. Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are included in Note
4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this prospectus. See the “Outstanding Equity
Awards at Fiscal Year-End” table, below, for information regarding all option awards outstanding as of December
31, 2013.

(2)Represents premiums contributed by Capricor for the employee’s Health Flexible Spending account.

(3)Represents all amounts reimbursed to Mr. Davies during his employment relationship with Capricor for
commuting expenses and a housing allowance.

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

136



(4)

Represents the change of control bonus paid to Ms. Horton as part of the Employment Agreement between her and
the Company dated August 3, 2012, as amended from time to time. As part of the change of control bonus and in
connection with the merger between Nile and Capricor, the Company issued 77,208 shares of the Company’s
common stock on a post-Reverse Stock Split basis following completion of the merger between Nile and Capricor.
The value of the compensation is derived using the closing price of the Company’s common stock, as reported on
the OTCQB, on November 27, 2013, the date seven days after the separation agreement between the Company and
Ms. Horton was deemed effective. The shares were issued pursuant to the Company’s Amended and Restated 2005
Stock Option Plan.
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Employment Agreements and Post-Termination Benefits

Linda Marbán, Ph.D. — President and Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Linda Marbán’s employment as our Chief Executive Officer is subject to the terms of that certain employment
agreement dated September 1, 2010, by and between Capricor and Dr. Marbán. In accordance with the agreement, Dr.
Marbán is required to devote three-fourths of her time to the position of Chief Executive Officer and is entitled to an
annual salary of $150,000, which salary was increased to $232,344 for the period ended December 31, 2013. Dr.
Marbán’s employment is at-will, and she has also signed an employee invention assignment, non-disclosure,
non-solicitation, and non-competition agreement. In addition, in 2010, Capricor issued to Dr. Marbán a 10-year stock
option to purchase 414,971 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.37 per share calculated after giving
effect to the merger between Nile and Capricor. The vesting schedule for that grant is as follows: 25% of the shares of
common stock subject to the option vested immediately; 20% of the remaining shares of common stock subject to the
option have vested or will vest on each of September 1, 2011, September 1, 2012, September 1, 2013, September 1,
2014 and September 1, 2015. In 2013, Dr. Marbán was granted a second 10-year stock option to purchase 414,971
shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.30 per share calculated after giving effect to the merger
between Nile and Capricor and which vests over a four-year period at the rate of 25% per year commencing June 1,
2014. Notwithstanding the vesting schedule, early exercise of options is permissible pursuant to her option agreement.
The first grant was awarded pursuant to Capricor’s 2006 Stock Option Plan and the second grant was awarded pursuant
to Capricor’s 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan. In the event the employment agreement is terminated during the
term other than for cause, death or disability, she would be entitled to receive a severance payment equal to three
months’ salary then in effect. In addition, if upon the hiring of a new Chief Executive Officer, Capricor does not
employ Dr. Marbán at a level of at least a vice-president, she would be entitled to receive a severance payment equal
to three months’ salary and the vesting of her then unvested options would be accelerated by six months.

Karen Krasney, J.D. — Executive Vice President, General Counsel

Karen Krasney’s employment as our Executive Vice President and General Counsel is pursuant to an oral agreement
which commenced March 1, 2012. Ms. Krasney’s current base salary is $250,000 per year. In addition, Ms. Krasney
has signed an at-will employment, confidential information, and invention assignment agreement, and an arbitration
agreement. Additionally, in 2012, Ms. Krasney was granted a 10-year option to purchase 189,320 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $0.37 per share calculated after giving effect to the merger between Nile and
Capricor. 25% of the option shares vested November 1, 2012 and the remainder is vesting at the rate of 1/36 per
month on the first day of each month commencing December 1, 2012. Notwithstanding the vesting schedule, early
exercise of options is permissible pursuant to her option agreement. The grant was awarded pursuant to Capricor’s
2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan.

Anthony Davies, Ph.D. — Chief Technology Officer
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Anthony Davies’ employment as our Chief Technology Officer was subject to the terms of that certain employment
agreement dated February 18, 2013, by and between Capricor and Mr. Davies. In accordance with the agreement, Dr.
Davies was required to devote his full time to the position of Chief Technology Officer and was entitled to an annual
salary of $260,000. In addition, Dr. Davies was to be considered for a discretionary annual bonus in an amount up to
20% of his base salary, commuting expenses during the period in which he was to relocate to Los Angeles, and a
housing allowance of $4,000 per month for nine months effective after his relocation to Los Angeles. In addition, Dr.
Davies signed an at-will employment, confidential information, and invention assignment agreement, and an
arbitration agreement. In 2013, Capricor issued Dr. Davies a 10-year stock option to purchase 189,320 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $0.30 per share calculated after giving effect to the merger between Nile and
Capricor, which option was to vest at the rate of 25% per year commencing March 1, 2014. The grant was awarded
pursuant to Capricor’s 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan. Notwithstanding the vesting schedule, early exercise of
options was permissible pursuant to his option agreement. Dr. Davies resigned from his position as Chief Technology
Officer of Capricor in January 2014 and his contract terminated. No portion of his option shares was deemed vested.

Darlene Horton, M.D. — Former Chief Executive Officer

On March 21, 2013, the Company entered into a letter agreement with Darlene Horton, M.D., its President and Chief
Executive Officer, which letter agreement amended certain compensation terms under her existing letter agreement
dated August 3, 2012, as previously amended on November 5, 2012.

Dr. Horton’s existing letter agreement provided that if, prior to the date of a “compensation adjustment event,” the
Company completed a Change of Control Transaction (as defined in the agreement) and Dr. Horton’s employment was
terminated by the Company (or any successor entity) without cause during the period beginning on the effective date
of the Change of Control Transaction and ending on the six -month anniversary of such effective date, then she would
have been entitled to receive a cash payment equal to 5% of the applicable Change of Control Proceeds (as defined in
the agreement). For purposes of the agreement, the term “compensation adjustment event” means the date on which the
Company secures sufficient capital, whether by a financing or strategic transaction (or any combination thereof) or
another means, in order to enable the Company to initiate and fund to completion a Phase II clinical trial of the
Company’s cenderitide product candidate.
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The March 21, 2013 letter agreement amended the payment terms described in the preceding paragraph and provided
that if, prior to December 31, 2013, the Company completed a Change of Control Transaction in which either (i) the
outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock were exchanged for securities of another corporation, or (ii) the
Company issued shares of its common stock, with no securities or other consideration paid or payable to holders of
the Company’s common stock (e.g., a merger transaction in which the Company acquired another corporation in
exchange for shares of the Company’s common stock), then Dr. Horton would be entitled to receive, immediately prior
to the effective time of the Change of Control Transaction, a number of shares of the Company’s common stock equal
to 5% of the shares of the Company’s common stock then outstanding on a fully-diluted basis.

The agreement further provided that if, prior to December 31, 2013, the Company completed a Change of Control
Transaction other than as described in the preceding paragraph, then Dr. Horton would be entitled to receive a cash
payment, on the date of such Change of Control Transaction, equal to 5% of the applicable Change of Control
Proceeds (as defined in the agreement).

Upon the consummation of the merger between Nile and Capricor, Dr. Horton executed a Separation Agreement and
Release with the Company, in consideration for which she received the change of control bonus due pursuant to the
terms of the March 21, 2013 letter agreement. As part of the change of control bonus and in connection with the
Merger, the Company issued 77,208 shares of the Company’s common stock on a post-Reverse Stock Split basis
following completion of the merger. The shares were issued pursuant to the Company’s Amended and Restated 2005
Stock Option Plan.

The foregoing summary of the March 21, 2013 letter agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete
letter agreement, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with
the SEC on March 22, 2013. Additionally, the foregoing summary of the Separation Agreement and Release is
qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete agreement, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 10.10 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 31, 2014.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 2013

The following table sets forth information concerning unexercised stock options held by the named executive officers
at December 31, 2013:

Name

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
Unexercisable

Equity Incentive
Plan Awards:
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned Options

Option
Exercise
Price ($)

Option
Expiration Date

Linda Marbán, Ph.D. 290,480 124,491 — 0.37 09/01/2020 (1)
— 414,971 — 0.30 05/14/2023 (2)(6)

Karen Krasney, J.D. 98,604 90,716 — 0.37 11/13/2022 (3)(6)

Anthony Davies, Ph.D. — 189,320 — 0.30 02/22/2023 (4)(6)

Darlene Horton, M.D. — — — — — (5)

(1)
Vesting schedule is as follows: 25% of the shares of common stock subject to this option vested immediately. 20%
of the remaining shares of common stock subject to this option have vested or will vest on each of September 1,
2011, September 1, 2012, September 1, 2013, September 1, 2014 and September 1, 2015.

(2)Vesting schedule is as follows: The shares of common stock subject to this option vest 25% per year over 4 years
commencing June 1, 2014.

(3)Vesting schedule is as follows: 25% of the shares of common stock subject to this option vested immediately, with
the remainder vesting over 36 months commencing December 1, 2012.

(4)
Vesting schedule is as follows: This shares of common stock subject to this option vest over 4 years with the first
25% of the shares of common stock subject to the option vesting on February 22, 2014. Dr. Davies resigned in
January 2014, and no further options vested under the terms of his award.

(5)Darlene Horton was the former Chief Executive Officer of Nile Therapeutics, Inc. prior to the merger between
Capricor and Nile.
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(6)

The options issued under the 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan are subject to early exercise. If the option holder
elects to take advantage of the early exercise feature and purchase shares prior to the vesting of such shares, the
shares will be deemed restricted stock and will be subject to a repurchase option in favor of the Company if the
option holder’s service to the Company terminates prior to vesting.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Cedars-Sinai Medical Center

On July 27, 2010, Cedars -Sinai Medical Center (CSMC) acquired 263,158 shares of Capricor, Inc.’s Series A-2
Convertible Preferred Stock and on April 20, 2012 acquired 375,000 shares of Capricor, Inc.’s A-3 Convertible
Preferred Stock, which were exchanged for 1,324,086 shares of common stock of the Company after the effects of the
merger between Nile and Capricor.

On January 4, 2010, Capricor entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with CSMC, (the CSMC License
Agreement), for certain intellectual property rights. In 2013, the CSMC License Agreement was amended twice
resulting in, among other things, a reduction in the percentage of sublicense fees which would have been payable to
CSMC. Effective December 30, 2013, Capricor entered into an Amended and Restated Exclusive License Agreement
with CSMC (the Amended CSMC License Agreement) pursuant to which, among other things, certain definitions
were added or amended, the timing of certain obligations was revised and other obligations of the parties were
clarified. The Amended CSMC License Agreement provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide,
royalty-bearing license by CSMC to Capricor (with the right to sublicense) to conduct research using the patent rights
and know-how and develop and commercialize products in the field using the patent rights and know-how. In
addition, Capricor has the exclusive right to negotiate for an exclusive license to any future rights arising from work
conducted by or under the direction of Dr. Eduardo Marbán on behalf of CSMC. In the event the parties fail to agree
upon the terms of an exclusive license, Capricor shall have a non-exclusive license to such future rights, subject to
royalty obligations. Pursuant to the CSMC License Agreement, CSMC was paid a license fee and Capricor was
obligated to reimburse CSMC for certain fees and costs incurred in connection with the prosecution of certain patent
rights. Additionally, Capricor was required to meet certain spending and development milestones. The annual
spending requirements range from $350,000 to $800,000 each year between 2010 and 2017 (with the exception of
2014, for which there is no annual spending requirement). Pursuant to the Amended CSMC License Agreement,
Capricor remains obligated to pay low single-digit royalties on sales of royalty-bearing products as well as a low
double-digit percentage of the consideration received from any sublicenses or other grant of rights. The
above-mentioned royalties are subject to reduction in the event Capricor becomes obliged to obtain a license from a
third party for patent rights in connection with the royalty-bearing product. In 2010, Capricor discontinued its research
under some of the patents.

On May 5, 2014, Capricor entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with CSMC (the Exosomes License
Agreement), for certain intellectual property rights related to exosomes technology. Pursuant to the Exosomes License
Agreement, CSMC was paid a license fee and Capricor was obligated to reimburse CSMC for certain fees and costs
incurred in connection with the prosecution of certain patent rights. Additionally, Capricor is required to meet certain
non-monetary development milestones and is obligated to pay low single-digit royalties on sales of royalty-bearing
products as well as a single-digit percentage of the consideration received from any sublicenses or other grant of
rights.
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The foregoing description of the Exosomes License Agreement is a summary of its material terms, does not purport to
be complete, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Exosomes License Agreement which, subject to any
confidential treatment requested, is filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a
part.

Capricor currently leases two research laboratories from CSMC under the terms of a three-year lease which expires on
June 1, 2017. The rent expense for the first six-month period is approximately $15,461 per month.  Commencing with
the seventh month of the lease term, the rent expense will increase to approximately $19,350 per month. The amount
of rent expense is subject to annual adjustments according to increases in the Consumer Price Index.

With permission from CSMC, Capricor presently manufactures its cells in an accredited GMP facility which is owned
by and located within CSMC. Our laboratory and manufacturing facility are located at 8700 Beverly Blvd. Los
Angeles, CA 90048. As our operations expand, we expect our space requirements and related expenses to increase.

Dr. Frank Litvack (Executive Chairman)

Since April 2012, Dr. Frank Litvack has been serving as Capricor’s Executive Chairman. In April 2012, Dr. Frank
Litvack was given a director package when he agreed to serve as the Executive Chairman of Capricor, Inc. Pursuant to
that Board package, Dr. Litvack was paid a consulting fee of $4,000 per month commencing upon his election to the
Board. Such compensation increased to $10,000 per month upon Capricor, Inc.’s receipt of a CIRM award. Dr. Litvack
was granted an option for a number of shares of Company common stock equal to ten percent (10%) of the
outstanding shares of all Company stock on a fully diluted basis (the “Initial Option”), calculated as if all options and
warrants granted or contemplated to be granted to Company employees, directors and other eligible participants had
been granted and exercised as of the grant date of the Initial Option. 25% of the Initial Option vested on the first day
of the month after his election to the Capricor, Inc. Board of Directors. The remainder was to vest at the rate of 1/36
per month over the following 36 month period. In connection with the merger between Nile and Capricor, Dr.
Litvack’s options were converted into options for the Company’s common stock. He thus holds the following option
grants for (i) 1,545,435 shares at $0.37 per share (ii) 140,270 at $0.37 per share (iii) 207,485 at $0.30 per share
calculated after giving effect to the merger between Nile and Capricor.
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Under Dr. Litvack’s previous agreement with Capricor, Inc., upon the closing of each Qualified Financing until such
time that Capricor, Inc. reached a threshold of $10 million financing (including the sums previously received from
sales of Series A-3 shares), Dr. Litvack was to be granted an additional option to purchase that number of shares of
Capricor, Inc. common stock necessary to maintain Dr. Litvack’s equity position at ten percent (10%) of the
outstanding shares of all Capricor, Inc. stock on a fully diluted basis (the “Anti-Dilution Rights”). On August 21, 2013,
Capricor, Inc. entered into an agreement and release of all claims pursuant to which Dr. Litvack was granted an
additional option to purchase 207,485 option shares calculated after giving effect to the merger between Nile and
Capricor in exchange for forfeiture of these Anti -Dilution Rights. In addition, the terms of each of Dr. Litvack’s stock
option agreements were modified to extend the exercise period during which he has to exercise his options for
Company common stock after he ceases to be a service provider to the Company from 90 days to one year.

On March 24, 2014, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with Dr. Litvack memorializing the $10,000
per month compensation arrangement described above. The agreement is terminable upon 30 days’ notice.

On May 1, 2012, Dr. Litvack entered into a sublease with Capricor pursuant to which he subleased from Capricor an
office and an administrative bay located within Capricor’s leased premises in Beverly Hills, California for a monthly
rate of $2,500. On April 1, 2013, the foregoing sublease was terminated and Reprise Technologies LLC, a limited
liability company which is wholly owned by Dr. Litvack, executed a new sublease for an office and administrative
bay within Capricor’s leased premises for a monthly rate of $2,500. Such sublease is on a month-to - month basis and
is terminable upon 30 days’ written notice by either party.

Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions

Although we have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, we rely on our Board of Directors to review
related party transactions on an ongoing basis to prevent conflicts of interest. Our Board of Directors reviews a
transaction in light of the affiliations of the director, officer or employee and the affiliations of such person’s
immediate family. Transactions are presented to our Board of Directors for approval before they are entered into or, if
this is not possible, for ratification after the transaction has occurred. If our Board of Directors finds that a conflict of
interest exists, then it will determine the appropriate remedial action, if any. Our Board of Directors approves or
ratifies a transaction if it determines that the transaction is consistent with the best interests of the Company.
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PRINCIPAL AND SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

This prospectus covers the resale by the selling stockholders identified below of a total of 7,043,576 shares of our
common stock. All of these securities were previously issued to the selling stockholders in private placement
transactions. A description of these transactions is set forth above under the section entitled “Prospectus Summary –
Description of Private Placements” on page 4.

The following table sets forth certain information known to us regarding the beneficial ownership of our common
stock as of May 15, 2014: 

· each of our directors;

· each named executive officer as defined and named in the Summary Compensation Table appearing herein;

· all of our directors and executive officers as a group;

·each person known by us to beneficially own more than five percent of our common stock (based on information
supplied in Schedules 13D and 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission); and

· each selling stockholder.

The information presented in the below table has been calculated based on the assumption that all shares offered
hereby will be sold and that no other shares of our common stock will be acquired or disposed of by the stockholders
named below prior to the termination of this offering. The beneficial ownership set forth below has been determined
in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). This table
has been prepared based on information supplied to us by the selling stockholders, and reflects holdings as of May 15,
2014. Except as indicated by footnote, and subject to applicable community property laws, we believe that the
beneficial owners of the common stock listed below have sole voting power and sole investment power with respect to
their shares. In computing the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by a person and the percentage
ownership of such person, we deemed to be outstanding all shares of common stock subject to options and warrants
held by the person that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of May 15, 2014. However, we did not
deem such shares outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other persons.

The address of each named executive officer and director, unless indicated otherwise, is c/o Capricor Therapeutics,
Inc., 8840 Wilshire Blvd., 2nd Floor, Beverly Hills, CA 90211.
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Beneficial Ownership
Prior to the Offering(1)

Number of shares
offered hereby

Beneficial Ownership
After the Offering(2)

Principal Stockholders Number of
Shares Percent Number of

Shares Percent

Named Executive Officers and Directors
Frank Litvack, M.D.(3) 1,397,909 10.7 - 1,397,909 10.5
George Dunbar(4) 94,806 * - 94,806 *
Louis Manzo(5) 961,194 8.0 638,155 323,039 2.6
Louis Grasmick(6) 1,220,551 10.2 897,512 323,039 2.6
Earl Collier(7) 133,437 1.1 - 133,437 1.1
David Musket(8) 94,806 * - 94,806 *
Joshua Kazam(9) 53,670 * - 53,670 *
Gregory Schafer(10) 3,488 * - 3,488 *
Linda Marbán., Ph.D.(11) 653,579 5.4 - 653,579 5.3
Karen Krasney, J.D.(12) 126,213 1.1 - 126,213 1.1
Darlene Horton, M.D.(13) 49,148 * - 49,148 *
Anthony Davies, Ph.D.(14) - - - - -
Directors and executive officers as a group (13
individuals) 4,813,827 32.8 3,278,160 22.0

5% Stockholders
Dr. Eduardo Marbán (15)

c/o 8840 Wilshire Blvd., 2nd Floor
Beverly Hills, CA 90211 3,164,154 27.1 - 3,164,154 26.5

MD BTI, LLC(16)

2560 Lord Baltimore Drive
Baltimore, MD 21244 1,934,939 16.6 1,934,939 - -

Cedars-Sinai Medical Center(17)

8700 Beverly Blvd.
West Hollywood, CA 90048 1,324,086 11.3 1,324,086 - -

Selling Stockholders
Gregory Kiernan(18) 204,232 1.7 195,258 8,974 *
M.S.B. Research, Inc.(19) 104,572 * 92,572 12,000 *
Timothy McInerney(20) 78,087 * 55,788 22,299 *
Nicholas Ponzio(21) 44,004 * 44,004 - -
Patricia & Preston Evans(22) 27,027 * 27,027 - -
James Evans(23) 26,149 * 25,649 500 *
Warrenton Ventures, LLC(24) 11,784 * 11,784 - -
Christian F. Coluccio(25) 73,267 * 73,267 - -
Christopher A. Jones(26) 72,620 * 72,620 - -
Paul Felliti(27) 20,749 * 20,749 - -
Dominic Coluccio(28) 38,904 * 38,904 - -
Gregg A. Barbagallo(29) 16,211 * 16,211 - -
Vladimiro Panichi(30) 3,890 * 3,890 - -
Richard Cardinale(31) 48,628 * 48,628 - -
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Robert L. Curro Giardina(32) 32,420 * 32,420 - -
Philomena Giardina(33) 32,420 * 32,420 - -
Lawrence P. Giardina(34) 22,695 * 22,695 - -
Michael Cardinale(35) 16,211 * 16,211 - -
Angelo Bracco(36) 16,209 * 16,209 - -
Eastport Investments, Inc.(37) 259,357 2.2 259,357 - -
Pet-Cal Biotech Corporation (38) 460,701 3.9 460,701 - -
Richard & Martin Investments, LLC(39) 149,025 1.3 136,505 12,520 *
Broadview Ventures I, LLC(40) 546,015 4.7 546,015 - -
Subtotal: 7,043,576

* Represents less than 1%.

(1)We have based percentage ownership of our common stock before the offering on 11,690,859 shares of our
common stock outstanding as of May 15, 2014.

(2)

We have based percentage ownership of our common stock after the offering on 11,690,859 shares of our common
stock outstanding as of May 15, 2014, plus the 251,044 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of
warrants to purchase shares of our common stock, which such shares are being registered pursuant to the
registration statement of which this prospectus is a part.

(3)

Includes 1,397,909 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will become
exercisable within 60 days of May 15, 2014. The shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options issued to Dr.
Litvack are subject to early exercise under the 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan and 2012 Non-Employee
Director Stock Option Plan. As of May 15, 2014, Dr. Litvack has not indicated his intent to exercise early. If the
option holder elects to take advantage of the early exercise feature and purchase shares prior to the vesting of such
shares, the shares will be deemed restricted stock and will be subject to a repurchase option in favor of the
Company if the option holder’s service to the Company terminates prior to vesting.

(4)

Includes 94,806 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are exercisable or will become exercisable
within 60 days of May 15, 2014. The shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options issued to Mr. Dunbar are
subject to early exercise under the 2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. As of May 15, 2014, Mr.
Dunbar has not indicated his intent to exercise early. If the option holder elects to take advantage of the early
exercise feature and purchase shares prior to the vesting of such shares, the shares will be deemed restricted stock
and will be subject to a repurchase option in favor of the Company if the option holder’s service to the Company
terminates prior to vesting.

(5)Includes (i) 638,155 shares held by Coniston Corporation, an entity of which Mr. Manzo was the sole owner. In
December 2012, Mr. Manzo transferred 99% of the non-voting shares of Coniston Corporation to several
irrevocable trusts established for the benefit of his children. Mr. Manzo retained the remaining 1% of the shares of
Coniston and retains all voting power with respect to Coniston shares; and (ii) 323,039 shares issuable upon the
exercise of options held individually by Mr. Manzo that are exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days
of May 15, 2014. Mr. Manzo is a member of our board of directors, and the 638,155 shares being offered hereby
are the shares held by Coniston Corporation. Certain shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options issued to
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Mr. Manzo are subject to early exercise under the 2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. As of May 15,
2014, Mr. Manzo has not indicated his intent to exercise early. If the option holder elects to take advantage of the
early exercise feature and purchase shares prior to the vesting of such shares, the shares will be deemed restricted
stock and will be subject to a repurchase option in favor of the Company if the option holder’s service to the
Company terminates prior to vesting.
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(6)

Includes (i) 897,512 shares held by Nancelou, Inc., an entity of which 50% is owned by Louis Grasmick and
Nancy Grasmick, husband and wife, as tenants by the entirety, and the other 50% of which is owned by Grant
Grasmick, the son of Louis Grasmick and Nancy Grasmick, and, as a result, Louis Grasmick, Nancy Grasmick and
Grant Grasmick may be deemed to have shared voting and dispositive power with respect to the shares beneficially
owned by Nancelou, Inc.; and (ii) 323,039 shares issuable upon the exercise of options held individually by Mr.
Grasmick that are exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days of May 15, 2014. Mr. Grasmick is a
member of our board of directors, and the 897,512 shares being offered hereby are the shares held by Nancelou,
Inc. Certain shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options issued to Mr. Grasmick are subject to early exercise
under the 2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. As of May 15, 2014, Mr. Grasmick has not indicated
his intent to exercise early. If the option holder elects to take advantage of the early exercise feature and purchase
shares prior to the vesting of such shares, the shares will be deemed restricted stock and will be subject to a
repurchase option in favor of the Company if the option holder’s service to the Company terminates prior to
vesting.

(7)

Includes 133,437 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options which are exercisable or will become
exercisable within 60 days of May 15, 2014. The shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options issued to Mr.
Collier are subject to early exercise under the 2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. As of May 15,
2014, Mr. Collier has not indicated his intent to exercise early. If the option holder elects to take advantage of the
early exercise feature and purchase shares prior to the vesting of such shares, the shares will be deemed restricted
stock and will be subject to a repurchase option in favor of the Company if the option holder’s service to the
Company terminates prior to vesting.

(8)

Includes 94,806 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options which are exercisable or will become
exercisable within 60 days of May 15, 2014. The shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options issued to Mr.
Musket are subject to early exercise under the 2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. As of May 15,
2014, Mr. Musket has not indicated his intent to exercise early. If the option holder elects to take advantage of the
early exercise feature and purchase shares prior to the vesting of such shares, the shares will be deemed restricted
stock and will be subject to a repurchase option in favor of the Company if the option holder’s service to the
Company terminates prior to vesting.

(9)

Includes (i) 30,988 shares held by Mr. Kazam; (ii) 300 shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
warrants held by Mr. Kazam; (iii) 12,276 shares held by the Kazam Family Trust, of which Mr. Kazam’s
spouse is the trustee and his children are beneficiaries, and as to which Mr. Kazam disclaims beneficial
ownership except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein; (iv) 3,310 shares held by Mr. Kazam’s
spouse as custodian for the benefit of their minor children, to which Mr. Kazam disclaims beneficial
ownership except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein; (v) 3,310 shares held by the Kash Family
Foundation, of which Mr. Kazam is trustee but as to which he has no pecuniary interest; and (vi) 3,486
shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options which are exercisable or will become exercisable
within 60 days of May 15, 2014. The shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options issued to Mr.
Kazam are subject to early exercise under the 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan. As of May 15, 2014,
Mr. Kazam has not indicated his intent to exercise early. If the option holder elects to take advantage of
the early exercise feature and purchase shares prior to the vesting of such shares, the shares will be
deemed restricted stock and will be subject to a repurchase option in favor of the Company if the option
holder’s service to the Company terminates prior to vesting.
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(10)

Includes (i) 2 shares held by Mr. Schafer; and (ii) 3,486 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options which
are exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days of May 15, 2014. The shares issuable upon the exercise
of stock options issued to Mr. Schafer are subject to early exercise under the 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan.
As of May 15, 2014, Mr. Schafer has not indicated his intent to exercise early. If the option holder elects to take
advantage of the early exercise feature and purchase shares prior to the vesting of such shares, the shares will be
deemed restricted stock and will be subject to a repurchase option in favor of the Company if the option holder’s
service to the Company terminates prior to vesting.

(11)

Includes (i) 259,357 shares held by Dr. Linda Marbán, and (ii) 394,222 shares issuable upon the exercise of
options held by Dr. Marbán which are exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days of May 15, 2014.
Certain shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options issued to Dr. Linda Marbán are subject to early exercise
under the 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan. As of May 15, 2014, Dr. Linda Marbán has not indicated her
intent to exercise early. If the option holder elects to take advantage of the early exercise feature and purchase
shares prior to the vesting of such shares, the shares will be deemed restricted stock and will be subject to a
repurchase option in favor of the Company if the option holder’s service to the Company terminates prior to
vesting.

(12)

Includes 126,213 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options which are exercisable or will become
exercisable within 60 days of May 15, 2014. The shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options issued to Ms.
Krasney are subject to early exercise under the 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan. As of May 15, 2014, Ms.
Krasney has not indicated her intent to exercise early. If the option holder elects to take advantage of the early
exercise feature and purchase shares prior to the vesting of such shares, the shares will be deemed restricted stock
and will be subject to a repurchase option in favor of the Company if the option holder’s service to the Company
terminates prior to vesting.
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(13)Includes 49,148 shares held by Darlene Horton, M.D. Dr. Horton was the former Chief Executive Officer of Nile
Therapeutics, Inc.

(14)All of Anthony Davies’ outstanding options expired unexercised upon the termination of his employment with the
Company in January 2014.

(15) Includes 3,164,154 shares held by Dr. Eduardo Marbán.

(16)

Includes (i) 1,556,141 shares held by MD BTI, LLC, which has the sole power to vote or direct the vote of, and
sole power to dispose or direct the disposition of, all 1,556,141 shares held by it, (ii) 324,196 shares held by MD
BTI, Inc.; and (iii) 54,602 shares held individually by Edward A. St. John. Edward St. John, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, is the company manager (the “Company Manager”) of MD BTI, LLC. Edward A. St.
John, an individual, is the general manager of Company Manager. As the company manager of MD BTI, LLC,
Company Manager is deemed to be the beneficial owner of the shares held by MD BTI, LLC and is therefore
deemed to have shared voting and dispositive power over the 1,556,141 shares held by MD BTI, LLC. Mr. St.
John is the sole member and general manager of Company Manager and is therefore deemed to be the beneficial
owner of the shares held by Company Manager. Additionally, Mr. St. John is the president of MD BTI, Inc. and is
therefore deemed to be the beneficial owner of the shares held by MD BTI, Inc. As a result of the foregoing, Mr.
St. John has the sole power to vote or direct the vote of 54,602 shares; has the shared power to vote or direct the
vote of 1,880,337 shares; has the sole power to dispose or direct the disposition of 54,602 shares; and has the
shared power to dispose or direct the disposition of 1,880,337 shares.

(17)

Includes 1,324,086 shares held by Cedars-Sinai Medical Center. Cedars-Sinai Medical Center is deemed to have
voting, investment control and dispositive power with respect to the shares held by the entity. We are a party with
CSMC to two Exclusive License Agreements and a lease agreement. See the section of this prospectus entitled
“Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions”.

(18)

Includes (i) 104,254 shares held by Gregory Kiernan, who holds voting and investment power over the shares, (ii)
2,349 shares held by the Kiernan Family Trust of which Mr. Kiernan’s spouse is the trustee, but of which Mr.
Kiernan has trading authority through a power of attorney, and (iii) 97,629 shares of common stock issuable upon
the exercise of warrants.

(19)
Includes (i) 48,784 shares held by M.S.B. Research Inc., an entity in which Mark Berg holds voting and
investment power over the shares held by the entity, and (ii) 55,788 shares of common stock issuable upon the
exercise of warrants.

(20)

Includes (i) 50,193 shares held by Timothy McInerney, who holds voting and investment power over the shares,
and (ii) 27,894 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants. Mr. McInerney is a registered
representative of a broker-dealer. Mr. McInerney acquired the shares being registered hereunder in the ordinary
course of business, and at the time of the acquisition of the shares and warrants described herein, Mr. McInerney
did not have any arrangements or understandings with any person to distribute such securities.
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(21)Includes (i) 22,002 shares held by Nicholas Ponzio, who holds voting and investment power over the shares, and
(ii) 22,002 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.

(22)Includes (i) 4,713 shares held by Patricia Evans & Preston Evans, who jointly hold voting and investment power
over the shares, and (ii) 22,314 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.

(23)
Includes (i) 6,624 shares held by James Evans, who holds voting and investment power over the shares, and (ii)
19,525 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants. Mr. Evans’ spouse has a community
property interest in the shares.

(24)
Includes (i) 5,892 shares held by Warrenton Ventures, LLC, an entity in which Nicholas Ponzio holds voting and
investment power over the shares held by Warrenton Ventures, LLC; and (ii) 5,892 shares of common stock
issuable upon the exercise of warrants.

(25)

Christian Coluccio holds voting and investment power over the 73,267 shares. Mr. Coluccio is registered
representative of a broker-dealer Mr. Coluccio acquired the shares being registered hereunder in the ordinary
course of business, and at the time of the acquisition of the shares described herein, Mr. Coluccio did not have
any arrangements or understandings with any person to distribute such securities.

(26)

Christopher A. Jones holds voting and investment power over the 72,620 shares. Mr. Jones is a registered
representative of a broker-dealer. Mr. Jones acquired the shares being registered hereunder in the ordinary course
of business, and at the time of the acquisition of the shares and warrants described herein, Mr. Jones did not have
any arrangements or understandings with any person to distribute such securities.

(27) Paul A. Felleti holds voting and investment power over the 20,749 shares.

(28) Dominic Coluccio holds voting and investment power over the 38,904 shares.
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(29) Gregg A. Barbagallo holds voting and investment power over the 16,211 shares.

(30)

Vladimiro Panichi holds voting and investment power over the 3,890 shares. Mr. Panichi is a registered
representative of a broker-dealer. Mr. Panichi acquired the shares being registered hereunder in the ordinary
course of business, and at the time of the acquisition of the shares described herein, Mr. Panichi did not have any
arrangements or understandings with any person to distribute such securities.

(31)

Richard Cardinale holds voting and investment power over the 48,628 shares. Mr. Cardinale is a registered
representative of a broker-dealer. Mr. Cardinale acquired the shares being registered hereunder in the ordinary
course of business, and at the time of the acquisition of the shares and warrants described herein, Mr. Cardinale
did not have any arrangements or understandings with any person to distribute such securities.

(32) Robert L. Curro Giardina holds voting and investment power over the 32,420 shares.

(33) Philomena Giardina holds voting and investment power over the 32,420 shares.

(34) Lawrence P. Giardina holds voting and investment power over the 22,695 shares.

(35) Michael Cardinale holds voting and investment power over the 16,211 shares.

(36) Angelo Bracco holds voting and investment power over the 16,209 shares.

(37)Mr. Charles Nabit is the President of Eastport Investments, Inc. Mr. Nabit is deemed to have voting and
investment power with respect to the shares held by the entity.

(38)Mr. Peter Angelos is the President of Pet-Cal Biotech Corporation. He is deemed to have voting and investment
power with respect to the shares held by the entity.

(39)

Includes (i) 12,520 shares held by Mr. Martin Resnick who holds voting and investment power over the shares
and (ii) 136,505 shares held by Richard & Martin Investments, LLC, an entity in which Mr. Martin Resnick is the
managing member. He is deemed to have voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by the
entity.

(40)Mr. Chris Colecchi is the Managing Member of Broadview Ventures I, LLC. He is deemed to have voting and
investment power with respect to the shares held by the entity.

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

155



84

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

156



PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

This prospectus is to be used by the selling stockholders in connection with a potential resale by certain selling
stockholders of up to an aggregate of 7,043,576 shares of our common stock, consisting of 6,792,532 shares of
common stock and 251,044 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.

The selling stockholders may, from time to time, sell any or all of their shares of common stock on any stock
exchange, market or trading facility on which the shares are traded or in private transactions. These sales may be at
fixed or negotiated prices. The selling stockholders may use any one or more of the following methods when selling
shares:

· ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers;

·block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the shares as agent but may position and resell a portion of
the block as principal to facilitate the transaction;

· purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;

· an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;

· privately negotiated transactions;

·short sales effected after the date the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part is declared effective by
the SEC;

· in transactions through broker-dealers that agree with the selling stockholders to sell a specified number of
such shares at a stipulated price per share;

· a combination of any such methods of sale; and

· any other method permitted pursuant to applicable law.
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The selling stockholders may also sell shares under Rule 144 under the Securities Act, if available, rather than under
this prospectus.

Broker-dealers engaged by the selling stockholders may arrange for other brokers-dealers to participate in sales.
Broker-dealers may receive commissions or discounts from the selling stockholders (or, if any broker-dealer acts as
agent for the purchaser of shares, from the purchaser) in amounts to be negotiated, but, except as set forth in a
supplement to this prospectus, in the case of an agency transaction not in excess of a customary brokerage commission
in compliance with Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”) Rule 2440; and in the case of a principal
transaction a markup or markdown in compliance with FINRA IM-2440. The selling stockholders do not expect these
commissions and discounts to exceed what is customary in the types of transactions involved. Any profits on the
resale of shares of common stock by a broker-dealer acting as principal might be deemed to be underwriting discounts
or commissions under the Securities Act. Discounts, concessions, commissions and similar selling expenses, if any,
attributable to the sale of shares will be borne by a selling stockholder. The selling stockholders may agree to
indemnify any agent, dealer or broker-dealer that participates in transactions involving sales of the shares if liabilities
are imposed on that person under the Securities Act.

The selling stockholders may from time to time pledge or grant a security interest in some or all of the shares of
common stock owned by them and, if they default in the performance of their secured obligations, the pledgees or
secured parties may offer and sell the shares of common stock from time to time under this prospectus after we have
filed a supplement to this prospectus under Rule 424(b)(3) or other applicable provision of the Securities Act
supplementing or amending the list of selling stockholders to include the pledgee, transferee or other successors in
interest as selling stockholders under this prospectus.

The selling stockholders also may transfer the shares of common stock in other circumstances, in which case the
transferees, pledgees or other successors in interest will be the selling beneficial owners for purposes of this
prospectus and may sell the shares of common stock from time to time under this prospectus after we have filed a
supplement to this prospectus under Rule 424(b)(3) or other applicable provision of the Securities Act supplementing
or amending the list of selling stockholders to include the pledgee, transferee or other successors in interest as selling
stockholders under this prospectus.
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The selling stockholders and any broker-dealers or agents that are involved in selling the shares of common stock may
be deemed to be “underwriters” within the meaning of the Securities Act in connection with such sales. In such event,
any commissions received by such broker-dealers or agents and any profit on the resale of the shares of common stock
purchased by them may be deemed to be underwriting commissions or discounts under the Securities Act.

We are required to pay all fees and expenses incident to the registration of the shares of common stock.

None of the selling stockholders have advised us that they have entered into any agreements, understandings or
arrangements with any underwriters or broker-dealers regarding the sale of their shares of common stock, nor that
there is an underwriter or coordinating broker acting in connection with a proposed sale of shares of common stock by
any selling stockholder. If we are notified by any selling stockholder that any material arrangement has been entered
into with a broker-dealer for the sale of shares of common stock, if required, we will file a supplement to this
prospectus. If the selling stockholders use this prospectus for any sale of the shares of common stock, they will be
subject to the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act.

In order to comply with the securities laws of some states, if applicable, the common stock may be sold in these
jurisdictions only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers. In addition, in some states the common stock may
not be sold unless it has been registered or qualified for sale or an exemption from registration or qualification
requirements is available and is complied with.

Under applicable rules and regulations under the Exchange Act, any person engaged in the distribution of the resale
shares may not simultaneously engage in market making activities with respect to the common stock for the applicable
restricted period, as defined in Regulation M of the Exchange Act, prior to the commencement of the distribution. In
addition, the selling stockholders will be subject to the applicable provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and
regulations thereunder, including Regulation M, which may limit the timing of purchases and sales of shares of
common stock by the selling stockholders or any other person. To the extent applicable, we will make copies of this
prospectus (as it may be supplemented or amended from time to time) available to the selling stockholders for the
purpose of satisfying the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act. The selling stockholders may
indemnify any broker-dealer that participates in transactions involving the sale of the shares against certain liabilities,
including liabilities arising under the Securities Act.
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Description of CAPITAL STOCK

The following description summarizes the most important terms of our capital stock. Because the following
description is only a summary, it does not contain all of the information that may be important to you. For a complete
description of the matters set forth in this “Description of Capital Stock,” you should refer to our Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended, and our Bylaws, and to the applicable provisions of Delaware law.

General

Our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, authorizes the issuance of 55,000,000 shares of capital stock, including:
(i) 50,000,000 shares of our common stock, $0.001 par value per share, and (ii) 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock,
$0.001 par value per share.

As of May 15, 2014, there were 11,690,859 shares of our common stock outstanding, held by 107 stockholders of
record not including those held in the “street name,” and no shares of our preferred stock outstanding. Our Board of
Directors is authorized, without stockholder approval, to issue additional shares of our capital stock.

Common Stock

General

The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of our common stock are subject to, and may be adversely
affected by, the rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock that we may designate in the future. In addition,
our Board of Directors has authority to issue the authorized but unissued shares of our common stock without further
action by our stockholders.

Voting Rights

Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters submitted to a vote of
the stockholders, and do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors.
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Dividend Rights

Subject to rights that may be applicable to any outstanding shares of preferred stock and the requirements, if any, with
respect to the setting aside of sums as sinking funds or redemption or purchase accounts for the benefit of the holders
of preferred stock, the holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends, if any, as may be declared from
time to time by our Board of Directors out of assets legally available for dividend payments. Any such dividends shall
be divided among the holders of our common stock on a pro rata basis.

Liquidation Rights

In the event of any liquidation of the Company, the holders of common stock will be entitled to share ratably in the
assets that are remaining after payment or provision for payment of all of our debts and obligations and after
liquidation payments to holders of outstanding shares of preferred stock are made, if any.

No Preemptive or Similar Rights

The holders of common stock have no preferences or rights of conversion, exchange, pre-emption or other
subscription rights, and our common stock is not subject to any sinking fund provisions.

Fully Paid and Non-Assessable

All outstanding shares of our common stock are fully paid and non-assessable.
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Preferred Stock

Our Board of Directors has authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of
preferred stock, in one or more series, and to designate the rights, preferences, powers and restrictions of each such
series. The issuance of preferred stock could have the effect of restricting dividends on common stock, diluting the
voting power of common stock, impairing the liquidation rights of common stock or delaying or preventing a change
in control of the Company without further action by the stockholders.

Options

As of May 15, 2014, there were options outstanding to purchase an aggregate of 4,876,322 shares of our common
stock with a range of exercise prices from $0.16 to $44.50 per share and an average weighted exercise price of
approximately $0.72 per share. The options were issued pursuant to (i) the Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Option
Plan (the former Nile Plan), (ii) the 2006 Stock Option Plan, (iii) the 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan, and (iv) the
2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan.

Warrants

November 2013 Warrants

General Terms. On March 15, 2013, we entered into that certain Convertible Note Purchase Agreement (the “2013
Note Purchase Agreement”) with certain accredited investors pursuant to which we sold an aggregate principal amount
of $450,000 of secured convertible promissory notes (the “2013 Notes”) for an aggregate original issue price of
$382,500, representing a 15% original issue discount. On October 21, 2013, we entered into an amendment to the
2013 Note Purchase Agreement whereby we sold to the holders of the 2013 Notes additional notes having an
aggregate principal amount of $120,510 (the “Additional Notes”). Pursuant to the terms of that certain First Amendment
to Secured Convertible Promissory Notes, dated as of September 27, 2013, the 2013 Notes and the Additional Notes
converted at the close of the merger between Nile and Capricor on November 20, 2013 into 251,044 shares of our
common stock and warrants to purchase 251,044 shares of our common stock at a strike price of $2.2725. We refer to
these warrants in this prospectus as the November 2013 Warrants. The exercise price and number of shares issued
upon exercise of the November 2013 Warrants are subject to adjustment in certain cases, as described below. Please
see the section of this prospectus entitled “Prospectus Summary – Description of Private Placements” for more
information about these private placement transactions.
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Exercisability. The November 2013 Warrants are exercisable immediately upon issuance and may be exercised at any
time prior to November 20, 2018. The November 2013 Warrants may be exercised in whole or in part at the
applicable exercise price until expiration of the November 2013 Warrants. No fractional shares will be issued upon the
exercise of the November 2013 Warrants. As of the date of this prospectus, none of the November 2013 Warrants
have been exercised.

Adjustments. The exercise price and number of shares issuable upon exercise of the November 2013 Warrants are
subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, such as in the event of a stock dividend, stock split or combination.
Additionally, an adjustment would be made in the case of (i) a consolidation or merger of the Company with or into
another person, in which the stockholders of the Company as of immediately prior to the transaction own less than a
majority of the outstanding stock of the surviving entity, (ii) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Company or a majority of our common stock, (iii) any tender offer or exchange, subject to certain conditions, or (iv)
any reclassification of our common stock or any compulsory share exchange pursuant to which our common stock is
effectively converted into or exchanged for other securities, cash or property.

Warrant holder Not a Stockholder. The November 2013 Warrants do not confer upon the holders thereof any voting,
dividend or other rights of a stockholder of the Company.

Registration Rights

Pursuant to the terms of the 2013 Note Purchase Agreement, we agreed to register the resale of (i) the shares of
common stock issuable upon conversion of the 2013 Notes and (ii) the shares of common stock underlying the
November 2013 Warrants, under the Securities Act on Form S-1 or any other appropriate form in the Company’s sole
discretion. The registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part is being filed to satisfy this obligation.
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Anti-Takeover Effects of Certain Provisions of DGCL and Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

The provisions of the DGCL, our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, and our Bylaws discussed below may be
deemed to have an anti-takeover effect and may delay, deter or prevent a tender offer or takeover attempt that a
stockholder might consider to be in its best interests, including attempts that might result in a premium being paid
over the market price for the shares held by stockholders. These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of
continuity and stability in the composition of our Board of Directors and in the policies formulated by the Board of
Directors and to discourage certain types of transactions that may involve an actual or threatened change of control.
These provisions are designed to reduce our vulnerability to an unsolicited acquisition proposal and are intended to
discourage certain tactics that may be used in proxy fights. Such provisions may also have the effect of preventing
changes in our management.

Section 203 of the DGCL

As a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL. In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly
held Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of
three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business
combination is, or the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder was, approved in a prescribed
manner or another prescribed exception applies. For purposes of Section 203, a “business combination” is defined
broadly to include, among other things, a merger, asset or stock sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit
to the interested stockholder. Subject to certain exceptions, an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with
affiliates and associates, owns, (or within three years prior, did own) 15% or more of the corporation’s voting stock.

Concentration of Ownership

Capricor’s former stockholders, many of whom are executive officers and directors continuing with the Company,
together with their respective affiliates, beneficially own or control approximately 90% of the outstanding shares of
the Company. Accordingly, these stockholders will have substantial influence over the outcome of a corporate action
of the Company requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors, any merger, consolidation or sale
of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets or any other significant corporate transaction. These stockholders
may also exert influence in delaying or preventing a change in control of the Company, even if such change in control
would benefit the other stockholders of the Company.

Issuance of Additional Shares
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Our Board of Directors has authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of
preferred stock, in one or more series and to designate the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of each series.
The issuance of preferred stock could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of our Company
without further action by the stockholders.

In addition, our Board of Directors has authority to issue the authorized but unissued shares of our common stock,
without further action by the stockholders. Under certain circumstances, we could use the additional shares to create
voting impediments or to frustrate persons seeking to effect a takeover or otherwise gain control by, for example,
issuing those shares in private placement transactions to purchasers who are likely to side with our Board of Directors
in opposing a hostile takeover bid.

Advance Notice Provisions for Stockholder Proposals

Our Bylaws provide that the nomination of persons to stand for election to the Board of Directors at any annual or
special meeting of stockholders may be made by the holders of the Company’s common stock only if written notice of
such stockholder’s intent to make such nomination has been given to the Secretary of the Company not later than 30
days prior to the meeting.

Furthermore, our Bylaws require that any stockholder who gives notice of any stockholder proposal shall deliver
therewith the text of the proposal to be presented and a brief written statement of the reasons why such stockholder
favors the proposal and setting forth such stockholder’s name and address, the number and class of all shares of each
class of stock of the Company beneficially owned by such stockholder and any financial interest of such stockholder
in the proposal (other than as a stockholder).
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The foregoing provisions may preclude our stockholders from bringing matters or from making nominations for
directors at our annual meeting of stockholders if the proposals are not in compliance with the required procedures.
Additionally, the requisite procedures may deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect
its own nominees to our Board or Directors or otherwise attempting to gain control of the Company.

Special Meetings of Stockholders

Our Bylaws provide that special meetings of stockholders may be called by the Chairman of the Board, the President
or the Board of Directors. A special meeting shall be called by the President or Secretary upon one or more written
demands (which must state the purpose or purposes therefore) signed and dated by the holders of shares representing
not less than 10% of all votes entitled to be cast on any issue(s) that may be properly proposed to be considered at the
special meeting. These provisions may delay or impede the ability of a stockholder or group of stockholders to force
consideration of a proposal or stockholders holding a majority of our outstanding capital stock to take a certain desired
action.

Filling of Vacancies on the Board of Directors

Our Bylaws provide that a vacancy on the Board of Directors caused by the removal of a director or by an increase in
the authorized number of directors in between annual meetings may be filled only by a majority of the remaining
directors. In addition, the number of directors constituting our Board of Directors may only be set from time to time
by resolution of our Board of Directors. These provisions would prevent a stockholder from increasing the size of our
Board of Directors and then gaining control of our Board of Directors by filling any resulting vacancies with its own
nominees; thereby making it more difficult to change the composition of our Board of Directors.

Amendment of Our Bylaws

Our Board of Directors is expressly authorized to adopt, amend or repeal our Bylaws.

Listing

Our common stock is quoted on the OTCQB tier of the OTC Markets, LLC under the symbol “CAPR”.
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Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.
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MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES TO NON-U.S. HOLDERS

This section summarizes the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of our
common stock by a non-U.S. holder. For purposes of this section, a “non-U.S. holder” means a beneficial owner of our
common stock (other than a partnership) that is not for U.S. federal income tax purposes any of the following:

· An individual citizen or resident of the United States;

·A corporation (or any other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized
in or under the laws of the United States, any state thereof, or the District of Columbia;

· An estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

·
A trust if it (1) is subject to the primary supervision of a court within the United States and one or more U.S. persons
have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust, or (2) has a valid election in effect under applicable
U.S. Treasury regulations to be treated as a U.S. person.

This section does not consider the specific facts and circumstances that may be relevant to a particular non-U.S.
holder, nor does it address any estate or gift tax consequences or the treatment of a non-U.S. holder under the laws of
any state, local or foreign taxing jurisdiction. In addition, it does not represent a detailed description of the United
States federal income tax consequences applicable to you if you are subject to special treatment under the United
States federal income tax laws (including if you are a United States expatriate, “controlled foreign corporation,” “passive
foreign investment company” or a partnership or other pass-through entity for United States federal income tax
purposes). Except where noted, this section deals only with common stock that is held as a capital asset. This section
is based on the tax laws of the United States, including the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, existing and
proposed regulations, and administrative and judicial interpretations, all as currently in effect. These laws are subject
to change, possibly on a retroactive basis, which may result in U.S. federal income tax consequences different from
those summarized below.

If a partnership (or any other entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holds our common
stock, the United States federal income tax treatment of a partner will generally depend on the status of the partner and
the tax treatment of the partnership. A partner in a partnership holding the common stock should consult its tax
advisor with regard to the United States federal income tax treatment of an investment in the common stock.

You should consult a tax advisor regarding the United States federal tax consequences of acquiring, holding and
disposing of common stock in your particular circumstances, as well as any tax consequences that may arise under the
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laws of any state, local or foreign taxing jurisdiction.

Distributions on Common Stock

If we make cash or other property distributions on shares of our common stock, such distributions generally will
constitute dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes to the extent paid from our current or accumulated earnings
and profits, as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles. Amounts not treated as dividends for U.S. federal
income tax purposes will constitute a return of capital and will first be applied against and reduce a holder’s adjusted
tax basis in the common stock, but not below zero. Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings
and profits and in excess of a non-U.S. holder’s tax basis in its shares will be treated as gain realized on the sale or
other disposition of the common stock and will be treated as described under “Gain on Disposition of Common Stock”
below.

Except as described below, if you are a non-U.S. holder of common stock, dividends paid to you are subject to
withholding of United States federal income tax at a 30% rate or at a lower rate if you are eligible for the benefits of
an income tax treaty that provides for a lower rate. Even if you are eligible for a lower treaty rate, we will generally be
required to withhold at a 30% rate (rather than the lower treaty rate) on dividend payments to you, unless you have
furnished us with:

·
a valid Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN or other applicable form upon which you certify, under penalties of
perjury, your status as a non-United States person and your entitlement to the lower treaty rate with respect to such
payments, or
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·
in the case of payments made to certain foreign intermediaries, other documentary evidence establishing your
entitlement to the lower treaty rate in accordance with U.S. Treasury regulations. Special certification and other
requirements apply to certain non-U.S. holders that are pass-through entities rather than corporations or individuals.

If you are eligible for a reduced rate of United States withholding tax under a tax treaty, you may obtain a refund of
any amounts withheld in excess of that rate by filing a refund claim with the United States Internal Revenue Service.

If dividends paid to you are “effectively connected” with your conduct of a trade or business within the United States,
and, if required by a tax treaty, the dividends are attributable to a permanent establishment maintained in the United
States, we generally are not required to withhold tax from the dividends, provided that you have furnished to us a
valid Internal Revenue Service Form W-8ECI or other applicable form upon which you represent, under penalties of
perjury, that:

· you are a non-United States person, and

·the dividends are effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business within the United States and are
includible in your gross income.

“Effectively connected” dividends are taxed at rates applicable to United States citizens, resident aliens and domestic
United States corporations.

If you are a corporate non-U.S. holder, “effectively connected” dividends that you receive may, under certain
circumstances, be subject to an additional “branch profits tax” at a 30% rate or at a lower rate if you are eligible for the
benefits of an income tax treaty that provides for a lower rate.

Gain on Disposition of Common Stock

Subject to the discussion of backup withholding and withholding tax relating to foreign accounts below, if you are a
non-U.S. holder, you generally will not be subject to United States federal income tax on gain that you recognize on a
disposition of our common stock unless:

· the gain is “effectively connected” with your conduct of a trade or business in the United States, and the gain is
attributable to a permanent establishment that you maintain in the United States, if that is required by an applicable
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income tax treaty as a condition for subjecting you to United States taxation on a net income basis,

·you are an individual, you hold the common stock as a capital asset, you are present in the United States for 183 or
more days in the taxable year of the sale and certain other conditions exist, or

·
we are or have been a United States real property holding corporation for federal income tax purposes and you held,
directly or indirectly, at any time during the five-year period ending on the date of disposition, more than 5% of the
common stock and you are not eligible for any treaty exemption.

An individual non-U.S. holder described in the first bullet point immediately above will be subject to tax on the net
gain derived from the sale under regular graduated United States federal income tax rates. An individual non-U.S.
holder described in the second bullet point immediately above will be subject to a flat 30% tax on the gain derived
from the sale, which may be offset by United States source capital losses, even though the individual is not considered
a resident of the United States. If you are a corporate non-U.S. holder, “effectively connected” gains that you recognize
may also, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional “branch profits tax” at a 30% rate or at a lower rate if
you are eligible for the benefits of an income tax treaty that provides for a lower rate.

We have not been, are not and do not anticipate becoming a United States real property holding corporation for United
States federal income tax purposes.
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Additional Withholding Tax Relating to Foreign Accounts

A 30% United States federal withholding tax may apply to any dividends paid after December 31, 2013, and the gross
proceeds from a disposition of our common stock occurring after December 31, 2016, in each case paid to (1) a
“foreign financial institution” (as specifically defined in the legislation), whether such foreign financial institution is the
beneficial owner or an intermediary, unless such foreign financial institution agrees to verify, report and disclose its
United States “account” holders (as specifically defined in the legislation) and meets certain other specified
requirements, or (2) a non-financial foreign entity, whether such non-financial foreign entity is the beneficial owner or
an intermediary, unless such entity provides a certification that the beneficial owner of the payment does not have any
substantial United States owners or provides the name, address and taxpayer identification number of each such
substantial United States owner and certain other specified requirements are met. In certain cases, the relevant foreign
financial institution or non-financial foreign entity may qualify for an exemption from, or be deemed to be in
compliance with, these rules. You should consult your own tax advisor regarding this legislation and whether it may
be relevant to your ownership and disposition of our common stock.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

We must report annually to the IRS and to each non-U.S. holder the amount of distributions on our common stock
paid to such holder and the amount of tax withheld, if any, with respect to those distributions. These information
reporting requirements apply even if no withholding was required. This information also may be made available under
a specific treaty or agreement to the tax authorities in the country in which the non-U.S. holder resides or is
established.

Backup withholding may apply to distribution payments to a non-U.S. holder of our common stock and information
reporting and backup withholding may apply to the payments of the proceeds of a sale of our common stock within
the U.S. or through certain U.S.-related financial intermediaries, unless the non-U.S. holder furnishes to us or our
paying agent the required certification as to its non-U.S. status, such as by providing a valid IRS Form W-8BEN or
IRS Form W-8ECI, or certain other requirements are met. Notwithstanding the foregoing, backup withholding may
apply if either we have or our paying agent has actual knowledge, or reason to know, that the holder is a U.S. person
that is not an exempt recipient.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be
allowed as a refund or a credit against a non-U.S. holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability, provided the required
information is timely furnished to the IRS. Non-U.S. holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the
application of the information reporting and backup withholding rules to them.

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

172



93

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

173



Legal Matters

Paul Hastings LLP, Palo Alto, California, which has acted as our counsel in connection with this offering, will pass
upon the validity of the shares of common stock being offered by this prospectus.

Experts

The audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2012 and 2013, and for the years then ended,
included in this prospectus, have been included herein in reliance upon the report of Rose, Snyder and Jacobs LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm and upon the report of such firm given upon their authority as experts
in accounting and auditing. Additionally, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for the period
ending March 31, 2014 and 2013 have been included in this prospectus.

Where You Can Find More Information

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the shares of
common stock and shares of common stock underlying warrants offered by this prospectus. This prospectus, which
constitutes a part of the registration statement, does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration
statement, some of which is contained in exhibits to the registration statement as permitted by the rules and
regulations of the SEC. For further information with respect to us and our common stock, we refer you to the
registration statement, including the exhibits filed as a part of the registration statement. Statements contained in this
prospectus concerning the contents of any contract or any other document are not necessarily complete. If a contract
or document has been filed as an exhibit to the registration statement, please see the copy of the contract or document
that has been filed. Each statement in this prospectus relating to a contract or document filed as an exhibit is qualified
in all respects by the filed exhibit. You may obtain copies of this information by mail from the Public Reference
Section of the Securities and Exchange Commission, 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549, at
prescribed rates. You may obtain information on the operation of the public reference rooms by calling the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy statements and other
information about issuers, like us, that file electronically with the SEC. The address of that website is www.sec.gov.

We are subject to the informational and reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and have filed and will file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the
SEC. These periodic reports, proxy statements and other information will be available for inspection and copying at
the SEC’s public reference facilities and the website of the SEC referred to above. We also maintain a website at
www.capricor.com. You may access these materials free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are
electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Information contained on our website is not a part of this
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prospectus and the inclusion of our website address in this prospectus is an inactive textual reference only.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Capricor Therapeutics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Capricor Therapeutics, Inc. and its Subsidiary as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through
December 31, 2013. Capricor Therapeutics, Inc.’s management is responsible for these financial statements. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Capricor Therapeutics, Inc. and its Subsidiary as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for years then ended and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through
December 31, 2013 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Rose Snyder & Jacobs LLP

Rose, Snyder & Jacobs LLP

Encino, California
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

ASSETS
2013 2012

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $1,729,537 $170,106
Marketable securities 326,494 4,192,726
Restricted Cash 1,401,859 -
Grants receivable - 767,163
Interest receivable 187 25,215
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 222,763 38,042

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 3,680,840 5,193,252

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, at cost
Furniture and equipment 38,850 29,623
Laboratory equipment 115,766 68,878

154,616 98,501
Less accumulated depreciation (80,429 ) (64,558 )

NET PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 74,187 33,943

OTHER ASSETS
Patents, net of accumulated amortization of $32,475 and $28,145 respectively 227,207 178,307
Loan fees, net of accumulated amortization of $6,722 and $0, respectively 29,945 -
In-process research and development, net of accumulated amortization of $0 1,500,000 -
Deposits 25,728 18,088

TOTAL ASSETS $5,537,907 $5,423,590

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $1,506,509 $264,707
Accounts payable and accrued expenses, related party 382,142 164,484
Sub-award payable, related party 41,855 75,072
Accrued royalties 122,416 24,904

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,052,922 529,167
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LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Loan payable 3,961,733 -
Accrued interest 58,134 -

TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 4,019,867 -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,072,789 529,167

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common stock, $0.001 par, 50,000,000 and 100,000,000 shares
authorized, respectively, 11,687,747 and 10,351,294
 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 11,687 10,351
Additional paid-in capital 15,552,946 12,114,689
Subscription receivable - (2,211 )
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (980 ) (21,795 )
Deficit accumulated during the development stage (16,098,535) (7,206,611 )

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (534,882 ) 4,894,423

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY $5,537,907 $5,423,590

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012 AND THE PERIOD

FROM JULY 5, 2005 (INCEPTION) THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2013

Years Ended December
31,

July 5, 2005
(inception)
through
December
31,

2013 2012 2013

GRANT INCOME $503,233 $1,898,764 $4,180,970

OPERATING EXPENSES
Research and development 5,197,178 2,634,222 11,499,595
General and administrative 2,208,955 1,364,582 6,953,667

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 7,406,133 3,998,804 18,453,262

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS (6,902,900 ) (2,100,040) (14,272,292)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Investment income (loss) (11,890 ) 28,785 150,891
Interest expense (58,134 ) - (58,134 )
Impairment of goodwill (1,919,000 ) - (1,919,000 )

TOTAL OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES) (1,989,024 ) 28,785 (1,826,243 )

NET LOSS (8,891,924 ) (2,071,255) (16,098,535)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE GAIN (LOSS)
Net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities 20,815 (21,795 ) (980 )

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $(8,871,109 ) $(2,093,050) $(16,099,515)

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $(0.85 ) $(0.21 )

Weighted average number of shares,
basic and diluted 10,501,416 9,945,251
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

FOR THE PERIOD FROM JULY 5, 2005 (INCEPTION) THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2013

COMMON STOCK

SHARES AMOUNT
ADDITIONAL
PAID-IN
CAPITAL

SUBSCRIPTION
RECEIVABLE

OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE
LOSS

DEFICIT
ACCUMULATED
DURING THE
DEVELOPMENT
STAGE

TOTAL
STOCKHOLDERS'
EQUITY
(DEFICIT)

Balance, July
5, 2005 - $- $- $- $- $- $-

Issuance of
common
shares to
founders

3,734,740 3,735 (1,935 ) (1,800 ) - - $-

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (36 ) - - $(36 )

Net loss - - - - - 36 $36
Balance at
December 31,
2005

3,734,740 3,735 (1,935 ) (1,836 ) - 36 $-

Series A-1
preferred stock
issuance for
$1.54 per
share, as
converted

1,950,364 1,950 3,006,050 - - - $3,008,000

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (86 ) - - $(86 )

Net loss - - - - - (1,171,419 ) $(1,171,419 )
Balance at
December 31,
2006

5,685,104 5,685 3,004,115 (1,922 ) - (1,171,383 ) $1,836,495

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (71 ) - - $(71 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 5,820 - - - $5,820

Net loss - - - - - (979,076 ) $(979,076 )
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Balance at
December 31,
2007

5,685,104 5,685 3,009,935 (1,993 ) - (2,150,459 ) $863,168

Common
Stock issued
for services at
$0.15 per
share

25,060 25 3,833 - - - $3,858

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (37 ) - - $(37 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 16,422 - - - $16,422

Net loss - - - - - (630,859 ) $(630,859 )
Balance at
December 31,
2008

5,710,164 5,710 3,030,190 (2,030 ) - (2,781,318 ) $252,552

Series A-2
Preferred stock
and warrants
issued for cash
at $1.83 per
share, as
converted

436,816 437 799,570 - - - $800,007

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (69 ) - - $(69 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 8,251 - - - $8,251

Net loss - - - - - (148,970 ) $(148,970 )
Balance at
December 31,
2009

6,146,980 6,147 3,838,011 (2,099 ) - (2,930,288 ) $911,771

Series A-2
Preferred stock
and warrants
issued for cash
at $1.83 per
share, as
converted

1,092,030 1,092 1,998,908 - - - $2,000,000

Equity
Offering
transaction
costs

- - (91,155 ) - - - $(91,155 )

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (57 ) - - $(57 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 24,163 - - - $24,163

Net loss - - - - - (1,055,748 ) $(1,055,748 )
7,239,010 7,239 5,769,927 (2,156 ) - (3,986,036 ) $1,788,974
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Balance at
December 31,
2010
Series A-3
Preferred stock
and warrants
issued for cash
at $1.93 per
share, as
converted

518,714 519 999,481 - - - $1,000,000

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (29 ) - - $(29 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 15,527 - - - $15,527

Net loss - - - - - (1,149,320 ) $(1,149,320 )
Balance at
December 31,
2011

7,757,724 7,758 6,784,935 (2,185 ) - (5,135,356 ) $1,655,152

Series A-3
Preferred stock
and warrants
issued for cash
at $1.93 per
share, as
converted

2,593,570 2,594 4,997,406 - - - $5,000,000

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (26 ) - - $(26 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 332,347 - - - $332,347

Unrealized
loss on
marketable
securities

- - - - (21,795 ) - $(21,795 )

Net loss - - - - - (2,071,255 ) $(2,071,255 )
Balance at
December 31,
2012

10,351,294 10,351 12,114,689 (2,211 ) (21,795 ) (7,206,611 ) $4,894,423

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (1 ) - - $(1 )

Proceeds from
subscription
receivable

- - - 2,212 - - $2,212

Stock Based
Compensation - - 263,593 - - - $263,593

Reverse
merger
transaction

1,336,453 1,336 3,174,664 - - - $3,176,000
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   Reverse
acquisition of
Nile
Unrealized
gain (loss) on
marketable
securities

- - - - 20,815 - $20,815

Net loss - - - - - (8,891,924 ) $(8,891,924 )
Balance at
December 31,
2013

11,687,747 $11,687 $15,552,946 $- $(980 ) $(16,098,535 ) $(534,882 )

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012 AND THE PERIOD

FROM JULY 5, 2005 (INCEPTION) THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2013

Years Ended December
31,

 July 5, 2005
(inception)
through
December
31,

2013 2012  2013
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $(8,891,924) $(2,071,255) $(16,098,535)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Gain on sale of property and equipment - - (3,707 )
Depreciation and amortization 26,923 20,337 164,732
Common stock issued for services - - 3,858
Impairment of goodwill 1,919,000 - 1,919,000
Stock-based compensation 263,593 332,347 666,123
Change in assets - (increase) decrease:
Restricted cash (1,401,859) - (1,401,859 )
Grants receivable 767,163 (359,547 ) -
Interest receivable 25,028 (25,215 ) (187 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (161,617 ) (26,684 ) (199,659 )
Deposits (5,105 ) (8,980 ) (23,193 )
Change in liabilities - increase (decrease):
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 974,710 77,149 1,239,006
Accounts payable and accrued expenses, related party 217,658 4,554 382,142
Sub-award payable, related party (33,217 ) (5,349 ) 41,855
Accrued royalties 97,512 - 122,416
Accrued interest 58,134 - 58,134

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (6,144,001) (2,062,643) (13,129,874)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of marketable securities (226,998 ) (4,214,521) (4,441,519 )
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities 4,114,045 - 4,114,045
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment - - 88,908
Payments for purchase of property and equipment (56,115 ) (13,428 ) (284,923 )
Proceeds from reverse merger 664 - 664
Payments for patents (53,230 ) (89,550 ) (259,682 )
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NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 3,778,366 (4,317,499) (782,507 )

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from the sale of series A-1 preferred stock - - 3,008,000
Proceeds from the sale of series A-2 preferred stock - - 2,800,007
Proceeds from the sale of series A-3 preferred stock - 5,000,000 6,000,000
Proceeds from loan payable, net 3,925,066 - 3,925,066
Costs related to the issuance of preferred stock and warrants - - (91,155 )

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 3,925,066 5,000,000 15,641,918

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 1,559,431 (1,380,142) 1,729,537

Cash and cash equivalents balance at beginning of period 170,106 1,550,248 -

Cash and cash equivalents balance at end of period $1,729,537 $170,106 $1,729,537

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:
Interest paid in cash $- $- $-
Income taxes paid in cash $- $- $-

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

1.ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

Capricor Therapeutics, Inc., or the Company, is a development stage, biopharmaceutical company whose mission is to
improve the treatment of cardiovascular diseases by commercializing innovative therapies. Capricor, Inc., or Capricor
(a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), was founded in 2005 as a Delaware corporation based on the innovative
work of its founder, Eduardo Marbán, M.D., Ph.D. After completion of a merger with Nile Therapeutics, Inc. or Nile,
on November 20, 2013, Nile formally changed its name to Capricor Therapeutics, Inc. Capricor Therapeutics, together
with our subsidiary, Capricor, currently have five drug candidates in various stages of development.

Consummation of Merger

On November 20, 2013, pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of July 7,
2013, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of
September 27, 2013 (as amended, the “Merger Agreement”), by and among Nile Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (“Nile”), Bovet Merger Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nile (“Merger Sub”),
and Capricor, Merger Sub merged with and into Capricor and Capricor became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nile
(the “Merger”). Immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”) and in connection therewith,
Nile filed certain amendments to its certificate of incorporation which, among other things (i) effected a 1-for-50
reverse split of its common stock (the “Reverse Stock Split”), (ii) changed its corporate name from “Nile Therapeutics,
Inc.” to “Capricor Therapeutics, Inc.,” and (iii) effected a reduction in the total number of authorized shares of common
stock from 100,000,000 to 50,000,000, and a reduction in the total number of authorized shares of preferred stock
from 10,000,000 to 5,000,000.

At the Effective Time and in connection with the Merger, each outstanding share of Capricor’s Series A-1, Series A-2
and Series A-3 Preferred Stock was converted into one share of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of
Capricor (the “Capricor Common Stock”).
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As a result of the Merger and in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, each outstanding share of
Capricor Common Stock was converted into the right to receive approximately 2.07 shares of the common stock of
Capricor Therapeutics, par value $0.001 per share (the “Capricor Therapeutics Common Stock”), on a post 1-for-50
Reverse Stock Split basis. Immediately after the Effective Time and in accordance with the terms of the Merger
Agreement, the former Capricor stockholders owned approximately 90% of the outstanding common stock of
Capricor Therapeutics, and the Nile stockholders owned approximately 10% of the outstanding common stock of
Capricor Therapeutics, in each case on a fully-diluted basis. For accounting purposes, the Merger is accounted for as a
reverse merger with Capricor as the accounting acquiror (legal acquiree) and Nile as the accounting acquiree (legal
acquiror).

Since Capricor was deemed to be the accounting acquiror in the merger, the historical financial information for
periods prior to the merger reflect the financial information and activities solely of Capricor and not of Nile. The
historical equity of Capricor has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the equity structure of Capricor Therapeutics
using the respective exchange ratio established in the merger between Nile and Capricor, which reflects the number of
shares Capricor Therapeutics issued to equity holders of Capricor as a result of the merger. The retroactive revision of
Capricor’s equity includes Capricor’s preferred stock as if such shares of preferred stock had been converted into
Capricor common stock at the respective dates of issuance, which is consistent with the terms of the merger.
Accordingly, all common and preferred shares and per share amounts for all periods presented in the consolidated
financial statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and notes thereto have been adjusted
retrospectively, where applicable, to reflect the respective exchange ratio established in the merger.

The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred pursuant to the merger totaled $3,176,000. The
preliminary goodwill recorded for the merger was $1,919,000. The initial fair values set forth below may be adjusted
as additional information is obtained through the measurement period of the transaction and change the fair value
allocation as of the acquisition date.

The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price on November 20, 2013 to the
estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the merger:

F-7
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

1.ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash $664
Prepaid expenses 25,639
In-process research and development 1,500,000
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (269,303 )
    Net assets acquired 1,257,000
Goodwill 1,919,000
    Total consideration $3,176,000

Goodwill of $1,919,000 was comprised of the fair value of the stock issued in the merger of $3,176,000 less net assets
acquired of $1,257,000. The Company determined goodwill to be fully impaired as of December 31, 2013. Since the
acquisition date, the results of Nile have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial results for the period
from November 20, 2013 through December 31, 2013.

After the Effective Time, each then outstanding Capricor stock option, whether vested or unvested, was assumed by
Capricor Therapeutics in accordance with the terms of (i) the 2006 Stock Option Plan, (ii) the 2012 Restated Equity
Incentive Plan, or (iii) the 2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, as applicable, and the stock option
agreement under which each such option was issued. All rights with respect to Capricor Common Stock under
outstanding Capricor options were converted into rights with respect to Capricor Therapeutics Common Stock.

Basis of Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and our wholly-owned subsidiary. All
intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Development Stage Activities
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The Company is a development stage enterprise since it has not yet generated any revenue from the sale of products
and, through December 31, 2013, its efforts have been principally devoted to developing its licensed technologies,
recruiting personnel, developing its intellectual property portfolio, and raising capital. Accordingly, the accompanying
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) 915, “Development Stage Entities.” The Company has experienced net losses since its inception and has an
accumulated deficit of approximately $16.1 million at December 31, 2013. The Company expects to incur substantial
and increasing losses and have negative net cash flows from operating activities as it expands its technology portfolio
and engages in further research and development activities, particularly the conducting of pre-clinical and clinical
trials.

Liquidity

The Company has historically financed its operations from equity financings. Since 2005, Capricor has used equity
financed cash, government grant income and a CIRM loan award to finance its research and development activities as
well as operational expenses.

Cash resources consisting of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities as of December 31, 2013 were
approximately $2.1 million, compared to $4.4 million as of December 31, 2012. Additionally, on January 7, 2014,
Capricor received $12.5 million from Janssen Biotech, Inc. pursuant to the terms of the Collaboration Agreement and
Exclusive License Option entered into on December 27, 2013. Furthermore, the Company will need substantial
additional financing in the future until it can achieve profitability, if ever. The Company’s continued operations will
depend on its ability to raise additional funds through various potential sources, such as equity and debt financing, or
to license its compounds to another pharmaceutical company. The Company will continue to fund operations from
cash on hand and through sources of capital similar to those previously described, as well as government funded
grants, and/or loans.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

1.ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures.
Management uses its historical records and knowledge of its business in making these estimates. Accordingly, actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to
be cash equivalents.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the period incurred.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the related estimated useful lives.

Description Estimated Useful Life
Office equipment, lab equipment and furniture 5 – 7 years
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Government Research Grants

Government research grants that provide funding for research and development activities are recognized as income
when the related expenses are incurred, when applicable.

Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2013, restricted cash represents funds received under Capricor’s Loan Agreement with the
California Institute for Regenerative Medicine (“CIRM”) (see note 2 below), to be allocated to the ALLSTAR clinical
trial research costs as incurred.

Marketable Securities

At December 31, 2013, marketable securities consist primarily of United States treasuries. These investments are
considered available-for-sale. Realized gains and losses on the sale of debt and equity securities are determined on the
specific identification method. Unrealized gains and losses are presented as other comprehensive income (loss).

Intangible Assets

Amounts attributable to intellectual property consist primarily of the costs associated with the acquisition of certain
technologies, patents, patents pending, and related intangible assets with respect to research and development
activities. These long-term assets are stated at cost and are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the respective
estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from five to fifteen years beginning on the date the patents become
effective. Amortization expense was $4,330, $4,330 and $ 297,196 for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2013, respectively. Future amortization
expense for the next five years is estimated to be $4,330 per year. At December 31, 2013, the Company had $194,732
attributable to pending patents for which amortization has not begun.

As a result the merger, the Company recorded $1.5 million as in-process research and development, a component of
intangible assets. An external valuation was performed to establish the value of the intellectual property primarily
from licensed assets from the Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research that are currently being
evaluated internally for future development plans. As of December 31, 2013, the Company has not begun amortizing
the in-process research and development.
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Long-Lived Assets

The Company accounts for the impairment and disposition of long-lived assets in accordance with guidance issued by
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”). Long-lived assets to be held and used are reviewed for events or
changes in circumstances that indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable, or annually. No impairment
was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception)
through December 31, 2013.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

1.ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill

The Company calculates goodwill as the difference between the acquisition date fair value of the estimated
consideration paid in the merger and the values assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not
amortized but is generally subject to an impairment test annually or more frequently if an event or circumstance
indicates that an impairment loss may have been incurred. The Company determined the goodwill balance of $1.9
million to be impaired as of December 31, 2013, and charged such amount to other expenses.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are recognized for the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred tax
liabilities and assets are recognized for the future tax consequences of transactions that have been recognized in the
Company's financial statements or tax returns. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that
some portion or the entire deferred tax asset will not be realized.

The Company uses guidance issued by the FASB that clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes
recognized in an enterprise's financial statements and prescribes a recognition threshold of more likely than not and a
measurement process for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. In making this assessment, a company must determine whether it is more likely than not that a
tax position will be sustained upon examination, based solely on the technical merits of the position and must assume
that the tax position will be examined by taxing authorities. The Company’s policy is to include interest and penalties
related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. Interest and penalties totaled $0 for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2013. The
Company files income tax returns with the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and the California Franchise Tax Board.
The Company’s net operating loss carryforwards are subject to IRS examination until they are fully utilized and such
tax years are closed.
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Loan Payable

The Company accounts for the funds advanced under its California Institute for Regenerative Medicine (“CIRM”) Loan
Agreement (note 2) as a loan payable as the eventual repayment of the loan proceeds or its forgiveness is contingent
upon certain future milestones being met and other conditions. As the likelihood of whether or not the Company will
ever achieve these milestones or satisfy these conditions cannot be reasonably predicted at this time, the Company
records these amounts as a loan payable.

Research and Development

Costs relating to the design and development of new products are expensed as research and development as incurred
in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 730-10, Research and Development. Research
and development costs amounted to $5,197,178, $2,634,222 and $11,499,595 for the years ended December 31, 2013
and 2012 and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2013, respectively.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) generally represents all changes in stockholders’ equity during the period except those
resulting from investments by, or distributions to, stockholders. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and
for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2013, the Company’s comprehensive income (loss)
was $20,815, $(21,795), and $(980), respectively. The Company’s other comprehensive income (loss) is related to a
net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based employee compensation arrangements in accordance with guidance issued by
the FASB, which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment
awards made to employees, consultants, and directors based on estimated fair values.

The Company estimates the fair value of stock-based compensation awards on the date of grant using an
option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as
expense over the requisite service periods in the Company's statements of operations.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

1.ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Company estimates the fair value of stock-based compensation awards using the Black-Scholes model. This
model requires the Company to estimate the expected volatility and value of its common stock and the expected term
of the stock options; all of which are highly complex and subjective variables. The variables take into consideration,
among other things, actual and projected employee stock option exercise behavior. The Company calculates an
average of historical volatility of similar companies as a basis for its expected volatility. Expected term is computed
using the simplified method provided within Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110.
The Company has selected a risk-free rate based on the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury securities with a
maturity equivalent to the expected term of the options.

Earnings (Loss) per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during
the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share are computed using the weighted-average number of common shares and
dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential common shares, which primarily
consist of stock options issued to employees and warrants issued to third parties, have been excluded from the diluted
loss per share calculation because their effect is anti-dilutive.

For the year ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, warrants and options to purchase 5,220,800 and
5,413,413 shares, respectively, have been excluded from the computation of potentially dilutive securities.

Fair Value Measurements

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the balance sheet are categorized based upon the level of judgment
associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. The categories are as follows:
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Level Input: Input Definition:

Level I Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices for identical assets or
liabilities in 
active markets at the measurement date.

Level II Inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level I, that are
observable 
for the asset or liability through corroboration with market data
at the 
measurement date.

Level III Unobservable inputs that reflect management's best estimate of
what
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at
the 
measurement date.

The following table summarizes fair value measurements by level at December 31, 2013 and 2012 for assets and
liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

December 31, 2013
 Level I  Level II  Level III  Total 

Marketable securities $326,494 $- $- $326,494

December 31, 2012

Level I Level
II

Level
III Total

Marketable securities $4,192,726 $ - $ - $4,192,726

Carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet of cash and cash equivalents, grants receivable and accounts payable
and accrued expenses, approximate fair value due to their relatively short maturity. The carrying amounts of the
Company’s marketable securities approximate fair value based on market quotations from national exchanges at the
balance sheet date. Interest and dividend income are recognized separately on the income statement based on
classifications provided by the brokerage firm holding the investments. The fair value of borrowings is not considered
to be significantly different than its carrying amount because the stated rates for such debt reflect current market rates
and conditions.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

1.ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Warrant Liability

The Company accounts for some of its warrants issued in accordance with the guidance on Accounting for Certain
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, which provides that the Company classifies
the warrant instrument as a liability at its fair value and adjusts the instrument to fair value at each reporting period.
The fair value of warrants is estimated by management using Black-Scholes. This liability is subject to
re-measurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized as a component
of other income or expense. Prior to the merger between Nile and Capricor, the Company and holders of warrants to
purchase shares of common stock entered into agreements pursuant to which such holders agreed to receive an
aggregate of 59,546 shares of the Company’s common stock in exchange for the cancellation and surrender of their
warrants. No proceeds were received by the Company from these issuances. Management has determined the value of
warrant liability to be insignificant at December 31, 2013.

2.LOAN PAYABLE

On February 5, 2013, Capricor entered into a Loan Agreement with CIRM (the “CIRM Loan Agreement”), pursuant to
which CIRM agreed to disburse $19,782,136 to Capricor over a period of three and one-half years to support Phase II
of the ALLSTAR clinical trial.

Under the CIRM Loan Agreement, Capricor is required to repay the CIRM loan with interest at the end of the loan
period. The loan also provides for the payment of a risk premium whereby Capricor is required to pay CIRM a
premium of up to 500% of the loan amount upon the achievement of certain revenue thresholds. The loan has a term
of five years and is extendable annually up to ten years at Capricor’s option if certain conditions are met. The interest
rate for the initial term is set at the one-year LIBOR rate plus 2% (“base rate”), compounded annually, and becomes due
at the end of the fifth year. After the fifth year, if the term of the loan is extended and if certain conditions are met, the
interest rate will increase by 1% over the base rate each sequential year thereafter, with a maximum increase of 5%
over the base rate in the tenth year. CIRM has the right to cease disbursements if a no-go milestone occurs or certain
other conditions are not met. Under the terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement, CIRM deducted $36,667 from the initial
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disbursement to cover its costs in conducting financial due diligence on Capricor. CIRM will also deduct $16,667
from each disbursement made in the second and third year of the loan period to cover its costs of continuing due
diligence. So long as Capricor is not in default under the terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement, the loan may be
forgiven during the term of the project period if Capricor abandons the trial due to the occurrence of a no-go
milestone. After the end of the project period, the loan may also be forgiven if Capricor elects to abandon the project
under certain circumstances. Under the CIRM Loan Agreement, Capricor is required to meet certain financial
milestones by demonstrating to CIRM prior to each disbursement of loan proceeds that it has funds available
sufficient to cover all costs and expenses anticipated to be required to continue Phase II of the ALLSTAR trial for at
least the following 12-month period, less the costs budgeted to be covered by planned loan disbursements. Capricor
will not issue stock, warrants or other equity to CIRM in connection with this award.

The timing of the distribution of funds pursuant to the CIRM Loan Agreement shall be contingent upon the
availability of funds in the California Stem Cell Research and Cures Fund in the State Treasury, as determined by
CIRM in its sole discretion.

Capricor did not issue stock, warrants or other equity to CIRM in connection with this award. The due diligence costs
to be deducted from each disbursement are capitalized and amortized to general and administrative expenses over the
remaining term of the loan. As of December 31, 2013, $36,667 of loan costs were capitalized with $6,722, $0, and
$6,722 expensed for the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 and the period from July 5, 2005
(inception) through December 31, 2013, respectively, with the balance of $29,945 to be amortized over the next 4.1
years.

On February 6, 2013, Capricor received loan proceeds of $857,267, net of loan costs. This loan amount will carry
interest at the initial rate 2.77% per annum.

On July 8, 2013, Capricor received its second disbursement under the loan award for $3,067,799. This disbursement
will carry interest at the initial rate of 2.45% per annum. A portion of the principle disbursed under the second
disbursement is currently being recorded as restricted cash, as Capricor must expend for approved project costs in
order to use these funds. For the year ended December 31, 2013 and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception)
through December 31, 2013, interest expense under the CIRM loan was $58,134 and $58,134, respectively.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

3.STOCKHOLDER’S EQUITY

Reverse Stock Split

On November 20, 2013, we effected a reverse split of our common stock, par value $0.001 per share, at a ratio of
one-for-fifty. Unless otherwise indicated, all share amounts, per share data, share prices, exercise prices and
conversion rates set forth in these consolidated financial statements and related notes, where applicable, have been
adjusted retroactively to reflect this reverse stock split.

Outstanding Shares

At December 31, 2013, there were 11,687,747 common shares issued and outstanding.

Conversion of all Convertible Preferred Stock at the Merger

Prior to the Merger and without giving effect to the applicable multiplier, Capricor was authorized to issue 5,426,844
shares of convertible preferred stock, which was allocated as follows: Series A-1: 940,000 shares, all of which were
issued; Series A-2: 736,844 shares, all of which were issued; and Series A-3: 3,750,000 shares, of which 1,500,000
shares were issued. During 2011 and 2012, the 1,500,000 shares of Series A-3 convertible preferred stock, with a par
value of $0.001 per share were issued for cash proceeds of $6,000,000. Immediately prior to the Effective Time, all
shares of Capricor preferred stock were converted into shares of Capricor common stock pursuant to the terms of the
Merger Agreement. The shares of Capricor preferred stock that were converted into Capricor common stock as a
result of the Merger and in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, were exchanged according to the
applicable multiplier for 6,591,494 shares of common stock of the Company, and all rights and preferences (including
dividends) attached to the shares of Capricor preferred stock were rendered void. The preferred shares are presented
retrospectively as shares of common stock on an as-converted basis.
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4.STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

Capricor, Inc. Warrants

During the year ended December 31, 2009, Capricor issued warrants to purchase shares of common stock in
conjunction with the issuance of the Series A-2 Preferred Stock. Upon consummation of the merger on November 20,
2013, the warrants terminated per the terms of the original warrant agreement with no warrants being exercised prior
to the termination.

Capricor Therapeutics, Inc. Warrants

In connection with its July 2009 private placement, the Company issued five-year warrants to purchase an additional
53,827 shares of common stock. The warrants were issued in three separate tranches, as follows:

·Warrants to purchase approximately 13,457 shares, representing 25% of the total warrant shares issued to investors,
have an exercise price equal to $62.50

·Warrants to purchase approximately 13,457 shares, representing 25% of the total warrant shares issued to investors,
have an exercise price equal to $85.50.

·Warrants to purchase approximately 26,913 shares, representing 50% of the total warrant shares issued to investors,
have an exercise price equal to $114.00.

The warrants issued to investors in the July 2009 private placement are redeemable by the Company upon 30 days’
notice, if at any time, the volume weighted average price of the common shares for any 20 consecutive business days
is equal to or greater than 200% of the applicable exercise price of each warrant.

As consideration for its services as placement agent in connection with the July 2009 private placement, the Company
also issued to designees of Riverbank Capital Securities, Inc. five-year warrants to purchase 4,366 shares of common
stock at a price of $68.75 per share.

At the consummation of the merger, 317 shares of common stock were issued in exchange for the forfeiture of
approximately 26,693 warrants issued as part of the July 2009 private placement. There are approximately 28,400
warrants remaining outstanding as of December 31, 2013 as part of the July 2009 private placement, with a weighted
average exercise price of $94.00.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

4.STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (continued)

In connection with the April 2010 Offering, the Company issued a total of 44,850 Unit Warrants, each of which has a
term of five years and represents the right to purchase one share of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price
of $47.00 per share. In addition, the Company issued the underwriters a five-year warrant to purchase 7,800 shares of
the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $47.00 per share. There are 52,650 warrants remaining
outstanding as of December 31, 2013 as part of the April 2010 Offering, with a weighted average exercise price of
$47.00.

In connection with the 2011 Offering, the Company issued a total of 50,000 warrants, each of which has a term of five
years and represents the right to purchase one share of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $30.00 per
share. In addition, the Company issued to the Placement Agents a five-year warrant to purchase 5,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $30.00 per share. On August 1, 2013, the Company and the holders
of warrants issued in connection with the Company’s 2011 Offering entered into warrant exchange agreements
whereby the Company issued a total of 9,166 shares of its common stock on a post-Reverse Stock Split basis. As a
result, all of the warrants issued in connection with the June 2011 private placement were cancelled. No proceeds were
received by the Company from this issuance.

In connection with the April 2012 financing, the Company issued a total of 50,250 warrants, each of which has a term
of five years and represents the right to purchase one share of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of
$25.00 per share. The warrants contained a non-standard anti-dilution features, such that, in the event the Company
issues common shares at a price below the current exercise price of the warrants, the exercise price of the warrants
will be adjusted based on the lower issuance price. This feature was triggered upon the conversion of the 2013 Notes.
In previous years, management used a binomial option pricing model to determine the warrant liability. Upon
consummation of the merger, 50,063 warrants were cancelled and exchanged for 50,063 shares of the Company’s
common stock. Management has determined that any additional liability is insignificant. There are 187 warrants
remaining outstanding as of December 31, 2013 as part of the April 2012 financing, with a weighted average exercise
price of $2.2725.

At the close of the merger between Nile and Capricor on November 20, 2013, certain convertible notes payable were
converted into 251,044 shares of our common stock on a post-Reverse Stock Split basis. Additionally, 251,044
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warrants to purchase shares of our common stock at a strike price of $2.2725, on a post-Reverse Stock Split basis,
were issued to the holders of the 2013 Notes and certain additional notes issued in connection with the 2013 Notes.

The following schedule represents warrant activity for the year ended December 31, 2013:

Warrants

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Outstanding at January 1, 2013 1,733,599 $ 3.38
Cancelled (1,733,599) 3.38
Assumed from merger 81,237 63.33
Granted 251,044 2.27
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 332,281 $ 17.20

Stock Options

The Company’s Board of Directors has approved four stock option plans: (i) the Amended and Restated 2005 Stock
Option Plan (ii) the 2006 Capricor Stock Option Plan, (iii) the 2012 Capricor Restated Equity Incentive Plan (which
has superseded the 2006 Stock Option Plan) (the “2012 Plan”), and (iv) the 2012 Capricor Non-Employee Director
Stock Option Plan (the “2012 Non-Employee Director Plan”).

The Company’s Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) was initially adopted by the Board of
Directors on August 10, 2005. On July 26, 2010, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the Plan
increasing the total number of shares authorized for issuance thereunder to 190,000 after the effects of the Reverse
Stock Split at the consummation of the merger. Under the Plan, incentives may be granted to officers, employees,
directors, consultants, and advisors. Incentives under the Plan may be granted in any one or a combination of the
following forms: (a) incentive stock options and non-statutory stock options, (b) stock appreciation rights, (c) stock
awards, (d) restricted stock and (e) performance shares.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

4.STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (continued)

After the effects of the Merger, the 2012 Plan reserved 4,149,710 shares for the grant of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and performance unit/share awards to employees, consultants and other
service providers. Included in the 2012 Plan are the shares that were originally reserved under the 2006 Stock Option
Plan. Under the 2012 Plan, each option will be designated in the Award Agreement as either an Incentive Stock
Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option. Notwithstanding such designation, however, to the extent that the aggregate
fair market value of the shares with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by the
participant during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and any parent or subsidiary) exceeds one
hundred thousand dollars ($100,000), such options will be treated as Nonstatutory Stock Options.

After the effects of the merger, the 2012 Non-Employee Director Plan reserved 2,697,311 shares for the grant of stock
options to members of the Board of Directors, who are not employees of the Company.

Each of the plans are administered by the Board of Directors, or a committee appointed by the Board, which
determines the recipients and types of awards to be granted, as well as the number of shares subject to the awards, the
exercise price and the vesting schedule. Currently, stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to closing
price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant, and generally vest over a period of one to four years. The
term of stock options granted under each of the plans cannot exceed ten years.

The estimated weighted average fair values of the options granted during 2013 and 2012 were $0.53 and $0.60 per
share, respectively.

The Company estimates the fair value of each option award using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The
following assumptions we used for stock options issued in the year ended December 31, 2013 and December 31,
2012:
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December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Expected volatility 118% 100%
Expected term 0.1-7 years 5-7 years
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rates 0.13-2.3% 0.63-1.34%

Employee stock-based compensation costs for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and for the cumulative
period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2013, are as follows:

Year ended
December 31,

Period
from
July 5,
2005
(inception)
through

2013 2012 December
31, 2013

General and administrative $263,593 $332,347 $ 666,123

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2013:

Shares Outstanding
Range of Ex. Prices Shares Outstanding WA Term (yrs.) WA Exercise Price
$0.16 - $0.19 100,627 4.80 $ 0.17
$0.30 - $0.37 4,709,838 8.36 $ 0.36
$0.87 56,021 4.95 $ 0.87
$18.50 - $28.50 10,330 1.89 $ 23.43
$34.00 - $44.50 11,703 0.59 $ 43.60

4,888,519 8.22 $ 0.51
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

4.STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (continued)

Shares Exercisable

Range of Ex. Prices Shares
Exercisable

WA
Term
(yrs.)

WA
Exercise
Price

$0.16 - $0.19 96,487 4.71 $ 0.17
$0.30 - $0.37 2,360,885 8.08 $ 0.37
$0.87 56,021 4.95 $ 0.87
$18.50 - $28.50 10,330 1.89 $ 23.43
$34.00 - $44.50 11,703 0.59 $ 43.60

2,535,426 7.83 $ 0.67

As of December 31, 2013, the total unrecognized fair value compensation cost related to non-vested stock options was
$600,539 which is expected to be recognized over approximately 2.7 years.

Common stock, stock options or other equity instruments issued to non-employees (including consultants) as
consideration for goods or services received by the Company are accounted for based on the fair value of the equity
instruments issued (unless the fair value of the consideration received can be more reliably measured). The fair value
of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is periodically re-measured as the
underlying options vest. The fair value of any options issued to non-employees is recorded as expense over the
applicable vesting periods.

As of December 31, 2013, there were options granted and outstanding to purchase 4,888,519 shares of the Company’s
common stock under the plans to employees and non-employees. During the year ended December 31, 2013 and
2012, 1,186,672 and 2,942,207 options, respectively, were granted to employees and non-employees under the plans.

The following is a schedule summarizing stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2013:
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Number of
Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Outstanding at January 1, 2013 3,679,814 $ 0.37
Granted 1,186,672 0.31
Assumed from merger 22,033 34.15
Exercised - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 4,888,519 $ 0.51
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 2,535,426 $ 0.67

5.CONCENTRATIONS

Cash Concentration

The Company has historically maintained checking accounts at two financial institutions. These accounts collectively
are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $250,000. Historically, the Company has not
experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash
equivalents. As of December 31, 2013 the Company maintained $3,274,631 of uninsured deposits.

6.COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases

Capricor leases space for its corporate offices pursuant to a lease effective for a two year period beginning July 1,
2013. The monthly payment will be $16,620 per month for the first twelve months of the term, and will increase to
$17,285 per month for the second twelve months of the term. Capricor, Inc. also leases research facilities from
Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, a shareholder of the Company, currently on a month-to-month basis.

Total rent expense to unrelated parties for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and for the period from July 5,
2005 (inception) through December 31, 2013 was $154,536, $61,782 and $216,318, respectively. Total rent expense
to the related party for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception)
through December 31, 2013 was $54,648, $54,648, and $323,334, respectively.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

6.COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

Legal Contingencies

Periodically the Company may become involved in certain legal actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of
business. There were no legal actions or claims reported at December 31, 2013.

7.LICENSE AGREEMENTS

Capricor’s Technology - CAP-1002, CAP-1001 and CSps

Capricor has entered into exclusive license agreements for intellectual property rights related to cardiac derived cells
with Università Degli Studi Di Roma at la Sapienza (the University of Rome), JHU and CSMC. In addition, Capricor
has filed patent applications related to enhancements or validation of the technology developed by its own scientists.

University of Rome License Agreement

Capricor and the University of Rome entered into a License Agreement, dated June 21, 2006 (the Rome License
Agreement), which provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by the University of
Rome to Capricor (with the right to sublicense) to develop and commercialize licensed products under the licensed
patent rights in all fields. With respect to any new or future patent applications assigned to the University of Rome
utilizing cardiac stem cells in cardiac care, Capricor has a first right of negotiation for a certain period of time to
obtain a license thereto.
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Pursuant to the Rome License Agreement, Capricor paid the University of Rome a license issue fee, as well as
minimum annual royalties, and is obligated to pay a royalty received as a result of sublicenses granted. The minimum
annual royalties are creditable against future royalty payments.

The Rome License Agreement will, unless extended or sooner terminated, remain in effect until the later of the last
claim of any patent or until any patent application comprising licensed patent rights has expired or been abandoned.
Under the terms of the Rome License Agreement, either party may terminate the agreement should the other party
become insolvent or file a petition in bankruptcy. Either party shall have up to 90 days to cure its material breach.

The Johns Hopkins University License Agreement

Capricor and JHU entered into an Exclusive License Agreement, effective June 22, 2006 (the JHU License
Agreement), which provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by JHU to Capricor
(with the right to sublicense) to develop and commercialize licensed products and licensed services under the licensed
patent rights in all fields and a nonexclusive right to the know-how. In May 2009, the JHU License Agreement was
amended to add additional patent rights to the License Agreement in consideration of a payment to JHU and
reimbursement of patent costs. Capricor and JHU executed a Second Amendment to the JHU License Agreement,
effective as of December 20, 2013, pursuant to which, among other things, certain definitions were added or amended,
the timing of certain obligations was revised and other obligations of the parties were clarified.

Pursuant to the JHU License Agreement, JHU was paid an initial license fee and, thereafter, Capricor is required to
pay minimum annual royalties on the anniversary dates of the JHU License Agreement. The minimum annual
royalties are creditable against running royalties on net sales of products and net service revenues which Capricor is
also required to pay under the JHU License Agreement. In addition, Capricor is required to pay a certain percentage of
the consideration received by it from sublicenses granted, and is required to pay JHU certain defined development
milestone payments upon the successful completion of certain phases of its clinical studies and upon receiving FDA
approval. These milestone payments range from $100,000 at the time Phase I is fully complete to $1,000,000 if FDA
approval has been received. As of December 31, 2013, $100,000 has been accrued as the Phase I enrollment has been
completed.

The JHU License Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, continue in effect in each applicable country until the
date of expiration of the last to expire patent within the patent rights, or, if no patents are issued, then for twenty years
from the effective date. Under the terms of the JHU License Agreement, either party may terminate the agreement
should the other party become insolvent or file a petition in bankruptcy, or fail to cure a material breach within 30
days after notice. In addition, Capricor may terminate for any reason upon 60 days’ written notice.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

7.LICENSE AGREEMENTS (continued)

Cedars-Sinai Medical Center License Agreement

On January 4, 2010, Capricor entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with CSMC (the CSMC License
Agreement), for certain intellectual property rights. In 2013, the CSMC License Agreement was amended twice
resulting in, among other things, a reduction in the percentage of sublicense fees which would have been payable to
CSMC. Effective December 30, 2013, Capricor entered into an Amended and Restated Exclusive License Agreement
with CSMC (the Amended CSMC License Agreement) pursuant to which, among other things, certain definitions
were added or amended, the timing of certain obligations was revised and other obligations of the parties were
clarified.

The Amended CSMC License Agreement provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license
by CSMC to Capricor (with the right to sublicense) to conduct research using the patent rights and know-how and
develop and commercialize products in the field using the patents rights and know-how. In addition, Capricor has the
exclusive right to negotiate for an exclusive license to any future rights arising from related work conducted by or
under the direction of Dr. Eduardo Marbán on behalf of CSMC. In the event the parties fail to agree upon the terms of
an exclusive license, Capricor shall have a non-exclusive license to such future rights, subject to royalty obligations.

Pursuant to the CSMC License Agreement, CSMC was paid a license fee and Capricor was obligated to reimburse
CSMC for certain fees and costs incurred in connection with the prosecution of certain patent rights. Additionally,
Capricor was required to meet certain spending and development milestones. Pursuant to the Amended CSMC
License Agreement, Capricor remains obligated to pay royalties on sales of royalty-bearing products as well as a
percentage of the consideration received from any sublicenses or other grant of rights. In 2010, Capricor discontinued
its research under some of the patents.

The Amended CSMC License Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, continue in effect on a country by country
basis until the last to expire of the patents covering the patent rights or future patent rights. Under the terms of the
Amended CSMC License Agreement, unless waived by CSMC, the agreement shall automatically terminate: (i) if
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Capricor ceases, dissolves or winds up its business operations; (ii) in the event of the insolvency or bankruptcy of
Capricor or if Capricor makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; (iii) if performance by either party
jeopardizes the licensure, accreditation or tax exempt status of CSMC or the agreement is deemed illegal by a
governmental body; (iv) within 30 days for non-payment of royalties; (v) within 90 days if Capricor fails to undertake
commercially reasonable efforts to exploit the patent rights or future patent rights; (vi) if a material breach has not
been cured within 90 days; or (vii) if Capricor challenges any of the CSMC patent rights. Capricor may terminate the
agreement if CSMC fails to cure any material breach within 90 days after notice.

Collaboration Agreement with Janssen Biotech, Inc.

On December 27, 2013, Capricor entered into a Collaboration Agreement and Exclusive License Option with Janssen
Biotech, Inc., or Janssen, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson. Under the terms of the agreement,
Capricor and Janssen agreed to collaborate on the development of Capricor’s cell therapy program for cardiovascular
applications, including its lead product, CAP-1002. Capricor and Janssen further agreed to collaborate on the
development of cell manufacturing in preparation for future clinical trials. Under the agreement, Capricor was paid
$12.5 million in January 2014, and Capricor will contribute to the costs of development of a chemistry, manufacturing
and controls (CMC) package. In addition, Janssen has the exclusive right to enter into an exclusive license agreement
pursuant to which Janssen would receive a worldwide, exclusive license to exploit CAP-1002 as well as certain
allogeneic cardiospheres and cardiosphere-derived cells in the field of cardiology. Janssen has the right to exercise the
option at any time until 60 days after the delivery by Capricor of the six-month follow-up results from Phase II of
Capricor’s ALLSTAR clinical trial for CAP-1002. If Janssen exercises its option rights, Capricor would receive an
upfront license fee and additional milestone payments which may total up to $325.0 million. In addition, a
double-digit royalty would be paid on sales of licensed products.

Company’s Technology – Cenderitide and CU-NP

The Company has entered into an exclusive license agreement for intellectual property rights related to natriuretic
peptides with the Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research and a Clinical Trial Funding Agreement with
Medtronic, Inc., which also includes certain intellectual property licensing provisions.

Mayo License Agreement

The Company and the Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research, or Mayo, previously entered into a
Technology License Agreement with respect to cenderitide on January 20, 2006. On June 13, 2008, the Company and
Mayo entered into a Technology License Agreement with respect to CU-NP (the CU-NP Agreement). On November
14, 2013, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated License Agreement with Mayo (the Amended Mayo
Agreement). The Amended Mayo Agreement amends and restates in its entirety each of the CD-NP Agreement and
the CU-NP Agreement, and creates a single amended and restated license agreement between the Company and Mayo
with respect to CD-NP and CU-NP.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

7.LICENSE AGREEMENTS (continued)

The Amended Mayo Agreement provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by Mayo
to the Company (with the right to sublicense) under the Mayo patents, patent applications and improvements, and a
nonexclusive right under the know-how, for the development and commercialization of CD-NP and CU-NP in all
therapeutic indications. With respect to any future patents and any improvements related to cenderitide and CU-NP
owned by or assigned to Mayo, the Company has the exclusive right of first negotiation for the exclusive or
non-exclusive rights (at the Company’s option) thereto. Such exclusive right of negotiation shall be effective as of June
1, 2016, or such earlier date when the Company has satisfied certain payment obligations to Mayo.

Under each of the previous CD-NP Agreement and CU-NP Agreement, the Company paid Mayo up-front cash
payments and the Company agreed to make certain performance-based cash payments to Mayo upon successful
completion of certain milestones. Additionally, the Company issued certain amounts of common stock of the
Company to Mayo under each agreement. The Amended Mayo Agreement restructured the economic arrangements of
the CD-NP Agreement and CU-NP Agreement by, among other things, eliminating certain milestone payments and
decreasing the royalty percentages payable upon the commercial sale of the products. Pursuant to the terms of the
Amended Mayo Agreement, the Company agreed to pay to Mayo an annual license maintenance fee and to issue to
Mayo an additional 18,000 shares of the Company’s common stock as additional consideration for the grant of certain
rights. Mayo also agreed to waive or defer the payment of certain fees owed to Mayo. All breaches and defaults by the
Company under the terms of the CD-NP Agreement and CU-NP Agreement were waived by Mayo in the Amended
Mayo Agreement.

The Amended Mayo Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, expire on the later of (i) the expiration of the last to
expire valid claim contained in the Mayo patents, or (ii) the 20th anniversary of the Amended Mayo Agreement.
Under the terms of the Amended Mayo Agreement, Mayo may terminate the agreement earlier (i) for the Company’s
material breach of the agreement that remains uncured after 90 days’ written notice to the Company, (ii) for the
Company’s insolvency or bankruptcy, (iii) if the Company challenges the validity or enforceability of any of the patent
rights in any manner, or (iv) if the Company has not initiated either the next clinical trial of cenderitide within two
years of the effective date of the Amended Mayo Agreement or a clinical trial of CU-NP within two and one-half
years of the effective date. The Company may terminate the Amended Mayo Agreement without cause upon 90 days’
written notice.
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We license certain patent and other intellectual property rights that cover our cenderitide and CU-NP product
candidates from Mayo. In the past, we have relied on Mayo to file, prosecute and maintain patent applications, and to
otherwise protect the intellectual property to which we have a license. Prior to the Amended Mayo License
Agreement, we did not have primary control over these activities for certain of these patents or patent applications and
other intellectual property rights. With the execution of the Amended Mayo License Agreement, we have the
responsibility for the prosecution and maintenance of the Mayo patents and patent applications at our expense. We
cannot be certain that the activities conducted by Mayo have been or will be conducted in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, or will result in valid and enforceable patents and other intellectual property rights. Our
enforcement of certain of these licensed patents or defense of any claims asserting the invalidity of these patents
would also be subject to the cooperation of the third parties. We are also responsible for paying any prosecution and
maintenance fees of all Mayo patents and Mayo patent applications now existing and included in the Amended Mayo
License Agreement.

Medtronic Clinical Trial Funding Agreement

In February 2011, the Company entered into a Clinical Trial Funding Agreement with Medtronic, Inc. (Medtronic).
Pursuant to the agreement, Medtronic provided funding and equipment necessary for us to conduct a Phase I clinical
trial to assess the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of cenderitide when delivered to heart failure patients
through continuous subcutaneous infusion using Medtronic’s pump technology.

Pursuant to its terms, the agreement expired in February 2012, following the completion of the Phase I clinical trial
and the delivery of data and reports related to such study. Although the Medtronic agreement expired, there are certain
provisions that survive the expiration of the agreement, including the obligation to pay royalties on products that
might be covered by the Joint Intellectual Property.

8.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Lease and Sub-Lease Agreements

Capricor leases space for its research facilities from CSMC, a shareholder of Capricor Therapeutics, Inc. (see note 6).
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

8.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Beginning May 1, 2012, pursuant to a sublease agreement, Capricor subleased part of its office space to Frank
Litvack, the Company’s Executive Chairman, for $2,500 per month. On April 1, 2013, Capricor entered into a sublease
with Reprise Technologies, LLC, a limited liability company which is wholly owned by Dr. Litvack, for $2,500 per
month. The sublease is on a month-to-month basis. Capricor recognized $30,000, $20,000 and $50,000 in sublease
income from the related party during the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, and for the period from July 5,
2005 (inception) through December 31, 2013, respectively. Sublease income is recorded as a reduction to general and
administrative expenses.

Consulting Agreements

Effective May 1, 2012 Frank Litvack, the Company’s Executive Chairman entered into a consulting agreement for
$4,000 per month for consulting services. Effective January 1, 2013, the payment amount was increased to $10,000
per month payable for consulting services. On March 24, 2014, Capricor entered into a consulting agreement with Dr.
Litvack memorializing the $10,000 per month compensation arrangement described above. The agreement is
terminable upon 30 days’ notice.

Sub-Award Agreement

Effective January 30, 2012, Capricor, Inc. entered into a sub-award agreement with CSMC. Sub-award payments
totaling approximately $249,019, $244,069 and $503,899 were paid to CSMC during the year ended December 31,
2013 and 2012, and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through December 31, 2013, respectively. At
December 31, 2013, the Company had sub-awards payable of $41,855.

Payables to Related Party
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At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had accounts payable and accrued expenses, which excludes the
sub-award payable, to CSMC totaling $382,142 and $164,484, respectively.

9.SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 7, 2014, Capricor received a payment from Janssen Biotech, Inc. for $12.5 million pursuant to the terms
of the Collaboration Agreement and Exclusive License Option entered into on December 27, 2013.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31, 2014
(unaudited)

December 31,
2013

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,979,150 $1,729,537
Marketable securities 326,226 326,494
Restricted Cash 555,232 1,401,859
Interest receivable 757 187
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 169,579 222,763

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 14,030,944 3,680,840

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, at cost
Furniture and equipment 38,850 38,850
Laboratory equipment 208,667 115,766

247,517 154,616
Less accumulated depreciation (83,978 ) (80,429 )

NET PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 163,539 74,187

OTHER ASSETS
Patents, net of accumulated amortization of $33,557 and $32,475 respectively 228,382 227,207
Loan fees, net of accumulated amortization of $8,556 and $6,722, respectively 28,111 29,945
In-process research and development, net of accumulated amortization of $0 1,500,000 1,500,000
Deposits 25,728 25,728

TOTAL ASSETS $ 15,976,704 $5,537,907

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 1,518,595 $1,506,509
Accounts payable and accrued expenses, related party 481,643 382,142
Sub-award payable, related party - 41,855
Accrued royalties 132,379 122,416
Deferred income, current 4,166,667 -
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TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,299,284 2,052,922

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Deferred income, net of current portion 7,291,666 -
Loan payable 3,961,733 3,961,733
Accrued interest 83,461 58,134

TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 11,336,860 4,019,867

TOTAL LIABILITIES 17,636,144 6,072,789

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and
outstanding - -

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized, 11,690,859 and
11,687,747 shares issued and outstanding respectively 11,690 11,687

Additional paid-in capital 15,638,420 15,552,946
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (404 ) (980 )
Deficit accumulated during the development stage (17,309,146 ) (16,098,535 )

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) (1,659,440 ) (534,882 )

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) $ 15,976,704 $5,537,907

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

F-22

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

223



CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(unaudited)

July 5, 2005
Three months ended March 31, (inception) through
2014 2013 March 31, 2014

INCOME
Collaboration income 1,041,667 - 1,041,667
Grant income - 233,291 4,180,970

TOTAL INCOME 1,041,667 233,291 5,222,637

OPERATING EXPENSES
Research and development 1,374,757 1,191,154 12,874,352
General and administrative 852,347 474,429 7,806,014

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 2,227,104 1,665,583 20,680,366

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS (1,185,437 ) (1,432,292 ) (15,457,729 )

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Investment income (loss) 153 18,889 151,044
Interest expense (25,327 ) (3,711 ) (83,461 )
Impairment of goodwill - - (1,919,000 )

TOTAL OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) (25,174 ) 15,178 (1,851,417 )

NET LOSS (1,210,611 ) (1,417,114 ) (17,309,146 )

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE GAIN (LOSS)
Net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities 576 (8,763 ) (404 )

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $ (1,210,035 ) $ (1,425,877 ) $ (17,309,550 )

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.10 ) $ (0.14 )

Weighted average number of shares, basic and diluted 11,689,441 10,351,294

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(DEFICIT)

(unaudited)

COMMON STOCK  ADDITIONAL
PAID-IN  SUBSCRIPTION OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE

DEFICIT
ACCUMULATED
DURING
THE
DEVELOPMENT

 TOTAL
STOCKHOLDERS'

SHARES AMOUNTCAPITAL RECEIVABLELOSS STAGE EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Balance, July 5,
2005 - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -

Issuance of
common shares
to founders

3,734,740 3,735 (1,935 ) (1,800 ) - - $ -

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (36 ) - - $ (36 )

Net loss - - - - - 36 $ 36

Balance at
December 31,
2005

3,734,740 3,735 (1,935 ) (1,836 ) - 36 $ -

Series A-1
Preferred stock
issued for cash at
$1.54 per share,
as converted

1,950,364 1,950 3,006,050 - - - $ 3,008,000

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (86 ) - - $ (86 )

Net loss - - - - - (1,171,419 ) $ (1,171,419 )

5,685,104 5,685 3,004,115 (1,922 ) - (1,171,383 ) $ 1,836,495
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Balance at
December 31,
2006

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (71 ) - - $ (71 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 5,820 - - - $ 5,820

Net loss - - - - - (979,076 ) $ (979,076 )

Balance at
December 31,
2007

5,685,104 5,685 3,009,935 (1,993 ) - (2,150,459 ) $ 863,168

Common Stock
issued for
services at $0.15
per share

25,060 25 3,833 - - $ 3,858

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (37 ) - - $ (37 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 16,422 - - - $ 16,422

Net loss - - - - - (630,859 ) $ (630,859 )

Balance at
December 31,
2008

5,710,164 5,710 3,030,190 (2,030 ) - (2,781,318 ) $ 252,552

Series A-2
Preferred stock
and warrants
issued for cash at
$1.83 per share,
as converted

436,816 437 799,570 - - - $ 800,007

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (69 ) - - $ (69 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 8,251 - - - $ 8,251

Net loss - - - - - (148,970 ) $ (148,970 )
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Balance at
December 31,
2009

6,146,980 6,147 3,838,011 (2,099 ) - (2,930,288 ) $ 911,771

Series A-2
Preferred stock
and warrants
issued for cash at
$1.83 per share,
as converted

1,092,030 1,092 1,998,908 - - - $ 2,000,000

Equity Offering
transaction costs - - (91,155 ) - - - $ (91,155 )

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (57 ) - - $ (57 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 24,163 - - - $ 24,163

Net loss - - - - - (1,055,748 ) $ (1,055,748 )

Balance at
December 31,
2010

7,239,010 7,239 5,769,927 (2,156 ) - (3,986,036 ) $ 1,788,974

Series A-3
Preferred stock
issued for cash at
$1.93 per share,
as converted

518,714 519 999,481 - - - $ 1,000,000

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (29 ) - - $ (29 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 15,527 - - - $ 15,527

Net loss - - - - - (1,149,320 ) $ (1,149,320 )

Balance at
December 31,
2011

7,757,724 7,758 6,784,935 (2,185 ) - (5,135,356 ) $ 1,655,152

Series A-3
Preferred stock
issued for cash at
$1.93 per share,
as converted

2,593,570 2,594 4,997,406 - - - $ 5,000,000
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Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (26 ) - - $ (26 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 332,347 - - - $ 332,347

Unrealized loss
on marketable
securities

- - - - (21,795 ) - $ (21,795 )

Net loss - - - - - (2,071,255 ) $ (2,071,255 )

Balance at
December 31,
2012

10,351,294 10,351 12,114,689 (2,211 ) (21,795 ) (7,206,611 ) $ 4,894,423

Interest on
subscription
receivable

- - - (1 ) - - $ (1 )

Proceeds from
subscription
receivable

- - - 2,212 - - $ 2,212

Stock Based
Compensation - - 263,593 - - - $ 263,593

Reverse merger
transaction
   Reverse
acquisition of
Nile

1,336,453 1,336 3,174,664 - - - $ 3,176,000

Unrealized gain
(loss) on
marketable
securities

- - - - 20,815 - $ 20,815

Net loss - - - - - (8,891,924 ) $ (8,891,924 )

Balance at
December 31,
2013

11,687,747 11,687 15,552,946 - (980 ) (16,098,535 ) $ (534,882 )

Stock Based
Compensation - - 84,544 - - - $ 84,544

Unrealized gain
(loss) on

- - - - 576 - $ 576
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marketable
securities

Stock Option
Exercise 3,112 3 930 - - - $ 933

Net loss - - - - - (1,210,611 ) $ (1,210,611 )

Balance at
March 31, 2014 11,690,859 $ 11,690 $ 15,638,420 $ - $ (404 ) $ (17,309,146 ) $ (1,659,440 )

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(unaudited)

July 5, 2005
Three months ended March 31, (inception) through
2014 2013 March 31, 2014

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $ (1,210,611 ) $ (1,417,114 ) $ (17,309,146 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used
in) operating activities:
Gain on sale of property and equipment - - (3,707 )
Depreciation and amortization 6,465 6,120 171,197
Common stock issued for services - - 3,858
Impairment of goodwill - - 1,919,000
Stock-based compensation 84,544 41,373 750,667
Change in assets - (increase) decrease:
Restricted cash 846,627 (515,222 ) (555,232 )
Grants receivable - 329,240 -
Interest receivable (570 ) 8,274 (757 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 53,184 7,268 (146,475 )
Deposits - - (23,193 )
Change in liabilities - increase (decrease):
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 12,086 165,058 1,251,092
Accounts payable and accrued expenses, related party 99,501 133,094 481,643
Sub-award payable, related party (41,855 ) 48,317 -
Accrued royalties 9,963 9,963 132,379
Accrued interest 25,327 3,711 83,461
Deferred revenue 11,458,333 3,711 11,458,333

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 11,342,994 (1,176,207 ) (1,786,880 )

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of marketable securities (226,998 ) (42,830 ) (4,668,517 )
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities 227,842 488,000 4,341,887
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment - - 88,908
Payments for purchase of property and equipment (92,901 ) (3,144 ) (377,824 )
Proceeds from reverse merger - - 664
Payments for patents (2,257 ) (10,986 ) (261,939 )

(94,314 ) 431,040 (876,821 )

Edgar Filing: CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC. - Form 424B3

231



NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from the sale of series A-1 preferred stock - - 3,008,000
Proceeds from the sale of series A-2 preferred stock - - 2,800,007
Proceeds from the sale of series A-3 preferred stock - - 6,000,000
Proceeds from loan payable, net - 857,267 3,925,066
Proceeds from stock option exercises 933 - 933
Costs related to the issuance of preferred stock and warrants - - (91,155 )

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 933 857,267 15,642,851

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND  CASH EQUIVALENTS 11,249,613 112,100 12,979,150

Cash and cash equivalents balance at beginning of period 1,729,537 170,106 -

Cash and cash equivalents balance at end of period $ 12,979,150 $ 282,206 $ 12,979,150

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:
Interest paid in cash $ - $ - $ -
Income taxes paid in cash $ - $ - $ -

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CAPRICOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)

Notes to CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED financial statements

(unaudited)

1.ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

The mission of Capricor Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (referred to herein as “Capricor Therapeutics” or the
“Company”), is to improve the treatment of diseases by commercializing innovative therapies. Capricor, Inc., a
privately-held company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Capricor Therapeutics (referred to herein as “Capricor”), was
founded in 2005 as a Delaware corporation based on the innovative work of its founder, Eduardo Marbán, M.D.,
Ph.D. After completion of a merger between Capricor and Nile Therapeutics, Inc., or Nile, on November 20, 2013,
Nile formally changed its name to Capricor Therapeutics, Inc. Capricor Therapeutics, together with its subsidiary,
Capricor, currently has six drug candidates in various stages of development.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements for Capricor Therapeutics and its
wholly-owned subsidiary have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and instructions to Form 10-Q and, therefore, do not include all disclosures
necessary for a complete presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows in conformity with
U.S. GAAP. In the Company’s opinion, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, considered
necessary for a fair presentation have been included.  Interim results are not necessarily indicative of the results that
may be expected for the entire fiscal year. The accompanying financial information should be read in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statements and the consolidated notes thereto in the Company’s most recent Annual Report
on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 2014, from which the December
31, 2013 consolidated balance sheet has been derived.

Consummation of Merger
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On November 20, 2013, pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of July 7,
2013, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of
September 27, 2013 (as amended, the “Merger Agreement”), by and among Nile, Bovet Merger Corp., a Delaware
corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nile (“Merger Sub”), and Capricor, Merger Sub merged with and into
Capricor and Capricor became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nile (the “Merger”). Immediately prior to the effective
time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”) and in connection therewith, Nile filed certain amendments to its certificate of
incorporation which, among other things (i) effected a 1-for-50 reverse split of its common stock (the “Reverse Stock
Split”), (ii) changed its corporate name from “Nile Therapeutics, Inc.” to “Capricor Therapeutics, Inc.,” and (iii) effected a
reduction in the total number of authorized shares of common stock from 100,000,000 to 50,000,000, and a reduction
in the total number of authorized shares of preferred stock from 10,000,000 to 5,000,000.

At the Effective Time and in connection with the Merger, each outstanding share of Capricor’s Series A-1, Series A-2
and Series A-3 Preferred Stock was converted into one share of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of
Capricor (the “Capricor Common Stock”).

As a result of the Merger and in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, each outstanding share of
Capricor Common Stock was converted into the right to receive approximately 2.07 shares of the common stock of
Capricor Therapeutics, par value $0.001 per share (the “Capricor Therapeutics Common Stock”), on a post 1-for-50
Reverse Stock Split basis. Immediately after the Effective Time and in accordance with the terms of the Merger
Agreement, the former Capricor stockholders owned approximately 90% of the outstanding common stock of
Capricor Therapeutics, and the Nile stockholders owned approximately 10% of the outstanding common stock of
Capricor Therapeutics, in each case on a fully-diluted basis. For accounting purposes, the Merger is accounted for as a
reverse merger with Capricor as the accounting acquiror (legal acquiree) and Nile as the accounting acquiree (legal
acquiror).

Since Capricor was deemed to be the accounting acquiror in the merger, the historical financial information for
periods prior to the Merger reflect the financial information and activities solely of Capricor and not of Nile. The
historical equity of Capricor has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the equity structure of Capricor Therapeutics
using the respective exchange ratio established in the Merger, which reflects the number of shares Capricor
Therapeutics issued to equity holders of Capricor as a result of the Merger. The retroactive adjustment of Capricor’s
equity includes Capricor’s preferred stock as if such shares of preferred stock had been converted into Capricor
common stock at the respective dates of issuance, which is consistent with the terms of the Merger. Accordingly, all
common and preferred shares and per share amounts for all periods presented in the condensed consolidated financial
statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and consolidated notes thereto have been adjusted
retrospectively, where applicable, to reflect the respective exchange ratio established in the Merger.
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Notes to CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED financial statements

(unaudited)

1.ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

After the Effective Time, each then outstanding Capricor stock option, whether vested or unvested, was assumed by
Capricor Therapeutics in accordance with the terms of (i) the 2006 Stock Option Plan, (ii) the 2012 Restated Equity
Incentive Plan, or (iii) the 2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, as applicable, and the stock option
agreement under which each such option was issued. All rights with respect to Capricor Common Stock under
outstanding Capricor options were converted into rights with respect to Capricor Therapeutics Common Stock.

Basis of Consolidation

Our condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiary. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Development Stage Activities

The Company is a development stage enterprise since it has not yet generated any revenue from the sale of products
and, through March 31, 2014, its efforts have been principally devoted to developing its licensed technologies,
recruiting personnel, developing its intellectual property portfolio and raising capital. Accordingly, the accompanying
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) 915, “Development Stage Entities.” The Company has experienced net losses since its inception and had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $17.3 million at March 31, 2014. The Company expects to incur substantial and
increasing losses and have negative net cash flows from operating activities as it expands its technology portfolio and
engages in further research and development activities, particularly the conducting of pre-clinical and clinical trials.

Liquidity
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The Company has historically financed its research and development activities as well as operational expenses from
equity financings, government grants, a payment from Janssen Biotech, Inc. (“Janssen”) and a loan award from the
California Institute for Regenerative Medicine (“CIRM”).

Cash resources consisting of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities as of March 31, 2014 were
approximately $13.3 million, compared to $2.1 million as of December 31, 2013. On January 7, 2014, Capricor
received $12.5 million from Janssen pursuant to the terms of the Collaboration Agreement and Exclusive License
Option entered into on December 27, 2013 by and between the Company and Janssen (the “Janssen Agreement”). The
Company will need substantial additional financing in the future until it can achieve profitability, if ever. The
Company’s continued operations will depend on its ability to raise additional funds through various potential sources,
such as equity and debt financing, or to license its compounds to another pharmaceutical company. The Company will
continue to fund operations from cash on hand and through sources of capital similar to those previously described, as
well as government funded grants and/or loans.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures. Management uses its historical records and knowledge
of its business in making these estimates. Accordingly, actual results may differ from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to
be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash

As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, restricted cash represents funds received under Capricor’s Loan
Agreement with CIRM (see note 2), to be allocated to the ALLSTAR clinical trial research costs as incurred.
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(unaudited)

1.ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Marketable Securities

At March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, marketable securities consist primarily of United States treasuries. These
investments are considered available-for-sale. Realized gains and losses on the sale of debt and equity securities are
determined on the specific identification method. Unrealized gains and losses are presented as other comprehensive
income (loss).

Intangible Assets

As a result of the Merger, the Company recorded $1.5 million as in-process research and development, a component
of intangible assets. As of March 31, 2014, the Company had not begun amortizing the in-process research and
development.

Government Research Grants

Government research grants that provide funding for research and development activities are recognized as income
when the related expenses are incurred, as applicable.

Income from Collaborative Agreement
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Revenue from nonrefundable, up-front license or technology access payments under license and collaborative
arrangements that are not dependent on any future performance by the Company is recognized when such amounts are
earned. If the Company has continuing obligations to perform under the arrangement, such fees are recognized over
the estimated period of continuing performance obligation.

The Company accounts for multiple element arrangements, such as license and development agreements in which a
customer may purchase several deliverables, in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) ASC
Subtopic 605-25, “Multiple Element Arrangements”. For new or materially amended multiple element arrangements, the
Company identifies the deliverables at the inception of the arrangement and each deliverable within a multiple
deliverable revenue arrangement is accounted for as a separate unit of accounting if both of the following criteria are
met: (1) the delivered item or items have value to the customer on a standalone basis and (2) for an arrangement that
includes a general right of return relative to the delivered item(s), delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s)
is considered probable and substantially in the Company’s control. The Company allocates revenue to each
non-contingent element based on the relative selling price of each element. When applying the relative selling price
method, the Company determines the selling price for each deliverable using vendor-specific objective evidence
(“VSOE”) of selling price, if it exists, or third-party evidence (“TPE”) of selling price, if it exists. If neither VSOE nor
TPE of selling price exist for a deliverable, the Company uses the best estimated selling price for that deliverable.
Revenue allocated to each element is then recognized based on when the basic four revenue recognition criteria are
met for each element.

The Company determined the deliverables under its collaborative arrangement with Janssen (see note 7) did not meet
the criteria to be considered separate accounting units for the purposes of revenue recognition. As a result, the
Company recognized revenue from non-refundable, upfront fees ratably over the term of its performance under the
agreement. The upfront payments received, pending recognition as revenue, are recorded as deferred revenue and are
classified as a short-term or long-term liability on the consolidated balance sheets and amortized over the estimated
period of performance. The Company periodically reviews the estimated performance period of its contract based on
the progress of its project.

Goodwill

The Company calculates goodwill as the difference between the acquisition date fair value of the estimated
consideration paid in the Merger and the values assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is
not amortized but is generally subject to an impairment test annually or more frequently if an event or circumstance
indicates that an impairment loss may have been incurred. The Company determined the goodwill balance of $1.9
million to be impaired as of December 31, 2013, and charged such amount to other expenses.

 Loan Payable
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The Company accounts for the funds advanced under its Loan Agreement with CIRM (see note 2) as a loan payable as
the eventual repayment of the loan proceeds or forgiveness of the loan is contingent upon certain future milestones
being met and other conditions. As the likelihood of whether or not the Company will ever achieve these milestones
or satisfy these conditions cannot be reasonably predicted at this time, the Company records these amounts as a loan
payable.
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(unaudited)

1.ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Research and Development

Costs relating to the design and development of new products are expensed as research and development as incurred
in accordance with FASB ASC 730-10, Research and Development. Research and development costs amounted to
approximately $1.4 million, $1.2 million and $12.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 and
for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through March 31, 2014, respectively.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) generally represents all changes in stockholders’ equity during the period except those
resulting from investments by, or distributions to, stockholders. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013
and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through March 31, 2014, the Company’s comprehensive income (loss)
was $576, $(8,763), and $(404), respectively. The Company’s other comprehensive income (loss) is related to a net
unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities.

Earnings (Loss) per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during
the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares and
dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential common shares, which primarily
consist of stock options issued to employees and warrants issued to third parties, have been excluded from the diluted
loss per share calculation because their effect is anti-dilutive.
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For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, warrants and options to purchase 5,041,281 and 5,813,078
shares, respectively, have been excluded from the computation of potentially dilutive securities.

Fair Value Measurements

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the balance sheet are categorized based upon the level of judgment
associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. The categories are as follows:

Level
Input: Input Definition:

Level I  Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in  active markets at the measurement
date.

Level II  Inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level I, that are observable  for the asset or liability through
corroboration with market data at the  measurement date.

Level III  Unobservable inputs that reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability at the  measurement date.

The following table summarizes fair value measurements by level at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 for
assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

March 31, 2014

Level I Level
II

Level
III Total

Marketable securities $326,226 $ - $ - $326,226

December 31, 2013

Level I Level
II

Level
III Total

Marketable securities $326,494 $ - $ - $326,494

Carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet of cash and cash equivalents, grants receivable and accounts payable
and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to their relatively short maturity. The carrying amounts of the
Company’s marketable securities approximate fair value based on market quotations from national exchanges at the
balance sheet date. Interest and dividend income are recognized separately on the income statement based on
classifications provided by the brokerage firm holding the investments. The fair value of borrowings is not considered
to be significantly different than its carrying amount because the stated rates for such debt reflect current market rates
and conditions.
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Notes to CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED financial statements

(unaudited)

1.ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Warrant Liability

The Company accounts for some of its warrants issued in accordance with the guidance on Accounting for Certain
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, which provides that the Company classifies
the warrant instrument as a liability at its fair value and adjusts the instrument to fair value at each reporting period.
The fair value of warrants is estimated by management using Black-Scholes. This liability is subject to
re-measurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized as a component
of other income or expense. Prior to the Merger, the Company and holders of warrants to purchase shares of common
stock entered into agreements pursuant to which such holders agreed to receive an aggregate of 59,546 shares of the
Company’s common stock in exchange for the cancellation and surrender of their warrants. No proceeds were received
by the Company from these issuances. Management has determined the value of the warrant liability to be
insignificant at March 31, 2014, and no such liability has been reflected on the balance sheet.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2013-02, Reporting of Amounts Reclassified
Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, (“ASU 2013-02”). ASU 2013-02 amends ASC 220, Comprehensive
Income (“ASC 220”), and requires entities to present the changes in the components of accumulated other
comprehensive income for the current period. Entities are required to present separately the amount of the change that
is due to reclassifications, and the amount that is due to current period other comprehensive income. These changes
are permitted to be shown either before or net-of-tax and can be displayed either on the face of the financial statements
or in the footnotes. ASU 2013-02 was effective for our interim and annual periods beginning January 1, 2013. The
adoption of ASU 2013-02 did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In March 2013, the FASB issued new guidance related to the release of cumulative translation adjustment related to an
entity’s investment in a foreign entity. The guidance clarifies that the guidance in Subtopic 830-30, Foreign Currency
Matters - Translation of Financial Statements, applies to the release of cumulative translation adjustment into net
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income when a reporting entity either sells a part or all of its investment in a foreign entity or ceases to have a
controlling financial interest in a subsidiary or group of assets that constitute a business within a foreign entity. This
guidance is effective for the Company prospectively for reporting periods beginning October 1, 2014. The adoption of
this guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

In April 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-07, Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205): Liquidation Basis of
Accounting. ASU 2013-07 clarifies when an entity should apply the liquidation basis of accounting. ASU 2013-07
also provides principles for the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities and requirements for financial
statements prepared using the liquidation basis of accounting. ASU 2013-07 is effective for fiscal years and interim
periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2013. The Company does not expect amendments in ASU
2013-07 to impact the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements, results of operations or liquidity.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax
Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists, which
eliminates diversity in practice for the presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss
carryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward is available to reduce the taxable income or tax payable
that would result from disallowance of a tax position. ASU 2013-11 affects only the presentation of such amounts in
an entity’s balance sheet and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2013 and interim periods within
those years. The adoption of ASU 2013-11 did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
position or results of operations.

For a more detailed listing of our significant accounting policies, see Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements
included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 2014.

2.LOAN PAYABLE

On February 5, 2013, Capricor entered into a Loan Agreement with CIRM (the “CIRM Loan Agreement”), pursuant to
which CIRM agreed to disburse $19,782,136 to Capricor over a period of approximately three and one-half years to
support Phase II of the ALLSTAR clinical trial.
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(unaudited)

2.LOAN PAYABLE (Continued)

Under the CIRM Loan Agreement, Capricor is required to repay the CIRM loan with interest at the end of the loan
period. The loan also provides for the payment of a risk premium whereby Capricor is required to pay CIRM a
premium of up to 500% of the loan amount upon the achievement of certain revenue thresholds. The loan has a term
of five years and is extendable annually up to ten years at Capricor’s option if certain conditions are met. The interest
rate for the initial term is set at the one-year LIBOR rate plus 2% (“base rate”), compounded annually, and becomes due
at the end of the fifth year. After the fifth year, if the term of the loan is extended and if certain conditions are met, the
interest rate will increase by 1% over the base rate each sequential year thereafter, with a maximum increase of 5%
over the base rate in the tenth year. CIRM has the right to cease disbursements if a no-go milestone occurs or certain
other conditions are not met. Under the terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement, CIRM deducted $36,667 from the initial
disbursement to cover its costs in conducting financial due diligence on Capricor. CIRM will also deduct
approximately $16,667 from each disbursement made in the second and third year of the loan period to cover its costs
of continuing due diligence according to the payment disbursement schedule, which may be amended from time to
time. So long as Capricor is not in default under the terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement, the loan may be forgiven
during the term of the project period if Capricor abandons the trial due to the occurrence of a no-go milestone. After
the end of the project period, the loan may also be forgiven if Capricor elects to abandon the project under certain
circumstances. Under the terms of the CIRM Loan Agreement, Capricor is required to meet certain financial
milestones by demonstrating to CIRM prior to each disbursement of loan proceeds that it has funds available
sufficient to cover all costs and expenses anticipated to be required to continue Phase II of the ALLSTAR trial for at
least the following 12-month period, less the costs budgeted to be covered by planned loan disbursements.

The timing of the distribution of funds pursuant to the CIRM Loan Agreement shall be contingent upon the
availability of funds in the California Stem Cell Research and Cures Fund in the State Treasury, as determined by
CIRM in its sole discretion.

Capricor did not issue stock, warrants or other equity to CIRM in connection with this award. The due diligence costs
to be deducted from each disbursement are capitalized and amortized to general and administrative expenses over the
remaining term of the loan. As of March 31, 2014, $36,667 of loan costs were capitalized with $1,834, $1,414, and
$8,556 expensed for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, and the period from July 5, 2005 (inception)
through March 31, 2014, respectively, with the balance of $28,111 to be amortized over the next 3.9 years.
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On February 6, 2013, Capricor received loan proceeds of $857,267, net of loan costs. This disbursement will carry
interest at the initial rate approximately 2.8% per annum.

On July 8, 2013, Capricor received its second disbursement under the loan award of $3,067,799. This disbursement
will carry interest at the initial rate of approximately 2.5% per annum. A portion of the principal disbursed under the
second disbursement is currently being recorded as restricted cash, as Capricor must expend for approved project costs
in order to use these funds. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the period from July 5, 2005
(inception) through March 31, 2014, interest expense under the CIRM loan was $25,327, $3,711, and $83,461,
respectively.

3.STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Reverse Stock Split

On November 20, 2013, the Company effected a reverse split of our common stock, par value $0.001 per share, at a
ratio of one-for-fifty. Unless otherwise indicated, all share amounts, per share data, share prices, exercise prices and
conversion rates set forth in these condensed consolidated financial statements and related condensed consolidated
notes, where applicable, have been adjusted retroactively to reflect this reverse stock split.

Outstanding Shares

At March 31, 2014, the Company had 11,690,859 common shares issued and outstanding.

Conversion of all Convertible Preferred Stock at the Merger

Prior to the Merger and without giving effect to the applicable multiplier, Capricor was authorized to issue 5,426,844
shares of convertible preferred stock, which was allocated as follows: Series A-1: 940,000 shares, all of which were
issued; Series A-2: 736,844 shares, all of which were issued; and Series A-3: 3,750,000 shares, of which 1,500,000
shares were issued. During 2011 and 2012, the 1,500,000 shares of Series A-3 convertible preferred stock, with a par
value of $0.001 per share, were issued for cash proceeds of $6,000,000. Immediately prior to the Effective Time, all
shares of Capricor preferred stock were converted into shares of Capricor common stock pursuant to the terms of the
Merger Agreement. The shares of Capricor preferred stock that were converted into Capricor common stock, as a
result of the Merger and in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, were exchanged according to the
applicable multiplier for 6,591,494 shares of common stock of the Company, and all rights and preferences (including
dividends) attached to the shares of Capricor preferred stock were rendered void. The preferred shares are presented
retrospectively as shares of common stock on an as-converted basis.
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Notes to CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED financial statements

(unaudited)

4.STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

Warrants

The following table summarizes all warrant activity for the period ended March 31, 2014:

Warrants Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 1, 2014 332,281 $ 17.20
Granted - -
Exercised - -
Outstanding at March 31, 2014 332,281 $ 17.20

The following table summarizes all outstanding warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock as of
March 31, 2014:

At March 31, 2014

Grant Date Warrants
Outstanding

Range of Exercise
Prices

Expiration
Date

7/15/2009 28,400   $62.50  - $114.00 7/14/2014
4/21/2010 52,650 $47.00 4/20/2015
4/4/2012 187 $2.27 4/3/2017
11/20/2013 251,044 $2.27 11/19/2018

332,281

Stock Options
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The Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) has approved four stock option plans: (i) the Amended and Restated
2005 Stock Option Plan, (ii) the 2006 Stock Option Plan, (iii) the 2012 Restated Equity Incentive Plan (which has
superseded the 2006 Stock Option Plan) (the “2012 Plan”), and (iv) the 2012 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan
(the “2012 Non-Employee Director Plan”).

On July 26, 2010, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the 2005 Plan increasing the total number
of shares authorized for issuance thereunder to 190,000 (after the effects of the Reverse Stock Split at the
consummation of the Merger). Under the 2005 Plan, incentives may be granted to officers, employees, directors,
consultants and advisors. Incentives under the 2005 Plan may be granted in any one or a combination of the following
forms: (i) incentive stock options and non-statutory stock options, (ii) stock appreciation rights, (iii) stock awards, (iv)
restricted stock, and (v) performance shares.

After the effects of the Merger, 4,149,710 shares of common stock are reserved under the 2012 Plan for the issuance
of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and performance unit/share awards to employees,
consultants and other service providers. Included in the 2012 Plan are the shares of common stock that were originally
reserved under the 2006 Stock Option Plan. Under the 2012 Plan, each stock option granted will be designated in the
Award Agreement as either an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option. Notwithstanding such
designation, however, to the extent that the aggregate fair market value of the shares with respect to which Incentive
Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by the participant during any calendar year (under all plans of the
Company and any parent or subsidiary) exceeds $100,000, such options will be treated as Nonstatutory Stock Options.
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(unaudited)

4.STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (Continued)

After the effects of the Merger, 2,697,311 shares of common stock are reserved under the 2012 Non-Employee
Director Plan for the issuance of stock options to members of the Board who are not employees of the Company.

Each of the plans are administered by the Board, or a committee appointed by the Board, which determines the
recipients and types of awards to be granted, as well as the number of shares subject to the awards, the exercise price
and the vesting schedule. Currently, stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the closing price of the
Company’s common stock on the date of grant, and generally vest over a period of one to four years. The term of stock
options granted under each of the plans cannot exceed ten years.

The estimated weighted average fair values of the options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and
2013 were $10.65 and $0.25 per share, respectively.

The Company estimates the fair value of each option award using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The
following assumptions we used for stock options issued for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013:

March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013
Expected volatility 117% 100%
Expected term 7 years 6-7 years
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rates 2.2% 0.7% - 1.3%

Employee stock-based compensation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, and for the
cumulative period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through March 31, 2014, are as follows:
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Period from July 5, 2005
(inception) through

Three months
ended March 31, March 31, 2014

2014 2013
General and administrative 79,260 41,373 745,383
Research and development 5,284 - 5,284
Total 84,544 41,373 750,667

As of March 31, 2014, the total unrecognized fair value compensation cost related to non-vested stock options was
approximately $828,035, which is expected to be recognized over approximately 2.9 years.

Common stock, stock options or other equity instruments issued to non-employees (including consultants) as
consideration for goods or services received by the Company are accounted for based on the fair value of the equity
instruments issued (unless the fair value of the consideration received can be more reliably measured). The fair value
of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is periodically re-measured as the
underlying options vest. The fair value of any options issued to non-employees is recorded as expense over the
applicable vesting periods. 

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the three months ended March 31, 2014:
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4.STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (Continued)

Number of
Options

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 1, 2014 4,888,519 $ 0.51
Granted 25,362 12.00
Exercised (3,112 ) 0.30
Expired (201,769 ) 0.30
Outstanding at March 31, 2014 4,709,000 $ 0.58
Exercisable at March 31, 2014 2,719,483 $ 0.65

5.CONCENTRATIONS

Cash Concentration

The Company has historically maintained checking accounts at two financial institutions. These accounts are each
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation for up to $250,000. Historically, the Company has not
experienced any significant losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash
and cash equivalents. As of March 31, 2014, the Company maintained approximately $13.6 million of uninsured
deposits.

6.COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases

Capricor leases space for its corporate offices pursuant to a lease that is effective for a two year period beginning July
1, 2013. The monthly payment is $16,620 per month for the first twelve months of the term and will increase to
$17,285 per month for the second twelve months of the term. Capricor also leases research facilities from
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Cedars-Sinai Medical Center (“CSMC”), a shareholder of the Company, currently on a month-to-month basis.

Total rent expense to unrelated parties for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the period from
July 5, 2005 (inception) through March 31, 2014 was $49,860, $26,940 and $266,178, respectively. Total rent expense
to the related party for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the period from July 5, 2005
(inception) through March 31, 2014 was $13,662, $13,662 and $336,996, respectively.

Legal Contingencies

Periodically the Company may become involved in certain legal actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of
business. There were no material legal actions or claims reported at March 31, 2014.

7.LICENSE AGREEMENTS

Capricor’s Technology - CAP-1002, CAP-1001 and CSps

Capricor has entered into exclusive license agreements for intellectual property rights related to cardiac derived cells
with Università Degli Studi Di Roma at la Sapienza (the “University of Rome”), The Johns Hopkins University (“JHU”)
and CSMC. In addition, Capricor has filed patent applications related to enhancements or validation of the technology
developed by its own scientists.

University of Rome License Agreement

Capricor and the University of Rome entered into a License Agreement, dated June 21, 2006 (the “Rome License
Agreement”), which provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by the University of
Rome to Capricor (with the right to sublicense) to develop and commercialize licensed products under the licensed
patent rights in all fields. With respect to any new or future patent applications assigned to the University of Rome
utilizing cardiac stem cells in cardiac care, Capricor has a first right of negotiation for a certain period of time to
obtain a license thereto.

Pursuant to the Rome License Agreement, Capricor paid the University of Rome a license issue fee, is currently
paying minimum annual royalties in the amount of 20,000 Euros per year, and is obligated to pay a lower-end of a
mid-range double-digit percentage on all royalties received as a result of sublicenses granted, which are net of any
royalties paid to third parties under a license agreement from such third party to Capricor. The minimum annual
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royalties are creditable against future royalty payments.
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7.LICENSE AGREEMENTS (Continued)

The Rome License Agreement will, unless extended or sooner terminated, remain in effect until the later of the last
claim of any patent or until any patent application comprising licensed patent rights has expired or been abandoned.
Under the terms of the Rome License Agreement, either party may terminate the agreement should the other party
become insolvent or file a petition in bankruptcy. Either party shall have up to 90 days to cure its material breach.

The Johns Hopkins University License Agreement

Capricor and JHU entered into an Exclusive License Agreement, effective June 22, 2006 (the “JHU License
Agreement”), which provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by JHU to Capricor
(with the right to sublicense) to develop and commercialize licensed products and licensed services under the licensed
patent rights in all fields and a nonexclusive right to the know-how. In May 2009, the JHU License Agreement was
amended to add additional patent rights to the JHU License Agreement in consideration of a payment to JHU and
reimbursement of patent costs. Capricor and JHU executed a Second Amendment to the JHU License Agreement,
effective as of December 20, 2013, pursuant to which, among other things, certain definitions were added or amended,
the timing of certain obligations was revised and other obligations of the parties were clarified.

Pursuant to the JHU License Agreement, JHU was paid an initial license fee and, thereafter, Capricor is required to
pay minimum annual royalties on the anniversary dates of the JHU License Agreement. The minimum annual
royalties range from $5,000 on the first and second anniversary dates to $20,000 on the tenth anniversary date and
thereafter. The minimum annual royalties are creditable against a low single-digit running royalty on net sales of
products and net service revenues which Capricor is also required to pay under the JHU License Agreement, which
running royalty may be subject to further reduction in the event that Capricor is required to pay royalties on any patent
rights to third parties in order to make or sell a licensed product. In addition, Capricor is required to pay a low
double-digit percentage of the consideration received by it from sublicenses granted, and is required to pay JHU
certain defined development milestone payments upon the successful completion of certain phases of its clinical
studies and upon receiving approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”). The development
milestones range from $100,000 upon successful completion of a full Phase I clinical study to $1,000,000 upon full
FDA market approval and are fully creditable against payments owed by Capricor to JHU on account of sublicense
consideration attributable to milestone payments received from a sublicensee. The maximum aggregate amount of
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milestone payments payable under the JHU License Agreement, as amended, is $1,850,000. As of March 31, 2014,
$100,000 is currently accrued due the Phase I enrollment being completed.

The JHU License Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, continue in effect in each applicable country until the
date of expiration of the last to expire patent within the patent rights, or, if no patents are issued, then for twenty years
from the effective date. Under the terms of the JHU License Agreement, either party may terminate the agreement
should the other party become insolvent or file a petition in bankruptcy, or fail to cure a material breach within 30
days after notice. In addition, Capricor may terminate for any reason upon 60 days’ written notice.

Cedars-Sinai Medical Center License Agreement

On January 4, 2010, Capricor entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with CSMC (the “CSMC License
Agreement”), for certain intellectual property rights. In 2013, the CSMC License Agreement was amended twice
resulting in, among other things, a reduction in the percentage of sublicense fees which would have been payable to
CSMC. Effective December 30, 2013, Capricor entered into an Amended and Restated Exclusive License Agreement
with CSMC (the “Amended CSMC License Agreement”) pursuant to which, among other things, certain definitions
were added or amended, the timing of certain obligations was revised and other obligations of the parties were
clarified.

The Amended CSMC License Agreement provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license
by CSMC to Capricor (with the right to sublicense) to conduct research using the patent rights and know-how and
develop and commercialize products in the field using the patent rights and know-how. In addition, Capricor has the
exclusive right to negotiate for an exclusive license to any future rights arising from related work conducted by or
under the direction of Dr. Eduardo Marbán on behalf of CSMC. In the event the parties fail to agree upon the terms of
an exclusive license, Capricor shall have a non-exclusive license to such future rights, subject to royalty obligations.
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7.LICENSE AGREEMENTS (Continued)

Pursuant to the CSMC License Agreement, CSMC was paid a license fee and Capricor was obligated to reimburse
CSMC for certain fees and costs incurred in connection with the prosecution of certain patent rights. Additionally,
Capricor was equired to meet certain spending and development milestones. The annual spending requirements range
from $350,000 to $800,000 each year between 2010 and 2017 (with the exception of 2014, for which there is no
annual spending requirement). Pursuant to the Amended CSMC License Agreement, Capricor remains obligated to
pay low single-digit royalties on sales of royalty-bearing products as well as a low double-digit percentage of the
consideration received from any sublicenses or other grant of rights. The above-mentioned royalties are subject to
reduction in the event Capricor becomes obliged to obtain a license from a third party for patent rights in connection
with the royalty-bearing product. In 2010, Capricor discontinued its research under some of the patents.

The Amended CSMC License Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, continue in effect on a country by country
basis until the last to expire of the patents covering the patent rights or future patent rights. Under the terms of the
Amended CSMC License Agreement, unless waived by CSMC, the agreement shall automatically terminate: (i) if
Capricor ceases, dissolves or winds up its business operations; (ii) in the event of the insolvency or bankruptcy of
Capricor or if Capricor makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; (iii) if performance by either party
jeopardizes the licensure, accreditation or tax exempt status of CSMC or the agreement is deemed illegal by a
governmental body; (iv) within 30 days for non-payment of royalties; (v) within 90 days if Capricor fails to undertake
commercially reasonable efforts to exploit the patent rights or future patent rights; (vi) if a material breach has not
been cured within 90 days; or (vii) if Capricor challenges any of the CSMC patent rights. Capricor may terminate the
agreement if CSMC fails to cure any material breach within 90 days after notice.

Collaboration Agreement with Janssen Biotech, Inc.

On December 27, 2013, Capricor entered into a Collaboration Agreement and Exclusive License Option (the “Janssen
Agreement”) with Janssen, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson. Under the terms of the Janssen
Agreement, Capricor and Janssen agreed to collaborate on the development of Capricor’s cell therapy program for
cardiovascular applications, including its lead product, CAP-1002. Capricor and Janssen further agreed to collaborate
on the development of cell manufacturing in preparation for future clinical trials. Under the Janssen Agreement,
Capricor was paid $12.5 million, and Capricor will contribute to the development of a chemistry, manufacturing and
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controls (“CMC”) package. In addition, Janssen has the exclusive right to enter into an exclusive license agreement
pursuant to which Janssen would receive a worldwide, exclusive license to exploit CAP-1002 as well as certain
allogeneic cardiospheres and cardiosphere-derived cells in the field of cardiology. Janssen has the right to exercise the
option at any time until 60 days after the delivery by Capricor of the six-month follow-up results from Phase II of
Capricor’s ALLSTAR clinical trial for CAP-1002. If Janssen exercises its option rights, Capricor would receive an
upfront license fee and additional milestone payments which may total up to $325 million. In addition, a royalty
ranging from a low double-digit percentage to a lower-end of a mid-range double-digit percentage would be paid on
sales of licensed products.

Company’s Technology – Cenderitide and CU-NP

The Company has entered into an exclusive license agreement for intellectual property rights related to natriuretic
peptides with the Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research and a Clinical Trial Funding Agreement with
Medtronic, Inc., which also includes certain intellectual property licensing provisions.

Mayo License Agreement

The Company and the Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research (“Mayo”) previously entered into a
Technology License Agreement with respect to cenderitide on January 20, 2006, which was filed as Exhibit 10.6 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on
September 21, 2007, and which was amended on June 2, 2008 (as so amended, the “CD-NP Agreement”). On June 13,
2008, the Company and Mayo entered into a Technology License Agreement with respect to CU-NP (the “CU-NP
Agreement”, which was filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on
August 14, 2008. On November 14, 2013, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated License Agreement
with Mayo (the “Amended Mayo Agreement”). The Amended Mayo Agreement amends and restates in its entirety each
of the CD-NP Agreement and the CU-NP Agreement, and creates a single amended and restated license agreement
between the Company and Mayo with respect to CD-NP and CU-NP.

The Amended Mayo Agreement provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by Mayo
to the Company (with the right to sublicense) under the Mayo patents, patent applications and improvements, and a
nonexclusive right under the know-how, for the development and commercialization of CD-NP and CU-NP in all
therapeutic indications. With respect to any future patents and any improvements related to cenderitide and CU-NP
owned by or assigned to Mayo, the Company has the exclusive right of first negotiation for the exclusive or
non-exclusive rights (at the Company’s option) thereto. Such exclusive right of negotiation shall be effective as of June
1, 2016, or such earlier date when the Company has satisfied certain payment obligations to Mayo.
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7.LICENSE AGREEMENTS (Continued)

Under each of the previous CD-NP Agreement and CU-NP Agreement, the Company paid Mayo up-front cash
payments and the Company agreed to make certain performance-based cash payments to Mayo upon successful
completion of certain milestones. Additionally, the Company issued certain amounts of common stock of the
Company to Mayo under each agreement. The Amended Mayo Agreement restructured the economic arrangements of
the CD-NP Agreement and CU-NP Agreement by, among other things, eliminating certain milestone payments and
decreasing the royalty percentages payable upon the commercial sale of the products to low single-digit royalties on
sales of CD-NP and CU-NP products. The Company is also obligated to pay to Mayo a low single-digit percentage on
any upfront consideration or milestone payment received in connection with a sublicense. The Company is further
obligated to pay to Mayo a low single-digit percentage on any consideration received in connection with an
assignment of rights under the Amended Mayo Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the Amended Mayo Agreement,
the Company agreed to pay to Mayo an annual license maintenance fee and to issue to Mayo an additional 18,000
shares of the Company’s common stock as additional consideration for the grant of certain rights. Mayo also agreed to
waive or defer the payment of certain fees owed to Mayo. All breaches and defaults by the Company under the terms
of the CD-NP Agreement and CU-NP Agreement were waived by Mayo in the Amended Mayo Agreement.

The Amended Mayo Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, expire on the later of (i) the expiration of the last to
expire valid claim contained in the Mayo patents, or (ii) the 20th anniversary of the Amended Mayo Agreement.
Under the terms of the Amended Mayo Agreement, Mayo may terminate the agreement earlier (i) for the Company’s
material breach of the agreement that remains uncured after 90 days’ written notice to the Company, (ii) for the
Company’s insolvency or bankruptcy, (iii) if the Company challenges the validity or enforceability of any of the patent
rights in any manner, or (iv) if the Company has not initiated either the next clinical trial of cenderitide within two
years of the effective date of the Amended Mayo Agreement or a clinical trial of CU-NP within two and one-half
years of the effective date. The Company may terminate the Amended Mayo Agreement without cause upon 90 days’
written notice.

Medtronic Clinical Trial Funding Agreement

In February 2011, the Company entered into a Clinical Trial Funding Agreement with Medtronic, Inc. (“Medtronic”).
Pursuant to the agreement, Medtronic provided funding and equipment necessary for the Company to conduct a Phase
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I clinical trial to assess the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of cenderitide when delivered to heart failure
patients through continuous subcutaneous infusion using Medtronic’s pump technology.

The agreement provided that intellectual property conceived in or otherwise resulting from the performance of the
Phase I clinical trial will be jointly owned by the Company and Medtronic (the “Joint Intellectual Property”), and that
the Company is to pay royalties to Medtronic based on the net sales of a product covered by the Joint Intellectual
Property.  The agreement further provided that, if the parties fail to enter into a definitive commercial license
agreement with respect to cenderitide, each party will have a right of first negotiation to license exclusive rights to any
Joint Intellectual Property.

Pursuant to its terms, the agreement expired in February 2012, following the completion of the Phase I clinical trial
and the delivery of data and reports related to such study. Nile received the final reimbursement of $195,500 in
February 2012 and a total of $1,550,000 over the life of the agreement. Although the Medtronic agreement expired,
there are certain provisions that survive the expiration of the agreement, including the obligation to pay royalties on
products that might be covered by the Joint Intellectual Property. Neither party has exercised its right to negotiate for
exclusive rights to the Joint Intellectual Property.

8.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Lease and Sub-Lease Agreements

Capricor leases space for its research facilities from CSMC, a shareholder of Capricor Therapeutics (see note 6).

Beginning May 1, 2012, pursuant to a sublease agreement, Capricor subleased part of its office space to Frank
Litvack, the Company’s Executive Chairman, for $2,500 per month. On April 1, 2013, Capricor entered into a sublease
with Reprise Technologies, LLC, a limited liability company which is wholly-owned by Dr. Litvack, for $2,500 per
month. The sublease is on a month-to-month basis. Capricor recognized $7,500, $7,500 and $57,500 in sublease
income from the related party for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the period from July 5,
2005 (inception) through March 31, 2014, respectively. Sublease income is recorded as a reduction to general and
administrative expenses.

Consulting Agreements

Effective May 1, 2012, Frank Litvack, the Company’s Executive Chairman, entered into a consulting agreement with
Capricor for $4,000 per month for consulting services. Effective January 1, 2013, the payment amount was increased
to $10,000 per month payable for consulting services. On March 24, 2014, Capricor entered into a consulting
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agreement with Dr. Litvack memorializing the $10,000 per month compensation arrangement described above. The
agreement is terminable upon 30 days’ notice.
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8.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Sub-Award Agreement

Effective January 30, 2012, Capricor entered into a sub-award agreement with CSMC. Sub-award payments totaling
approximately $41,855, $41,339 and $545,754 were paid to CSMC for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and
2013 and for the period from July 5, 2005 (inception) through March 31, 2014, respectively. At March 31, 2014, the
Company did not have any sub-awards payable as the award agreement with CSMC ended pursuant to its terms.

Payables to Related Party

At March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company had accounts payable and accrued expenses, which
excludes the sub-award payable, to CSMC totaling $481,643 and $382,142, respectively.

9.SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Additional CIRM Loan Disbursement

In May 2014, Capricor received its third loan disbursement from CIRM under the terms of the CIRM loan award (see
note 2). Capricor received an amount equal to $ 4,679,947 pursuant to the third loan disbursement. This disbursement
will carry interest at the initial rate of approximately 2.6% per annum.

Exosomes License Agreement
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On May 5, 2014, Capricor entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with CSMC (the “Exosomes License
Agreement”), for certain intellectual property rights related to exosomes technology. The Exosomes License
Agreement provides for the grant of an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearing license by CSMC to Capricor (with the
right to sublicense) in order to conduct research using the patent rights and know-how and to develop and
commercialize products in the field using the patent rights and know-how. In addition, Capricor has the exclusive
right to negotiate for an exclusive license to any future rights arising from related work conducted by or under the
direction of Dr. Eduardo Marbán on behalf of CSMC. In the event the parties fail to agree upon the terms of an
exclusive license, Capricor shall have a non-exclusive license to such future rights, subject to royalty obligations.

Pursuant to the Exosomes License Agreement, CSMC was paid a license fee and Capricor reimbursed CSMC for
certain fees and costs incurred in connection with the prosecution of certain patent rights. Additionally, Capricor is
required to meet certain non-monetary development milestones and is obligated to pay low single-digit royalties on
sales of royalty-bearing products as well as a single-digit percentage of the consideration received from any
sublicenses or other grant of rights. The above-mentioned royalties are subject to reduction in the event Capricor
becomes obliged to obtain a license from a third party for patent rights in connection with the royalty bearing product.

The Exosomes License Agreement will, unless sooner terminated, continue in effect on a country by country basis
until the last to expire of the patents covering the patent rights or future patent rights. Under the terms of the
Exosomes License Agreement, unless waived by CSMC, the agreement shall automatically terminate: (i) if Capricor
ceases, dissolves or winds up its business operations; (ii) in the event of the insolvency or bankruptcy of Capricor or if
Capricor makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; (iii) if performance by either party jeopardizes the
licensure, accreditation or tax exempt status of CSMC or the agreement is deemed illegal by a governmental body;
(iv) within 30 days for non-payment of royalties; (v) within 90 days if Capricor fails to undertake commercially
reasonable efforts to exploit the patent rights or future patent rights; (vi) if a material breach has not been cured within
90 days; or (vii) if Capricor challenges any of the CSMC patent rights. Capricor may terminate the agreement if
CSMC fails to cure any material breach within 90 days after notice.

As noted above and below, Capricor Therapeutics is party to lease agreements with CSMC, which holds more than
10% of the outstanding capital stock of Capricor Therapeutics. Additionally, Dr. Eduardo Marbán, who holds more
than 10% of the outstanding capital stock of Capricor Therapeutics, is the Director of the Cedars-Sinai Heart Institute
and the Co-founder and Scientific Advisory Board Chairman of Capricor.
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9.SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

New Facilities Lease with CSMC

On May 15, 2014, Capricor signed a Facilities Lease with CSMC for two research labs (the “Facilities Lease”).  The
Facilities Lease is for a term of three years and replaces the month-to-month lease that was previously in effect
between CSMC and Capricor.  The rent expense for the first six-month period is approximately $15,461 per month. 
Commencing with the seventh month of the lease term, the rent expense will increase to approximately $19,350 per
month. The amount of rent expense is subject to annual adjustments according to increases in the Consumer Price
Index. A copy of the Facilities Lease is filed as Exhibit 10.1 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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6,792,532 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

251,044 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE UPON EXERCISE OF OUTSTANDING

WARRANTS

Common Stock

Prospectus

Dated June 6, 2014 

We have not, and the selling stockholders have not, authorized anyone to provide any information or make any
representations other than those contained in this prospectus or in any free writing prospectuses prepared by or on
behalf of us or to which we have referred you. We do not, and the selling stockholders do not, take responsibility for,
and can provide no assurance as to the reliability of, any information that others may give you. This prospectus is an
offer to sell only the shares offered hereby, but only under circumstances and in the jurisdictions where it is lawful to
do so. The information contained in this prospectus or in any applicable free writing prospectus is current only as of
its date, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or of any sale of shares of our common stock. Our
business, financial condition and results of operations may have changed since that date.

No action is being taken in any jurisdiction outside the United States to permit a public offering of the common stock
or possession or distribution of this prospectus in that jurisdiction. Persons who come into possession of this
prospectus in jurisdictions outside the United States are required to inform themselves about and to observe any
restrictions as to the offering and the distribution of this prospectus applicable to that jurisdiction.
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